
 

 

Agenda - Y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a’r 

Cyfansoddiad 
Lleoliad: 

Fideogynadledda drwy Zoom  

Dyddiad: Dydd Llun, 9 Mawrth 2026 

Amser: 13.30

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a: 

P Gareth Williams 

Clerc y Pwyllgor 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddDCC@senedd.cymru

O bell 
------ 

Cyfarfod cyhoeddus  

(13.30 - 14.00) 

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datganiadau o fuddiant 

(13.30)   

 

 

2 Offerynnau sy'n cynnwys materion i gyflwyno adroddiad arnynt i'r 

Senedd o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.2 neu 21.3 

(13.30 - 13.40)   

 

Offerynnau sy’n ddarostyngedig i weithdrefn annilysu’r Senedd 

 

2.1 SL(6)772 - Rheoliadau'r Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol (Contractau 

Gwasanaethau Deintyddol Cyffredinol a Ffioedd Cleifion) (Cymru) 2026  

 (Tudalennau 1 - 18) 

Rheoliadau 

Memorandwm Esboniadol  

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 1 - Adroddiad drafft [Saesneg yn unig] 

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------

https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17851-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17851-em-cy.pdf


 

 

2.2 SL(6)778 - Rheoliadau’r Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol (Contractau 

Gwasanaethau Deintyddol Cyffredinol a Ffioedd Cleifion) (Diwygio) (Cymru) 

2026  

 (Tudalennau 19 - 26) 

Rheoliadau 

Memorandwm Esboniadol  

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 2 - Adroddiad drafft 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 3 - Llythyr gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a 

Gofal Cymdeithasol at y Llywydd, 23 Chwefror 2026 

2.3 SL(6)780 - Rheoliadau Addysg (Gwybodaeth am Ddisgyblion Unigol a Phlant 

sy'n cael eu Haddysg drwy Ddarpariaeth Amgen) (Diwygiadau Amrywiol) 

(Cymru) 2026  

 (Tudalennau 27 - 30) 

Rheoliadau 

Memorandwm Esboniadol  

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 4 - Adroddiad drafft 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 5 – Datganiad Ysgrifenedig gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet 

dros Addysg, 12 Chwefror 2026 

 

Offerynnau sy’n ddarostyngedig i weithdrefn gymeradwyo’r Senedd 

 

2.4 SL(6)774 - Rheoliadau Cynllun Ernes ar gyfer Cynwysyddion Diodydd (Cymru) 

2026  

 (Tudalennau 31 - 48) 

Rheoliadau 

Memorandwm Esboniadol  

 

Gohebiaeth oddi wrth Gymdeithas Fasnach Gwin a Gwirodydd [Saesneg yn 

unig] 

https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17866-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17866-em-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17885-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17885-em-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17855-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17855-em-cy.pdf
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/documents/s171878/LJC6-07-26%20-%20Papur%2030%20-%20Llythyr%20oddi%20wrth%20Gymdeithas%20Fasnach%20Gwin%20a%20Gwirodydd%2026%20Chwefror%202026%20S.pdf


 

 

Gohebiaeth oddi wrth British Glass [Saesneg yn unig] 

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 6 - Adroddiad drafft [Cymraeg i ddilyn] 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 7 – Datganiad Ysgrifenedig gan y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog 

ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig, 12 

Chwefror 2026 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 8 - Llythyr gan y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr 

Amgylchedd a Seilwaith at y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet 

dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig, 2 Mawrth 2026 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 9 - Papur oddi wrth Gymdeithas Fasnach Gwin a 

Gwirodydd, 5 Mawrth 2026 [Saesneg yn unig] 

2.5 SL(6)779 - Rheoliadau Deddf Deddfau Trethi Cymru etc. (Pŵer i Addasu) 

2022 (Estyn Dyddiad Dod i Ben) 2026  

 (Tudalennau 49 - 51) 

Rheoliadau 

Memorandwm Esboniadol  

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 10 - Adroddiad drafft 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 11 – Datganiad Ysgrifenedig gan Ysgrifennydd y 

Cabinet dros Gyllid a’r Gymraeg, 24 Chwefror 2026 

Offerynnau nad ydynt yn ddarostyngedig i unrhyw weithdrefn 

 

2.6 SL(6)775 - Gorchymyn Cod Ymarfer Gwariant Ymgyrch Pleidiau Gwleidyddol 

(Etholiadau'r Senedd) 2025 (Diwrnod Penodedig) (Cymru) 2026  

 (Tudalennau 52 - 53) 

Gorchymyn  

Memorandwm Esboniadol  

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 12 - Adroddiad drafft 

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/documents/s171999/LJC6-07-26%20-%20Papur%2045%20-%20Papur%20gan%20British%20Glass%2026%20Chwefror%202026%20Saesneg%20yn%20unig.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17884-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17884-em-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17858-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17858-em-cy.pdf


 

 

2.7 SL(6)776 - Gorchymyn Cod Ymarfer Gwariant Ymgyrch Ymgyrchwyr Nad 

Ydynt yn Bleidiau (Etholiadau'r Senedd) 2025 (Diwrnod Penodedig) (Cymru) 

2026  

 (Tudalennau 54 - 55) 

Gorchymyn  

Memorandwm Esboniadol  

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 13 - Adroddiad drafft 

2.8 SL(6)777 - Gorchymyn Cod Ymarfer Treuliau Etholiadau Ymgeiswyr Unigol 

(Etholiadau'r Senedd) 2025 (Diwrnod Penodedig) (Cymru) 2026  

 (Tudalennau 56 - 57) 

Gorchymyn  

Memorandwm Esboniadol  

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 14 - Adroddiad drafft 

3 Offerynnau sy’n cynnwys materion i gyflwyno adroddiad arnynt i’r 

Senedd o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.7 

(13.40 - 13.45)   

 

3.1 SL(6)771 - Datganiad Blaenoriaethau ac Amcanion Strategol ar gyfer Ofwat a 

gyhoeddwyd o dan adran 2B o Ddeddf y Diwydiant Dŵr 1991  

 (Tudalennau 58 - 59) 

Datganiad 

Memorandwm Esboniadol  

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 15 - Adroddiad drafft 

https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17859-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17859-em-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17860-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17860-em-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17850-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17850-em-cy.pdf


 

 

4 Offerynnau sy’n codi materion i gyflwyno adroddiad arnynt i’r 

Senedd o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.2 neu 21.3 - trafodwyd eisoes 

(13.45 - 13.50)   

 

Offerynnau sy’n ddarostyngedig i weithdrefn annilysu’r Senedd 

 

4.1 SL(6)742 – Rheoliadau’r Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol (Contractau 

Gwasanaethau Meddygol Cyffredinol) (Cymru) (Diwygio) 2026 

 (Tudalennau 60 - 63)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 – Papur 16 – Adroddiad 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 17 - Ymateb Llywodraeth Cymru 

4.2 SL(6)752 - Rheoliadau Gofal a Chymorth (Gosod Ffioedd) ac (Asesiad 

Ariannol) (Cymru) (Diwygiadau Amrywiol) 2026 

 (Tudalennau 64 - 68)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 18 – Adroddiad 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 19 – Ymateb Llywodraeth Cymru 

5 Cytundeb Cysylltiadau Rhyngsefydliadol 

(13.50 - 13.55)   

 

5.1 Gohebiaeth gan y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros 

Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig:  Rheoliadau Pysgodfeydd Môr (Diwygio) 

2026 

 (Tudalen 69)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 20 - Llythyr gan y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac 

Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig, 27 

Chwefror 2026 

5.2 Gohebiaeth gan Lywodraeth Cymru: Cyfarfodydd y grwpiau rhyngweinidogol 

 (Tudalennau 70 - 72)  



 

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 21 - Datganiad Ysgrifenedig oddi wrth y Dirprwy Brif 

Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion 

Gwledig: Pwyllgor Sefydlog Rhyngweinidogol, 2 Mawrth 2026 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 22 - Llythyr gan y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac 

Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig: Pwyllgor 

Sefydlog Rhyngweinidogol, 2 Mawrth 2026 

6 Papurau i’w nodi 

(13.55 - 14.00)   

 

6.1 Gohebiaeth gan y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros 

Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig:  Y Bil Gwahardd Rasio Milgwn (Cymru): 

Memoranda Esboniadol diwygiedig 

 (Tudalen 73)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 23 - Llythyr gan y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac 

Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig, 2 Mawrth 

2026 

6.2 Gohebiaeth gan y Llywydd at Fwrdd Milgwn Prydain Fawr: Bil Gwahardd Rasio 

Milgwn (Cymru) 

 (Tudalennau 74 - 76)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 24 - Llythyr gan y Llywydd at Fwrdd Milgwn Prydain 

Fawr, 4 Mawrth 2026 [Saesneg yn unig] 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 25 - Gohebiaeth gan Fwrdd Milgwn Prydain Fawr at y 

Llywydd, 19 Chwefror 2026 [Saesneg yn unig] 

6.3 Datganiad Ysgrifenedig gan y Gweinidog Addysg Bellach ac Uwch: 

Gweithredu Deddf Addysg Drydyddol ac Ymchwil (Cymru) 2022 

 (Tudalennau 77 - 78)  

Dogfennau atodol: 



 

 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 26 - Datganiad Ysgrifenedig gan y Gweinidog Addysg 

Bellach ac Uwch, 5 Mawrth 2026 

7 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42(vi) a (ix) i benderfynu gwahardd 

y cyhoedd o weddill y cyfarfod 

(14.00)   

 

Cyfarfod preifat  

(14.00 - 15.55) 

8 Memoranda Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol Atodol (Memorandwm Rhif 

2 a Memorandwm Rhif 3) ar y Bil Swyddi Cyhoeddus 

(Atebolrwydd): Adroddiad drafft 

(14.00 - 14.10) (Tudalennau 79 - 92)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 27 – Adroddiad drafft [Saesneg yn unig] 

9 Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol ar gyfer Bil y Lluoedd 

Arfog: Adroddiad drafft 

(14.10 - 14.15) (Tudalennau 93 - 99)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 28 - Adroddiad drafft [Saesneg yn unig] 

10 Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol Atodol (Memorandwm 

Rhif 3) ar y Bil Heddlu a Throseddu 

(14.15 - 14.20) (To Follow)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 29 – Nodyn Cyngor Cyfreithiol [I ddilyn] [Saesneg yn 

unig] 

11 Memorandwm Cydsyniad Offeryn Statudol ar Reoliadau Deddf 

Amrywogaethau Planhigion (Diwygio) 2026 

(14.20 - 14.25) (Tudalennau 100 - 105)  



 

 

Memorandwm Cydsyniad Offeryn Statudol 

 

Offeryn Statudol [Saesneg yn unig] 

 

Memorandwm Esboniadol [Saesneg yn unig] 

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 – Papur 30 – Nodyn cyngor cyfreithiol [Saesneg yn unig] 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 31 - Datganiad Ysgrifenedig gan y Dirprwy Brif 

Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion 

Gwledig, 2 Mawrth 2026 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 32 - Llythyr gan y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac 

Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig, 2 Mawrth 

2026 

12 Cytundebau rhyngwladol: Adroddiad drafft 

(14.25 - 14.35) (To Follow)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 33 – Adroddiad drafft [I ddilyn] [Saesneg yn unig] 

13 Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol Atodol (Memorandwm 

Rhif 4) ar y Bil Lles Plant ac Ysgolion: Adroddiad drafft 

(14.35 - 14.45) (To Follow)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 34 – Adroddiad drafft [I ddilyn] [Saesneg yn unig] 

14 Adroddiad Gwaddol 

(14.45 - 15.00) (To Follow)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 35 - Adroddiad drafft [I ddilyn] [Saesneg yn unig] 

Egwyl  

(15.00 - 15.10) 

https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sicm-ld17894-r-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sicm-ld17894-si-r-cy.pdf
https://laiddocuments.senedd.wales/sicm-ld17894-em-r-en.pdf


 

 

15 Argymhellion y Comisiwn ar Gyfiawnder yng Nghymru: Briff gan 

Dr Robert Jones 

(15.10 - 15.55) (Tudalennau 106 - 191)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 36 - Papur Ymchwil y Comisiwn Thomas [Saesneg yn 

unig] 



   
 

 

SL(6)772 – The National Health Service (General 

Dental Services Contracts and Patient Charges) 

(Wales) Regulations 2026 

Background and Purpose 

These Regulations set out the conditions, requirements and arrangements for a contract 

between local health boards and general dental service providers, including remuneration of 

fees and how contracts will be managed. They also make provision for a new scheme of 

patient charges.  

Procedure 

Senedd annulment procedure. 

These Regulations were made by the Welsh Ministers before they were laid before the 

Senedd. The Senedd can annul the Regulations within 40 days (excluding any days when the 

Senedd is: (i) dissolved, or (ii) in recess for more than four days) of the date they were laid 

before the Senedd. 

Technical Scrutiny 

The following 73 points are identified for reporting under Standing Order 21.2 in respect of 

this instrument. 

1. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

The enabling powers cited for these Regulations include section 60(2) of the National Health 

Service (Wales) Act 2006 (“the 2006 Act”). Section 60(2) is a power to for the Welsh Ministers 

to issue directions. Before giving such directions, under section 60(4) of the 2006 Act the 

Welsh Ministers must consult any body appearing to them to be representative of persons to 

whose remuneration the direction would relate. The Welsh Ministers are asked to confirm: 

a) the basis upon which, and reason why, it was decided to include a direction-making 

power as an enabling power; 

b) which provision(s) in the Regulations are made under this power; and 

c) whether the condition in section 60(4) of the 2006 Act has been complied with and, if 

so, why this is not noted in the preamble to the Regulations. 

2. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2.1

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47213
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47213
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47213


   
 

 

In the definition of “contract” in regulation 2, the phrase “except where the context otherwise 

requires” is used. Writing Laws for Wales (paragraph 4.8(5)) advises that this term should be 

avoided. The Welsh Government is asked to explain why it is used in the definition of 

contract and what “circumstances” it refers to. 

3. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

The term “contract year” is used in the definitions of “annual delivery report” and “interim 

delivery report” in regulation 2, and also in paragraphs 41 and 42 of Schedule 1 to the 

Regulations, but the term “contract year” is not defined. An explanation is therefore 

requested as to what “contract year” means in these Regulations. 

4. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

There are several issues where further explanation would assist in relation to the definition of 

“de-listing” in regulation 2: 

a) the wording of the definition does not seem to reflect the use of the term within the 

Regulations. It states that “de-listing” means a patient who ceases to be an active 

patient for various reasons, but de-listing in the Regulations is used with reference to 

the de-listing process, rather than meaning a patient who has been through that 

process; 

b) reference is made to the removal of a patient from a practice’s list of active patients 

as a result of the application of paragraph 15 of Schedule 1. Paragraph 15 of 

Schedule 1 makes no reference to a patient being removed from an active list, 

therefore it would assist to have an explanation as to how paragraph 15 of Schedule 

1 applies to the definition of “de-listing”; and 

c) the definition refers to de-listing under paragraphs 4 and 5 of Schedule 3, but 

paragraph 3 of Schedule 3 also refers to de-listing. 

5. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In the definition of “de-listing process”, it refers to the process whereby a patient must be 

de-listed, but then in paragraph (b) it refers to the patient having the opportunity to make 

representations in relation to the intention to remove them from the patient list. The Welsh 

Government is asked to confirm why the patient is given the opportunity to make 

representations if the practice must de-list them. In addition, the definition refers to the 

practice de-listing the patient, whereas elsewhere in the Regulations reference is made to the 

contractor using the de-listing process, so it would assist to have clarification in this regard. 

6. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Tudalen y pecyn 2



   
 

 

The term “General Dental Council” is used on several occasions in the Regulations, but this 

has not been defined with reference to section 1 of the Dentists Act 1984. The Welsh 

Government is asked to explain why it chose not to define this term. 

7. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

The term “registered dental professional” is used in several definitions in regulation 2, but 

this term is not itself defined. The Welsh Government is asked to explain what constitutes a 

“registered dental professional” and why this term is not defined in the Regulations. 

8. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

The definitions of “dental nurse” and “dentist” in regulation 2 require a person to be 

recognised by the General Dental Council. It is not clear whether “recognised” is the correct 

word and whether it should in fact be “registered”. If “recognised” is the correct word, it 

would assist to have an explanation as to how such a person is recognised by the General 

Dental Council. 

9. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

The definition of “dental nurses with extended duties in oral health education” in regulation 

2 contains terms which are not defined for the purpose of these Regulations – “core 

supportive functions”, “approved training” and “extended duties”. The Welsh Government is 

asked to confirm what these terms refer to and why additional information to explain what 

they refer to is not set out in the Regulations. 

10. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In the definition of “dental therapists” in regulation 2, reference is made to a dental 

professional being “competent to carry out specified items of dental treatment”. It would be 

of assistance if the Welsh Government could explain how a professional is determined to be 

competent for this provision, and how the specified items of dental treatment are 

determined. It would also assist to understand why this information is not included in the 

Regulations. 

11. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In the definition of “direction pending an investigation” in regulation 2, reference is made to 

a regulator, but it is not clear what constitutes a regulator for this purpose. The Welsh 

Government is asked to provide a further explanation and confirmation as to why this is not 

clearer in the Regulations. 

Tudalen y pecyn 3



   
 

 

12. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

The definition of “director of a body corporate” in regulation 2 appears to largely repeat the 

definition of “director” that precedes it. As “director of a body corporate” is not used 

operatively in the Regulations, it appears that this definition has been included in error, but 

the Welsh Government is asked to confirm whether this is the case. 

13. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Regulation 2 defines an “exempt person” but this term is only used once in the Regulations. 

The term “exempt patient” is used more frequently but is not defined, so clarity is requested 

as to whether exempt person and exempt patient have the same meaning for the purpose of 

the Regulations. 

14. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In the definition of “guarantee period” in regulation 2, reference is made to a “standard care 

package” and an “urgent care package”. These terms are not defined in the Regulations and 

therefore the Welsh Government is asked to provide further information regarding what they 

are; how they are to be distinguished from each other; and why this information was not 

included in the Regulations. 

15. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In the definition of “health service body” in regulation 2, reference is made to certain bodies 

being known by particular names at the “relevant time”. The Welsh Government is asked to 

confirm what constitutes the “relevant time” for this purpose and why this is not reflected in 

the Regulations. The same point applies to the definition of “health service body” that is set 

out in paragraph 67(6) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations, both in terms of clarifying who the 

listed bodies are and what is meant by the “relevant time”. 

16. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

The term “interim delivery report” is defined in regulation 2, but this term is not used 

elsewhere in the Regulations. It appears that it may be intended to be a definition of “mid-

year delivery report” as referenced in several regulations but not defined. 

17. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

The definition of “initial examination and assessment” in regulation 2 simply repeats in 

condensed form the wording of paragraph 10 of Schedule 1 to the Regulations. It is not clear 

whether this was the intention and, if so, whether it would be clearer and more expedient to 

Tudalen y pecyn 4



   
 

 

simply refer to “initial examination and assessment” as having the meaning set out in 

paragraph 10 of Schedule 1. It is also not clear how the definition of “initial examination and 

assessment” differs from the definition of “new patient assessment” in this regard. 

18. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In the definition of “interim suspension order” in regulation 2, reference is made to removal 

of a “registered person” from a “register”. It is not clear whether these references should be 

to the temporary removal of a person from either the dentists register or the register of 

dental health care professionals, or both. The Welsh Government is asked to provide an 

explanation in this regard and confirm why this clarity is not reflected in the Regulations. 

19. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In the definition of “licensing body” in regulation 2, reference is made to a body that licences 

or regulates health care professions, but the term “health care professions” is not defined. 

Similarly, in the definition of “other health care professionals”, “health care professionals” is 

not defined. In each case, is there intended to be a link to the definition of “health care 

professional” in section 49(2) of the 2006 Act or similar? If so, the Welsh Government is 

asked to confirm why this is not explicitly stated or, if not, provide further information as to 

the interpretation of the term “health care professions”. 

20. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

The term “listed” is defined in regulation 2 as meaning “such drugs, medicines or dental 

appliances as are included in a list for the time being approved by Welsh Ministers for the 

purposes of section 80 of the 2006 Act”. However, the word “listed” is used in several other 

contexts within the Regulations. It appears that the provision should therefore read “”listed 

drugs, medicines or dental appliances” means such drugs, medicines or dental appliances as 

are included in a list for the time being approved by Welsh Ministers for the purposes of 

section 80 of the 2006 Act”. 

21. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In the definition of “prescription form” in regulation 2, reference is made to an “authorised 

prescriber”. Although “prescriber” is defined for the purpose of the Regulations, “authorised 

prescriber” is not. The Welsh Government is therefore asked to confirm who is an “authorised 

prescriber” and why this is not set out in the Regulations. 

22. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

Tudalen y pecyn 5



   
 

 

The definition of “private dental services” in regulation 2 refers to the National Health Service 

(Wales) Act 2006, but as this term is defined in the Regulations, the reference should be to 

the 2006 Act. 

23. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Reference is made to “NICE” on several occasions throughout the Regulations, but this term 

is not defined in the operative parts of the Regulations. The Welsh Government is asked to 

explain why it decided not to define this term in the operative parts of the Regulations. 

Further, with particular reference to the definition of “recall appointment”, additional 

information is requested as to what “NICE guideline CG19” is and where it can be found. 

24. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

In the definition of “recognised professional titles” in regulation 2, the Dentists Act 1984 is a 

defined term, so this wording should read “the 1984 Act”. Although not an operative part of 

the Regulations, for accessibility purposes footnotes should have been provided for the 

legislation listed at paragraphs (b)(ii)-(iv). 

25. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In the definition of “urgent care appointment” in regulation 2, reference is made to an 

appointment provided within 72 hours, but no information is provided as to when this 72 

hour period commences. The Welsh Government is asked to provide a further explanation in 

this regard and confirm why this is not detailed in the definition. 

26. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

In regulation 3(a) reference is made to the Dentists Act (Amendment) Order 2005, but this 

term is defined in regulation 2. The reference should therefore be to the 2005 Order. 

27. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

In regulation 4, there are two paragraph (3)s, which will create difficulty for people wishing to 

refer to provisions within regulation 4. It also means that the numbering of each paragraph 

after the first (3) is incorrect, and that cross-references within regulation 4 to any of those 

paragraphs is incorrect.  

28. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Regulation 27 refers to the “sum total of the percentage reported under regulation 24”. 

Regulation 24 requires two percentages to be reported, so it is not clear whether this is 

Tudalen y pecyn 6



   
 

 

intended to refer to one or both of the percentages. If it is both, then “percentage” should 

be plural. If it is one, then it should be made clear which percentage is being referred to. The 

same considerations may apply to regulations 22 and 28. 

29. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

Regulation 29 cross-refers to regulation 27(1)(a), but there is no regulation 27(1)(a) in the 

Regulations. It appears that the correct reference should be regulation 27(a). 

30. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

Regulation 30(2) refers to an obligation (singular) that is referred to in paragraph (1). 

Paragraph (1) imposes obligations on both the local health board and the contractor to 

make payments to each other. It is not clear which obligation regulation 30(2) refers to – it is 

assumed that it is the obligation set out in regulation 30(1)(a) and if so this should be 

specified. 

31. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Regulation 30(3) refers to directions under section 12 of the 2006 Act, but section 12 does 

not give a power to issue directions, only guidance. Clarification is therefore required as to 

whether section 12 is correctly included in regulation 30(3), or conversely, whether section 

30(3) should also refer to guidance. 

32. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Regulation 33(4) requires a contract to contain a term which requires the contractor to be a 

member of a “cluster”. A cluster is also referenced in paragraph 83 of Schedule 3 to the 

Regulations. No information is provided in the Regulations as to what constitutes a cluster, 

or how a contractor becomes a member of one. The Welsh Government is asked to provide 

further information on this and explain why it is not made clearer in the Regulations. 

33. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

Regulation 36(2) refers to the giving of notice to an existing contractor that different 

proportions apply in accordance with regulation 16(2) and (3). Regulation 16(2) does not 

appear to be relevant to regulation 36(2), and regulation 16(3) does not exist. 

34. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

Tudalen y pecyn 7



   
 

 

The following points are noted in relation to Schedule 1 to the Regulations, but it is noted 

that they are rectified by the National Health Service (General Dental Services Contracts and 

Patient Charges) (Amendment) (Wales) Regulations 2026 (“the Amending Regulations”): 

a) paragraph 10(h) requires risk allocation to be carried out in accordance with 

paragraphs 31 to 33, however it is paragraphs 32 to 34 that set out the detail of the 

risk allocation categories – the same issue arises in paragraph 31; 

b) paragraph 18 refers to a contractor being satisfied in accordance with paragraph 

16(a) regarding the reasons for missed appointments. However, the number of 

relevant missed appointments is set out in paragraph 16(a) and 16(b), but the 

requirement for the contractor to be satisfied with the explanation of the patient is 

set out in the body of the wording of paragraph 16. The reference in paragraph 18 

should be to paragraph 16 rather than 16(a); 

c) there is an error in the numbering of paragraph 20, as sub-paragraph (3) should be 

(2), and the reference in what is currently sub-paragraph (3) to sub-paragraphs (a) 

and (b) should be to sub-paragraph (1)(a) and (b); and 

d) a formatting error has created incorrect paragraphs for paragraphs 23 to 25, which 

consequently creates cross-referencing errors throughout the remainder of Schedule 

1. 

35. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Paragraph 20(1)(a) of Schedule 1 to the Regulations refers to a patient being de-listed under 

paragraph 17(b). However, paragraph 17(b) refers to the possible cessation of the de-listing 

process. This issue remains following the Amending Regulations, therefore the Welsh 

Government is asked to confirm whether paragraph 17(b) is the correct cross-reference in 

this regard. 

36. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Paragraph 42(1)(d) of Schedule 1 to the Regulations (or paragraph 41(1)(d) following the 

Amending Regulations) refers to monitoring or audit being carried out, but it is not clear 

who will be conducting this. Paragraph 41(1)(d) (or paragraph 40(1)(d) under the Amending 

Regulations) states that the monitoring or audit will be carried out by or on behalf of the 

Local Health Board, so the Welsh Government is asked to confirm that the same applies in 

this context and why this is not explicitly stated in the Regulations. 

37. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Paragraphs 45 and 46 (or paragraphs 44 and 45 following the Amending Regulations) of 

Schedule 1 to the Regulations deal with de-listing relating to prevention services. Paragraph 

Tudalen y pecyn 8



   
 

 

45 is identical in content to paragraph 17 which deals with de-listing for care packages, but 

paragraph 17 links to paragraph 16 and there is no equivalent to paragraph 16 preceding 

paragraph 45. This makes it difficult to see how paragraph 45 works in practice, as it refers to 

“initiating de-listing”, but there is no provision that provides for the initiation of a de-listing 

process in relation to prevention services. Paragraph 46 addresses the circumstances where a 

patient must be de-listed, but again, this does not explain paragraph 45 as paragraph 45(b) 

provides a discretion as to de-listing. The Welsh Government is therefore asked to explain on 

what ground the de-listing process under paragraph 45 may be commenced and why this is 

not set out in the Regulations. 

38. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

In Schedule 2 to the Regulations, in the shoulder note, there is a difference between the 

English and Welsh text. In the English text, it notes “Regulation 14” but the meaning given by 

the Welsh text is “Regulation 2”. In addition, the shoulder note does not appear to be correct 

because Schedule 2 is also referred to in regulations 2, 13 and 14. 

39. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Schedule 2 and the table in paragraph 4 of Schedule 5 to the Regulations refer on several 

occasions to the “contract holder” but this term is not defined in the Regulations. The Welsh 

Government is asked to confirm whether these are references to the contractor, as defined in 

regulation 2, and if so why a different term is used in Schedule 2 and paragraph 4 of 

Schedule 5. 

40. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In Schedule 2, there is also a varying between the approach to terminology and 

abbreviations used when compared with the table in paragraph 4 of Schedule 5 as amended 

by the Amending Regulations. In the entry for “Periodontal Care Package”, in the second 

column, in the English text, it notes “3rd Oral Health Education visit” but in the table in 

Schedule 5 it notes “3rd OHE visit” although the phrase is repeated in full in both places in 

the Welsh text. In Schedule 2, in the entry for “Stabilisation Care Package”, in the Welsh text, 

it notes the title “Delivering Better Oral Health” in full as the meaning of “DBOH”, but in the 

Welsh text of the table in Schedule 5, it notes the abbreviation “DBOH”. In addition, wording 

relating to the exclusion of laboratory charges and how they are paid differs in the table. 

41. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

In Schedule 3 to the Regulations, in the shoulder note, there is a difference between the 

English and Welsh text. In the English text, the list of regulation includes a reference to 

regulation “29” but in the corresponding Welsh text it refers to regulation “28”. In addition, 

Tudalen y pecyn 9



   
 

 

the details in the shoulder note do not appear to be complete, e.g., there are also references 

to Schedule 3 in regulations 8(1) and (4), and 9(4) etc. 

42. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

In the English text, paragraph 1 of Schedule 3 to the Regulations is incorrectly numbered, as 

sub-paragraph (2) is missing. This means that the cross-references in sub-paragraph (1) and 

paragraphs 2 and  6(5)(c) are incorrect. 

43. Standing Order 21.2(viii) – that it uses gender specific language 

Paragraph 1(5)(b) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations refers to “himself or herself”. Gender 

neutral language should be used wherever possible and in this instance it would have been 

possible to use “that person” or similar. 

44. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Paragraph 2(2) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations refers to a “preferred performer”. The 

Regulations does not specify who a performer is, so the Welsh Government is asked to clarify 

whether this should refer to a dental practitioner, which seems to be the indication in 

paragraph 2(1)(a) (although the reference there is to “practitioner” rather than “dental 

practitioner”). 

45. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

The wording of paragraph 5(3) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations does not appear to make 

sense. It refers to notification under sub-paragraph (1) and (1)(b), however the opening 

wording of sub-paragraph (1) (if that is the wording being referred to) and sub-paragraph 

(1)(b) both refer to notifications. If the intention is for the reference in paragraph (5)(3) to 

refer to both notifications, then the word “notification” should be plural. Otherwise, it should 

be made clear which notification is being referred to. 

46. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

In paragraph 11(4) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations, there is a difference between the 

English and Welsh text. In the English text, at the beginning of paragraph 11(4), it notes 

“Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply where” but the meaning given by the Welsh text is “Sub-

paragraph does not apply where”. 

47. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Paragraph 17 of Schedule 3 to the Regulations requires the contract to notify the Local 

Health Board where it provides dental services through the medium of Welsh. This is 

Tudalen y pecyn 10



   
 

 

ambiguous, as it could be read as meaning that on every occasion that the contractor 

provides the dental services through the medium of Welsh it must notify the Local Health 

Board. If this is not the intention, it may have been clearer to require notification where the 

contractor is able to provide the dental services through the medium of Welsh, or similar. 

48. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Paragraph 24(1) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations imposes requirements on dental care 

professionals, but paragraph 24(3) refers to health care professionals. The term “health care 

professionals" is not defined for the purpose of the Regulations, so it would assist if the 

Welsh Government could confirm whether the reference in paragraph 24(3) should be to 

dental care professionals. 

49. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Paragraph 25 of Schedule 3 to the Regulations requires checks to be carried out for the 

employment or engagement of dental practitioners. Paragraph 25(1)(b) requires checks to be 

carried out to ensure the requirements in paragraphs 22 and 23 are met. Paragraph 25(2) 

refer to situations where it is not possible to check the matters referred to in paragraph 22 in 

accordance with sub-paragraph (1)(b), but makes no mention of paragraph 23. An 

explanation is requested as to whether the matters under paragraph 23 are deliberately 

excluded from paragraph 25(2) and, if so, why this is the case. 

50. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Paragraph 32(3) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations deals with the sub-contracting of the 

contract and provides for a deemed variation of the contract to add the sub-contractor’s 

premises to the list of the contractor’s premises, and also states that paragraph 60 does not 

apply. Paragraph 60 does not appear to be relevant to paragraph 32(3) as it deals with 

termination of the contract by agreement, so confirmation is requested as to whether the 

reference to paragraph 60 in paragraph 32(3) is correct. 

51. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Paragraph 36(b)(ii) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations gives the Local Health Board the right to 

access the contractor’s workforce information. No explanation is provided as to what 

constitutes workforce information and such explanation is therefore sought from the Welsh 

Government. 

52. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Tudalen y pecyn 11



   
 

 

Paragraph 37(3) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations provides that a contractor is obliged to 

answer inquiries on behalf of a Local Health Board if they are raised by a “qualified health 

care professional” or “qualified dental practitioner”. No information is provided as to what 

constitutes a “qualified health care professional” or what how a dental practitioner must be 

“qualified” for this purpose. Further information is therefore required from the Welsh 

Government in this regard. 

53. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

Paragraph 47(3)  of Schedule 3 to the Regulations contains incorrect cross-references. It 

refers to patients who fall within sub-paragraph (2)(a)(ii) or (iii), but sub-paragraph (2)(a) 

does not have (ii) or (iii). Clarification is required as to the correct cross-reference. 

54. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Paragraph 49 of Schedule 3 to the Regulations sets out further requirements in relation to a 

concerns procedure, and states that such procedure must comply with the requirements of 

sub-paragraphs (2) to (6). However, there are 11 sub-paragraphs in total in paragraph 49 so 

clarification is required as to whether the reference should be to sub-paragraphs (2) to (11) 

or, if not, what the status of sub-paragraphs (7) to (11) is, as distinct from (2) to (6), within 

paragraph 49. 

55. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

In paragraph 50(4) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations, there is a difference between the 

English and Welsh text. In the Welsh text, in the list of definitions, the corresponding English 

definition appears in italics and brackets immediately after each Welsh definition. However, 

in the English text, the corresponding Welsh definitions do not appear after each English 

definition. This also occurs in paragraph 77(4) of Schedule 3. 

56. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

The meaning of paragraph 55(2) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations is not clear. It states that 

“In the case of a contract referred for determination in accordance with paragraph 54(1), 

section 7(12) of the 2006 Act applies as that subsection applies in the case of a contract 

referred for determination in accordance with section 7(6) of the 2006 Act.” The underlined 

reference is unclear as to which section or subsection it is referring to. 

57. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

Paragraph 54(1)(b) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations contains an incorrect cross-reference. It 

refers to a dispute being referred to the Welsh Ministers in accordance with paragraph 55 

Tudalen y pecyn 12



   
 

 

where the contract is not an NHS contract. Paragraph 55 deals with the determination of the 

dispute by an adjudicator. It appears that the correct reference in paragraph 54(1)(b) should 

be to paragraph 53. 

58. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

Paragraph 54(13) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations contains an incorrect cross-reference. It 

refers to the discretion of the adjudicator in determining the procedure of the dispute 

resolution as being subject to paragraph 57. Paragraph 57 refers to the variation of the 

contract. It appears that the correct reference in paragraph 54(13) should be to paragraph 

55. 

59. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

In paragraph 59(3)(b) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations, there is a difference between the 

English and Welsh text. In the English text, it notes “nominate the dental practitioner” but the 

meaning given by the Welsh text is “specify the dental practitioner”. It also means that the 

Welsh text is inconsistent with paragraph 59(1)(a) where the correct Welsh term “enwebu” 

has been used in the same context when referring to paragraph 59(3). 

60. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Paragraph 61 of Schedule 3 to the Regulations sets out notification requirements regarding 

the death of an individual dental practitioner who is a contractor. In paragraph 61(1), it refers 

to the termination of the contract at the end of the period of 28 days. Paragraph 61(1) then 

provides for circumstances where the contract can be continued after the end of the period 

of 28 clear days. The Welsh Government is asked to confirm whether the references to the 28 

days, or 28 clear days (as the case may be) should be the same and, if so, which should apply. 

Other instances of the use of “days” in some cases and “clear days” in others also occur in 

the Regulations. 

61. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

Paragraph 61(1) of Schedule 3 states that sub-paragraph (1) is subject to any rights to 

terminate the contract that the Local Health Board may have under paragraphs 62 to 70, 

however paragraphs 62 and 63 do not give the Local Health Board any rights to terminate 

the contract. The correct reference should therefore be 64 in place of 62. 

62. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

Tudalen y pecyn 13



   
 

 

Paragraph 65(7) of Schedule 3 contains an incorrect cross-reference. It refers to sub-

paragraph (6)(i) but this sub-paragraph does not exist in the Regulations. Confirmation of 

the correct cross-reference is therefore sought. 

63. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

The practical effect of paragraph 67(1) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations is unclear. It appears 

to have the effect that a Local Health Board may serve notice to terminate a contract if any 

of the entities listed in (a) to (c) fall within sub-paragraph (2) during the existence of the 

contract or on or after the date on which a notice in respect of their compliance with the 

conditions in regulation 4 was given under paragraph 42(2) if this was later. The issues are: 

a) paragraph 42(2) refers to a notice being given when a new partner joins the 

partnership, so it does not appear relevant to paragraphs 67(1)(a) or (c); and 

b) with regard to the words “if this was later”, this seems to apply to a notice regarding 

a new partner joining the partnership which is given later than the existence of the 

contract. 

Clarification is therefore requested as to whether paragraph 42(2) is the correct cross-

reference in this provision and how the underlined wording above is intended to apply in 

practice. It should also be noted that the formatting of paragraph 67(1) makes it appear that 

the closing words only apply to sub-paragraph (1)(c), not the whole of sub-paragraph (1) as 

appears to be the intention. 

64. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

In paragraph 67(2)(b) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations, there is a difference between the 

English and Welsh text. In the English text, in the words in parentheses, it notes “pending the 

outcome of an investigation” but the meaning given by the Welsh text is “pending an 

investigation”. 

65. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

In paragraph 67(2)(m) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations, there is a difference between the 

English and Welsh text. In the English text, in the second line, it notes “concerned that they 

are incapable of” and appears to be referring back to the opening words of paragraph 67(2) 

where it notes “a person”. But in the Welsh text, the meaning is given as “concerned that the 

contractor is incapable of”. If those words are referring back to “a person” at the beginning 

of paragraph 67(2), it should note the meaning as “the person” in the Welsh text.  However, 

the English text is also inconsistent because it does note later in paragraph 67(2)(m) “that the 

contractor is taking adequate steps” if it is also referring back to that person. 

Tudalen y pecyn 14



   
 

 

66. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

In paragraph 70(1)(a) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations, there is a difference between the 

English and Welsh text. In the English text, it notes “beginning with the day” but the meaning 

given by the Welsh text is “beginning on the day”. This is potentially significant and the 

Welsh Government’s drafting guidelines advise against describing a period of time as 

beginning “on” the day. 

67. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

In paragraph 79(1) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations, there is a difference between the 

English and Welsh text. In the Welsh text, the “full-out” words at the end of paragraph 79(1) 

are formatted further right so that they will be interpreted as only applying to paragraph (c) 

of sub-paragraph (1). However, they should be formatted further left as found in the English 

text so that the full-out words are understood to apply to the whole of sub-paragraph (1) in 

paragraph 79. 

68. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Paragraph 83(2)(c) of Schedule 3 to the Regulations refers to a Dental Collaborative 

representative. The Regulations do not explain what a Dental Collaborative representative, or 

a Dental Collaborative, is. Further information is therefore requested from the Welsh 

Government in this regard, together with an explanation as to why such information is not 

reflected in the Regulations. 

69. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

In the wording inserted by paragraph 2(2)(b) and 2(2)(e) of Schedule 6 to the Regulations 

into the National Health Service (Personal Dental Services Agreements) (Wales) Regulations 

2006 (“the 2006 Regulations”), reference is made to the 2026 GDS Contracts and Charges 

Regulations. However, the defined term for this purpose in the 2006 Regulations is the 2026 

GDS Contracts and Patient Charges Regulations. Similarly, in paragraph 2(2)(i), the reference 

should be to “the 2026 Regulations” not the National Health Service (Performers Lists) 

(Wales) Regulations 2026. 

70. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

In paragraph 2(2)(f) of Schedule 6 to the Regulations, there is a difference between the 

English and Welsh text. In the English text, in the inserted text, it notes “the 2026 GDS 

Contracts and Patient Charges Regulations” but the meaning given by the Welsh text is “the 

2026 GDS Contracts and Charges Regulations”. 

Tudalen y pecyn 15



   
 

 

71. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

In paragraph 2(8)(j) of Schedule 6 to the Regulations, there is a difference between the 

English and Welsh text. In the English text, in the new text, it notes “2026 GDS Contracts and 

Charges Regulations” but the meaning given by the Welsh is “2026 GDS Contracts and 

Patient Charges Regulations”. 

72. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Paragraph 2(9)(b) of Schedule 6 to the Regulations inserts a new table into the 2006 

Regulations. The new table uses the term “contract holder”, but this is not defined in the 

2006 Regulations. The Welsh Government is asked to confirm whether these are references 

to the contractor, as defined in regulation 2 of the 2006 Regulations, and if so why a 

different term is used in the table that is to be inserted into the 2006 Regulations by these 

Regulations. 

73. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

Numerous typographical, grammatical, formatting and cross-referencing errors (such as 

confusion between paragraph and sub-paragraph) were noted throughout the Regulations. 

There are also instances in the English text of definitions not being listed alphabetically. 

Although these issues do not affect the meaning or understanding of the Regulations, the 

Committee notes that it is important to ensure the accessibility and quality of the drafting in 

law. 

Merits Scrutiny  

The following 4 points are identified for reporting under Standing Order 21.3 in respect of 

this instrument. 

74. Standing Order 21.3(ii) – that it is of political or legal importance or gives rise to 

issues of public policy likely to be of interest to the Senedd 

The Explanatory Note states that the Regulations set out, for Wales, the framework for 

general dental services contracts under section 57 of the National Health Service Act 2006, 

which is then defined for the purpose of the remainder of the Explanatory Note as “the Act”. 

The Act referred to is incorrect, the correct Act is the National Health Service (Wales) Act 

2006. Although the Explanatory Note does not form part of the Regulations, which do refer 

to the correct Act, this error may cause confusion for the reader, particularly as the National 

Health Service Act 2006 is also an Act of the UK Parliament. Using an incorrect reference for 

a defined term also means that the remainder of the Explanatory Note contains incorrect 

references.  

Tudalen y pecyn 16



   
 

 

The same issue arose and was addressed by this Committee at point 54 of its report in 

relation to the National Health Service (General Medical Services Contract) (Wales) 

Regulations 2023 so the Welsh Government is asked to explain why this issue has arisen 

again. 

75. Standing Order 21.3(ii) – that it is of political or legal importance or gives rise to 

issues of public policy likely to be of interest to the Senedd 

The Contents page to the Regulations contains incomplete references at points 32 and 33. 

“Arrangements” should read “Arrangements on termination of a contract” and “Other” 

should read " Other contractual terms”. Although it is acknowledged that the Contents page 

does not form an operative part of the Regulations, incomplete references may create 

accessibility issues for a reader searching for a specific provision. 

76. Standing Order 21.3(ii) – that it is of political or legal importance or gives rise to 

issues of public policy likely to be of interest to the Senedd 

The Committee notes that paragraph 2 of Schedule 6 to the Regulations inserts new 

definitions into the 2006 Regulations (the word Regulations is missing from the title of 

paragraph 2 of Schedule 6). One of the new definitions refers to the National Health Service 

(Performers Lists) (Wales) Regulations 2026. The Committee is not aware that, at the time of 

writing, those Regulations have been made. The Welsh Government is asked to confirm that 

those Regulations will be made and in force before these Regulations come into force so 

that the new provision in the 2006 Regulations will make sense. 

77. Standing Order 21.3(ii) – that it is of political or legal importance or gives rise to 

issues of public policy likely to be of interest to the Senedd 

The Committee notes that due to errors in the Regulations that came to light during the 

registration of the Regulations by the SI Registrar (on behalf of the King’s Printer for Wales), 

the Amending Regulations have already been made. They will come into force on 1 March 

2026 and will: 

a) replace Schedule 1 to the Regulations in the English text only, to rectify errors in the 

structure and format of paragraphs 23 to 25 of that Schedule; 

b) correct a typographical error in the Welsh text of the table in Schedule 2; and 

c) substitute the table in Schedule 5 in both language texts which has the effect of 

replacing the currently incorrect levels of patient charges shown in the second 

column of that table. 

Welsh Government response 

A Welsh Government response is required for all reporting points save for numbers 34 and 

77. 

Legal Advisers 

Tudalen y pecyn 17

https://senedd.wales/media/guzhod5t/cr-ld16049-e.pdf


   
 

 

Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee 

3 March 2026 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 18



   
 

 

SL(6)778 – Rheoliadau’r Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol 

(Contractau Gwasanaethau Deintyddol Cyffredinol a 

Ffioedd Cleifion) (Diwygio) (Cymru) 2026 

Cefndir a diben 

Mae'r Rheoliadau hyn yn diwygio Rheoliadau’r Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol (Contractau 

Gwasanaethau Deintyddol Cyffredinol a Ffioedd Cleifion) (Cymru) 2026 (“y prif Reoliadau”) er 

mwyn cywiro tri gwall yn y prif Reoliadau a ddaeth i’r amlwg wrth i’r Cofrestrydd O.S. (ar ran 

Argraffydd y Brenin ar gyfer Cymru) gofrestru’r Rheoliadau hynny. 

Mae’r diwygiadau: 

a) yn amnewid Atodlen 1 i'r prif Reoliadau yn y testun Saesneg yn unig, i gywiro gwallau 

yn strwythur a fformat paragraffau 23 i 25 o'r Atodlen honno; 

b) yn cywiro gwall teipograffyddol yn nhestun Cymraeg y tabl yn Atodlen 2 i'r prif 

Reoliadau; ac 

c) yn rhoi tabl newydd yn lle’r tabl presennol yn Atodlen 5 i’r prif Reoliadau yn y ddwy 

iaith. Effaith hynny yw newid y lefelau ffioedd cleifion, sy’n anghywir ar hyn o bryd, a 

ddangosir yn ail golofn y tabl hwnnw. 

Yn achos y diwygiadau sy'n ymdrin ag (a) ac (c), mae'r Memorandwm Esboniadol yn nodi ei 

bod yn briodol bod y cywiriadau hyn yn cael eu gwneud cyn i'r prif Reoliadau ddod i rym. 

Mae'r Memorandwm Esboniadol hefyd yn nodi ei bod yn ddymunol bod y diwygiad sy'n 

ymdrin â (b) yn cael ei gywiro ar yr un pryd. Daw’r Rheoliadau hyn i rym ar 1 Mawrth 2026. 

Gweithdrefn 

Gweithdrefn annilysu’r Senedd. 

Gwnaed y Rheoliadau hyn gan Weinidogion Cymru cyn iddynt gael eu gosod gerbron y 

Senedd. Caiff y Senedd annilysu’r Rheoliadau o fewn 40 niwrnod (ac eithrio unrhyw 

ddiwrnodau pan fo’r Senedd: (i) wedi’i diddymu neu (ii) mewn cyfnod o doriad am fwy na 

phedwar diwrnod) i’r dyddiad y’u gosodwyd gerbron y Senedd.  

Materion technegol: craffu 

Nodwyd y 13 o bwyntiau a ganlyn i gyflwyno adroddiad arnynt o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.2 

mewn perthynas â’r offeryn hwn. 

1. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(v) – bod angen eglurhad pellach ynglŷn â’i ffurf neu ei ystyr 

am unrhyw reswm penodol 

Tudalen y pecyn 19

Eitem 2.2

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47241
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47241
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47241


   
 

 

Mae'r pwerau galluogi y cyfeirir atynt ar gyfer y Rheoliadau hyn yn cynnwys adran 60(2) o 

Ddeddf y Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol (Cymru) 2006 (“Deddf 2006”). Pŵer i Weinidogion 

Cymru ddyroddi cyfarwyddydau yw’r pŵer yn adran 60(2). Cyn rhoi cyfarwyddydau o'r fath, o 

dan adran 60(4) o Ddeddf 2006 rhaid i Weinidogion Cymru ymgynghori ag unrhyw gorff yr 

ymddengys iddynt ei fod yn cynrychioli personau y byddai’r cyfarwyddyd yn ymwneud â’u 

tâl. Gofynnir i Weinidogion Cymru gadarnhau: 

a) ar ba sail y penderfynwyd cynnwys pŵer gwneud cyfarwyddydau fel pŵer galluogi, a'r 

rheswm dros benderfynu gwneud hynny; 

b) pa ddarpariaeth neu ddarpariaethau yn y Rheoliadau a wneir o dan y pŵer hwn; ac 

c) a gydymffurfiwyd â'r amod yn adran 60(4) o Ddeddf 2006 ac, os felly, pam na nodir 

hynny yn y rhaglith i’r Rheoliadau. 

2. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(vi) – ei bod yn ymddangos bod y gwaith drafftio yn ddiffygiol 

neu ei fod yn methu â bodloni gofynion statudol 

Yn rheoliad 1(1), mae teitl y Rheoliadau hyn yn anghywir oherwydd ei fod yn dweud 

“(Diwygio) (Cymru)”, a ddefnyddir wrth ddiwygio offeryn statudol y DU sy'n ymwneud â 

Chymru. Fodd bynnag, mae'r Rheoliadau hyn yn diwygio offeryn statudol Cymreig, ac felly 

dylid nodi yn y teitl “(Cymru) (Diwygio)”, a ddefnyddir wrth ddiwygio offeryn statudol 

Cymreig. 

3. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(vi) – ei bod yn ymddangos bod y gwaith drafftio yn ddiffygiol 

neu ei fod yn methu â bodloni gofynion statudol 

Yn rheoliad 2, dylai fod darpariaeth ddatganiadol yn cyflwyno’r gyfres o ddiwygiadau a wneir 

gan y Rheoliadau hyn, megis “Mae Rheoliadau’r Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol (Contractau 

Gwasanaethau Deintyddol Cyffredinol a Ffioedd Cleifion) (Cymru) 2026 wedi eu diwygio fel a 

ganlyn.” Yn niffyg datganiad o'r fath, mae rheoliadau 3 a 4 yn ddiffygiol oherwydd nad ydynt 

yn nodi ym mha ddeddfwriaeth y mae Atodlenni 2 a 5, yn y drefn honno, i’w cael. 

4. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(v) – bod angen eglurhad pellach ynglŷn â’i ffurf neu ei ystyr 

am unrhyw reswm penodol 

Mae rheoliad 2 yn gwneud diwygiad drwy amnewid testun Saesneg yr Atodlen 1 bresennol 

i'r prif Reoliadau. Mae paragraff 20(1)(a) o’r Atodlen 1 newydd yn cyfeirio at ddadrestru claf o 

dan baragraff 17(b). Fodd bynnag, mae paragraff 17(b) yn cyfeirio at y posibilrwydd o roi’r 

gorau i’r broses ddadrestru. Gofynnir i Lywodraeth Cymru gadarnhau ai paragraff 17(b) yw’r 

croesgyfeiriad cywir yn hyn o beth. 

5. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(vii) – ei bod yn ymddangos bod anghysondebau rhwng ystyr 

testun Cymraeg a thestun Saesneg yr offeryn 

O ganlyniad i reoliad 2, sy'n diwygio'r prif Reoliadau drwy amnewid testun Saesneg yr 

Atodlen 1 bresennol i'r prif Reoliadau, mae paragraff 20(2) o'r Atodlen 1 newydd yn cynnwys 

sawl gwahaniaeth rhwng y testun Saesneg newydd a'r testun Cymraeg presennol. Yn y testun 

Tudalen y pecyn 20



   
 

 

Saesneg newydd, mae paragraff 20(2) yn Atodlen 1, ond yn nhestun Cymraeg presennol yr 

Atodlen honno, mae'r ddarpariaeth gyfatebol wedi'i rhifo'n anghywir fel paragraff 20(3). Yn 

ogystal, mae testun Saesneg newydd paragraff 20(2) yn dweud “The amount claimed under 

sub-paragraph (1)(a) and (b)…”, ond mae’r testun Cymraeg presennol yn dweud “Rhaid 

lleihau’r swm a hawlir o dan is-baragraffau (a) a (b)…”. 

6. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(v) – bod angen eglurhad pellach ynglŷn â’i ffurf neu ei ystyr 

am unrhyw reswm penodol 

Mae paragraff 41(1)(d) o'r Atodlen 1 newydd i'r prif Reoliadau yn cyfeirio at wneud gwaith 

monitro neu archwilio, ond nid yw'n glir pwy fydd yn gwneud y gwaith monitro neu archwilio 

hwn. Mae paragraff 40(1)(d) yn nodi y bydd y gwaith monitro neu archwilio yn cael ei wneud 

gan neu ar ran y Bwrdd Iechyd Lleol, felly gofynnir i Lywodraeth Cymru gadarnhau bod yr un 

peth yn gymwys yn y cyd-destun hwn a pham na nodir hynny’n benodol yn yr Atodlen 1 

newydd. 

7. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(vii) – ei bod yn ymddangos bod anghysondebau rhwng ystyr 

testun Cymraeg a thestun Saesneg yr offeryn 

Yn sgil y diwygiad a wneir gan reoliad 2, yn yr Atodlen 1 newydd, ym mharagraff 41(1)(c), 

mae gwahaniaeth rhwng y testun Saesneg newydd a'r testun Cymraeg presennol. Yn nhestun 

Saesneg newydd paragraff 41(1)(c), nodir “subject to paragraph (d)”, ond mae’r testun 

Cymraeg presennol yn dweud “yn ddarostyngedig i is-baragraff (d)”. 

8. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(v) – bod angen eglurhad pellach ynglŷn â’i ffurf neu ei ystyr 

am unrhyw reswm penodol 

Yn sgil y diwygiad a wneir gan reoliad 2, yn Atodlen 1, mae gwaith drafftio paragraff 40(1)(c) 

a (d) yn wahanol i waith drafftio paragraff 41(1)(c) a (d). Mae paragraff 41(1)(c) yn dechrau 

drwy ddweud “subject to paragraph (d), the capitation payment cannot be subject to 

financial recovery…” ond nid yw paragraff 40(1)(c) yn nodi “subject to paragraph (d)” ac 

mae’n nodi “the capitation payment may not be subject to financial recovery...”. Yn ogystal, 

mae paragraff 41(1)(d) yn nodi “where monitoring or audit reveals that the contractor is not 

delivering prevention services in accordance with sub-paragraph (2)(a)...” ond mae paragraff 

40(1)(d) yn nodi “where monitoring or audit by or on behalf of the Local Health Board reveals 

that the contractor is not delivering prevention services in accordance with this Part…” A all 

Llywodraeth Cymru egluro a yw'r gwahaniaethau o ran gwaith drafftio'r darpariaethau hyn yn 

fwriadol? 

9. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(v) – bod angen eglurhad pellach ynglŷn â’i ffurf neu ei ystyr 

am unrhyw reswm penodol 

Mae paragraffau 44 a 45 o'r Atodlen 1 newydd i'r prif Reoliadau yn ymdrin â dadrestru sy'n 

ymwneud â gwasanaethau atal. Mae cynnwys paragraff 44 yn union yr un fath â chynnwys 

paragraff 17 sy'n ymdrin â dadrestru ar gyfer pecynnau gofal, ond mae paragraff 17 yn 

cysylltu â pharagraff 16 ac nid oes dim sy'n cyfateb i baragraff 16 o flaen paragraff 44. Mae 

Tudalen y pecyn 21



   
 

 

hyn yn ei gwneud yn anodd gweld sut mae paragraff 44 yn gweithio'n ymarferol, gan ei fod 

yn cyfeirio at gychwyn dadrestru, ond nid oes unrhyw ddarpariaeth sy'n darparu ar gyfer 

cychwyn proses ddadrestru mewn perthynas â gwasanaethau atal. Mae paragraff 45 yn 

ymdrin â'r amgylchiadau pan fo rhaid dadrestru claf, ond unwaith eto, nid yw hyn yn egluro 

paragraff 44 gan fod paragraff 44(b) yn rhoi disgresiwn ynghylch dadrestru. Felly, gofynnir i 

Lywodraeth Cymru esbonio ar ba sail y caniateir cychwyn y broses ddadrestru o dan 

baragraff 44 a pham nad yw hyn wedi'i nodi yn yr Atodlen 1 newydd. 

10. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(v) – bod angen eglurhad pellach ynglŷn â’i ffurf neu ei ystyr 

am unrhyw reswm penodol 

Mae rheoliad 4 yn mewnosod tabl newydd ym mharagraff 4 o Atodlen 5 i’r prif Reoliadau. 

Cyfeirir yn y tabl newydd at y “deiliad contract” ond nid yw’r term hwn wedi’i ddiffinio yn y 

prif Reoliadau. Gofynnir i Lywodraeth Cymru gadarnhau a yw hyn yn cyfeirio at y contractwr, 

fel y'i diffinnir yn rheoliad 2 i'r prif Reoliadau, ac os felly, pam y defnyddir term gwahanol yn 

y tabl newydd sydd i'w fewnosod ym mharagraff 4 o Atodlen 5 i'r prif Reoliadau. 

11. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(vii) – ei bod yn ymddangos bod anghysondebau rhwng ystyr 

testun Cymraeg a thestun Saesneg yr offeryn 

Yn y Tabl 1 newydd, yn y testun Saesneg, yn y drydedd golofn, mae’r cofnodion yn amrywio 

o ran defnyddio “Oral Hygiene instruction” a’r talfyriad “OHI”, sydd hefyd fel pe bai’n cyfeirio 

at yr un ymadrodd er nad yw wedi’i ddiffinio ar gyfer y darllenydd. Yn y testun Cymraeg, 

defnyddir y term llawn, sef “cyfarwyddyd hylendid geneuol”, bob tro. Yn ogystal, defnyddir y 

term “DBOH” yn nhestun Cymraeg a thestun Saesneg Tabl 1 heb ddiffiniad, ond ymddengys 

mai ei ystyr yw “Delivering Better Oral Health”, y cyfeirir ato’n llawn mewn lleoedd eraill yn 

Rheoliadau’r Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol (Contractau Gwasanaethau Deintyddol Cyffredinol 

a Ffioedd Cleifion) (Cymru) 2026. Yn olaf, defnyddir y term “ANUG” yn y testun Saesneg er 

nad yw wedi’i ddiffinio. Mae’r testun Cymraeg wedi dehongli ei ystyr fel “Acute Necrotising 

Ulcerative Gingivitis”, a nodir “llid briwiol madreddol acíwt y deintgig” yn y testun Cymraeg. 

A yw Llywodraeth Cymru o’r farn y gallai newid rhwng ddefnyddio talfyriadau heb ddiffiniad 

a defnyddio'r ymadrodd llawn mewn lleoedd eraill fod yn ddryslyd i'r darllenydd nad yw 

efallai'n gwybod beth yw ystyr y talfyriadau hynny? 

12. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(v) – bod angen eglurhad pellach ynglŷn â’i ffurf neu ei ystyr 

am unrhyw reswm penodol 

Yn y Tabl 1 newydd, yn y drydedd golofn, ar ôl yr ymadroddion “nid yw’n cynnwys ffioedd 

labordy” ac “ac eithrio ffi labordy”, nodir testun ychwanegol mewn cromfachau megis “(sydd 

i’w talu’n uniongyrchol gan y claf, oni bai ei fod wedi ei esemptio rhag ffioedd GIG)”. Fodd 

bynnag, mae'r ymadrodd yn y testun ychwanegol yn anghyson ac yn amrywio rhwng “i’w 

talu'n uniongyrchol gan y claf” ac “a delir gan gleifion” (heb y gair “uniongyrchol”), er 

enghraifft, y cofnod ar gyfer “Pecyn Gofal Dannedd Gosod” o gymharu â'r cofnod ar gyfer 

“Pecyn Sianel y Gwreiddyn ar gyfer Dannedd Ôl”. Yn ogystal, nid yw'r geiriau hynny'n 

ymddangos ar ôl y geiriau “Nid yw'n cynnwys ffioedd labordy” a “Nid yw’n cynnwys unrhyw 

Tudalen y pecyn 22



   
 

 

ffi labordy” yn nhrydedd golofn rhai o'r cofnodion eraill, megis y cofnodion ar gyfer “Pecyn 

Gofal Coronau, Pontydd, Mewnosodiadau, Arosodiadau ac Argaenau” ac ar gyfer “Pecyn 

Gofal Amrywiol”. Gofynnir i Lywodraeth Cymru egluro a oes gwahaniaeth rhwng yr 

ymadroddion “a delir” ac “i’w talu’n uniongyrchol” pan gânt eu defnyddio yn y testun 

ychwanegol mewn cromfachau; ac a oes unrhyw reswm pam nad yw’r testun ychwanegol 

mewn cromfachau yn ymddangos ar ôl “nid yw'n cynnwys ffioedd labordy” a “nid yw’n 

cynnwys unrhyw ffi labordy” ar bob achlysur? 

13. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(v) – bod angen eglurhad pellach ynglŷn â’i ffurf neu ei ystyr 

am unrhyw reswm penodol 

Yn y Tabl 1 newydd, yn y cofnod ar gyfer “Pecyn Gofal Periodontol”, yn yr ail golofn, nodir y 

ffigur “£48.53” o gymharu â “£93.50” yn yr un cofnod yn y Tabl 1 gwreiddiol. Gofynnir i 

Lywodraeth Cymru gadarnhau bod y ffigur newydd yn gywir oherwydd mae’n sylweddol is 

na'r ffigur yn y Tabl 1 gwreiddiol yn y prif Reoliadau. 

Rhinweddau: craffu  

Nodwyd y pwynt a ganlyn i gyflwyno adroddiad arno o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.3 mewn 

perthynas â’r offeryn hwn. 

14. Rheol Sefydlog 21.3(ii) – ei fod o bwysigrwydd gwleidyddol neu gyfreithiol neu ei 

fod yn codi materion polisi cyhoeddus sy’n debyg o fod o ddiddordeb i’r Senedd 

Daw’r Rheoliadau hyn i rym lai nag 21 o ddiwrnodau ar ôl iddynt gael eu gwneud. 

Ysgrifennodd Jeremy Miles AS, Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol, at 

y Llywydd ar 23 Chwefror 2026 i roi'r esboniad a ganlyn: 

Mae'r Rheoliadau hyn yn diwygio Rheoliadau'r Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol 

(Contractau Gwasanaethau Deintyddol Cyffredinol a Ffioedd Cleifion) (Cymru) 2026 (“y 

prif Reoliadau”), a osodwyd ar 11 Chwefror ac a ddaw i rym ar 11 Mawrth 2026. Mae'r 

diwygiadau yn cywiro tri mater a nodwyd yn ystod y broses o gofrestru'r prif Reoliadau 

na fyddai wedi bod yn briodol eu diwygio o dan y weithdrefn slip cywiro.  

Mae'r prif Reoliadau yn gwneud newidiadau i'r ffordd y trefnir contractau 

gwasanaethau deintyddol cyffredinol a ffioedd cleifion o dan Ddeddf y Gwasanaeth 

Iechyd Gwladol (Cymru) 2006. Mae'r diwygiadau yn cywiro gwall yn y testun Saesneg 

yn Atodlen 1, yn disodli'r Tabl yn Atodlen 5 i'r prif Reoliadau yn y ddwy iaith ac yn 

cywiro gwall teipograffyddol yn y testun Cymraeg. Er mwyn sicrhau bod y prif 

Reoliadau yn gweithio'n gywir, yn enwedig mewn cysylltiad â'r ffioedd cleifion a nodir 

yn Atodlen 5, mae angen dod â'r diwygiadau hynny i rym cyn y prif Reoliadau eu 

hunain. O ganlyniad, bydd llai na 21 diwrnod rhwng gosod y Rheoliadau diwygio hyn 

a'r dyddiad y byddant yn dod i rym. 

Ymateb Llywodraeth Cymru 

Mae angen ymateb gan Lywodraeth Cymru i’r pwyntiau adrodd technegol yn unig. 

Tudalen y pecyn 23



   
 

 

Cynghorwyr Cyfreithiol 

Y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a’r Cyfansoddiad 

3 Mawrth 2026 

Tudalen y pecyn 24



Jeremy Miles AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol  
Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Care 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Jeremy.Miles@llyw.cymru 
                Correspondence.Jeremy.Miles@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref MA/JMHSC/0481/26 
 
 
 
Elin Jones AS 
Y Llywydd 
Senedd Cymru 

Bae Caerdydd 
CAERDYDD 
CF99 1SN 

 
23 Chwefror 2026 

 
 
Annwyl Elin 
 
RHEOLIADAU'R GWASANAETH IECHYD GWLADOL (CONTRACTAU 
GWASANAETHAU DEINTYDDOL CYFFREDINOL A FFIOEDD CLEIFION) (DIWYGIO) 
(CYMRU) 2026 
 
Yn unol ag adran 37E(6) o Ddeddf Deddfwriaeth (Cymru) 2019, rwy'n eich hysbysu y bydd 
yr offeryn statudol Cymreig hwn yn dod i rym ar 10 Mawrth, llai na 21 diwrnod ar ôl iddo 
gael ei osod. Amgaeir copi o'r offeryn a'r Memorandwm Esboniadol sy'n cyd-fynd ag ef er 
gwybodaeth ichi. 
 
Mae'r Rheoliadau hyn yn diwygio Rheoliadau'r Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol (Contractau 
Gwasanaethau Deintyddol Cyffredinol a Ffioedd Cleifion) (Cymru) 2026 ("y prif Reoliadau"), 
a osodwyd ar 11 Chwefror ac a ddaw i rym ar 11 Mawrth 2026. Mae'r diwygiadau yn cywiro 
tri mater a nodwyd yn ystod y broses o gofrestru'r prif Reoliadau na fyddai wedi bod yn 
briodol eu diwygio o dan y weithdrefn slip cywiro.  
 
Mae'r prif Reoliadau yn gwneud newidiadau i'r ffordd y trefnir contractau gwasanaethau 
deintyddol cyffredinol a ffioedd cleifion o dan Ddeddf y Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol 
(Cymru) 2006. Mae'r diwygiadau yn cywiro gwall yn y testun Saesneg yn Atodlen 1, yn 
disodli'r Tabl yn Atodlen 5 i'r prif Reoliadau yn y ddwy iaith ac yn cywiro gwall 
teipograffyddol yn y testun Cymraeg. Er mwyn sicrhau bod y prif Reoliadau yn gweithio'n 
gywir, yn enwedig mewn cysylltiad â'r ffioedd cleifion a nodir yn Atodlen 5, mae angen dod 
â'r diwygiadau hynny i rym cyn y prif Reoliadau eu hunain.  O ganlyniad, bydd llai na 21 
diwrnod rhwng gosod y Rheoliadau diwygio hyn a'r dyddiad y byddant yn dod i rym. 
 
 
Rwy’n anfon copi o'r llythyr hwn at Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gyfiawnder Cymdeithasol, y 
Trefnydd a'r Prif Chwip; Mike Hedges AS, Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder 

Tudalen y pecyn 25

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Jeremy.Miles@llyw.cymru
mailto:%20Correspondence.Jeremy.Miles@gov.wales


a’r Cyfansoddiad; Julian Luke, Cyfarwyddwr Busnes y Senedd, Bethan Davies, Pennaeth 
Gwasanaethau’r Siambr a Phwyllgorau; a Marc Wyn Jones, Pennaeth Gwasanaeth y 
Pwyllgorau Polisi a Deddfwriaeth. 
 
Yn gywir,  
 

 
 
Jeremy Miles AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol  
Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Care  

Tudalen y pecyn 26



   
 

 

SL(6)780 – Rheoliadau Addysg (Gwybodaeth am 

Ddisgyblion Unigol a Phlant sy'n cael eu Haddysg 

drwy Ddarpariaeth Amgen) (Diwygiadau Amrywiol) 

(Cymru) 2026 

Cefndir a Diben 

Mae’r Rheoliadau hyn yn diwygio – 

(a) Rheoliadau Addysg (Gwybodaeth am Ddisgyblion Unigol) (Cymru) 2007 (O.S. 

2007/3562 (Cy. 312)); a 

(b) Rheoliadau Addysg (Gwybodaeth am Blant sy’n cael eu Haddysg drwy Ddarpariaeth 

Amgen) (Cymru) 2009 (O.S. 2009/3355 (Cy. 294)). 

Nod y Rheoliadau hyn yw galluogi Llywodraeth Cymru i gasglu ystod fwy cynhwysfawr o 

ddata Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol ar blant a phobl ifanc sy’n cael eu haddysg yng 

Nghymru drwy ymarferion casglu data statudol addysg, sy’n caniatáu iddynt gydymffurfio â 

Deddf Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol a’r Tribiwnlys Addysg (Cymru) 2018.  

Mae'r Rheoliadau hyn yn amlinellu'r wybodaeth ychwanegol y gall Llywodraeth Cymru ei 

chasglu am blant a phobl ifanc mewn ysgolion a gynhelir, neu mewn darpariaeth amgen yng 

Nghymru, drwy’r cyfrifiad ysgolion blynyddol ar lefel disgyblion, a’r cyfrifiad addysg heblaw 

yn yr ysgol.  

Gweithdrefn 

Gweithdrefn annilysu’r Senedd. 

Gwnaed y Rheoliadau hyn gan Weinidogion Cymru cyn iddynt gael eu gosod gerbron y 

Senedd. Caiff y Senedd annilysu’r Rheoliadau o fewn 40 niwrnod (ac eithrio unrhyw ddyddiau 

pan fo’r Senedd: (i) wedi’i diddymu neu (ii) mewn cyfnod o doriad am fwy na phedwar 

diwrnod) i'r dyddiad y’u gosodwyd gerbron y Senedd. 

Materion technegol: craffu 

Ni nodwyd unrhyw bwyntiau i gyflwyno adroddiad arnynt o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.2 mewn 

perthynas â'r offeryn hwn. 

Rhinweddau: craffu  

Nodir un pwynt i gyflwyno adroddiad arno o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.3 mewn perthynas â'r 

offeryn hwn. 

Tudalen y pecyn 27

Eitem 2.3

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47246
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47246
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47246
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47246


   
 

 

1. Rheol Sefydlog 21.3(ii) – ei fod o bwysigrwydd gwleidyddol neu gyfreithiol neu ei 

fod yn codi materion polisi cyhoeddus sy’n debyg o fod o ddiddordeb i’r Senedd 

Mae paragraff 1.6 o'r Memorandwm Esboniadol sy'n cyd-fynd â'r Rheoliadau hyn yn nodi’r 

pwyntiau a ganlyn mewn perthynas â'r gofynion data newydd y mae’r Rheoliadau yn eu 

cyflwyno: 

“Mae i’r gofynion data newydd y bwriedir eu cyflwyno oblygiadau o ran diogelu data, 

preifatrwydd, a baich gweinyddol.  Mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi ymgysylltu â Swyddfa’r 

Comisiynydd Gwybodaeth er mwn sicrhau ei bod yn cydymffurfio â GDPR y DU a Deddf 

Diogelu Data 2018.  Mae Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Ddiogelu Data wedi cael ei gwblhau a 

bydd yn cael ei adolygu’n rheolaidd.  

Ymateb Llywodraeth Cymru 

Nid oes angen ymateb gan Lywodraeth Cymru. 

Cynghorwyr Cyfreithiol 

Y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a’r Cyfansoddiad 

4 Mawrth 2026 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 28



 

 1 

 

 

DATGANIAD YSGRIFENEDIG 

GAN 

LYWODRAETH CYMRU 
 

 

TEITL  

Y cam cyntaf i gryfhau trefniadau casglu data i fonitro'r system 
anghenion dysgu ychwanegol (ADY): Crynodeb o’r ymatebion i’r 
ymgynghoriad 
 

DYDDIAD  12 Chwefror 2026 

GAN Lynne Neagle AS, Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg 

 
 

Mae'n hanfodol bod gennym ddata o ansawdd uchel er mwyn deall anghenion dysgwyr, 
cynllunio'r ddarpariaeth yn effeithiol, cefnogi'r gweithlu, a nodi lle mae angen gwelliannau 
pellach. Ein huchelgais o hyd yw cryfhau'r sylfaen dystiolaeth sy'n sail i'r system ADY, gan 
sicrhau bod gwaith polisi a chyflawni yn cael ei lywio gan ddata cywir, cyson ac amserol.  

Mae hyn yn nodi cam cyntaf y gwelliannau ehangach yr ydym yn eu gwneud i systemau 
casglu data statudol, fel bod gennym i gyd ddata ADY perthnasol ac ystyrlon er mwyn 
monitro perfformiad y system, bodloni dyletswyddau deddfwriaethol, a helpu pob dysgwr ag 
ADY i wella deilliannau. 

Mae'n bleser gennyf gyhoeddi fy mod heddiw wedi cyhoeddi crynodeb o'r ymatebion i'r 
ymgynghoriad ar y newidiadau arfaethedig i'r data a gasglwn am y system anghenion dysgu 
ychwanegol (ADY) yng Nghymru. Mewn ymateb i'r ymgynghoriad wyth wythnos, a 
gynhaliwyd rhwng 8 Hydref a 3 Rhagfyr, daeth 99 o ymatebion i law gan rieni a gofalwyr, y 
gweithlu addysg, awdurdodau lleol a rhanddeiliaid ehangach. Mae'r ymgysylltiad cryf hwn 
yn adlewyrchu'r ymrwymiad cyffredin i sicrhau bod trefniadau casglu data ADY yn gadarn, 
yn gynhwysfawr ac yn ein cefnogi i sicrhau deilliannau gwell i blant a phobl ifanc yng 
Nghymru. Hoffwn ddiolch i bawb a roddodd o'u hamser i ymateb. 

Lluniwyd ein cynigion yn ofalus ac yn gydweithredol i sicrhau eu bod yn adlewyrchu'r 
system ADY sydd ar waith yn llwyr ers mis Medi 2025, ynghyd â chyfrifoldebau ysgolion, 
awdurdodau lleol a lleoliadau nad ydynt yn ysgolion.  

Rwy'n croesawu'r gefnogaeth eang i'r mwyafrif o'r cynigion a gyhoeddwyd gennym. Roedd 
yr ymatebwyr yn gwerthfawrogi'r canlynol yn arbennig: 

Tudalen y pecyn 29

https://www.llyw.cymru/data-i-fonitror-system-anghenion-dysgu-ychwanegol-ady
https://www.llyw.cymru/data-i-fonitror-system-anghenion-dysgu-ychwanegol-ady
https://www.llyw.cymru/data-i-fonitror-system-anghenion-dysgu-ychwanegol-ady


 2 

 eitemau data ystyrlon yn ymwneud â phenderfyniadau ADY a chynlluniau datblygu 
unigol (CDU) 

 cofnod cliriach a mwy cyson o feysydd angen y dysgwyr 

 gwybodaeth gryfach am ddarpariaeth ddysgu ychwanegol (DDdY) a sut y dylid ei 
chofnodi  

 darlun cliriach o'r rolau yn y gweithlu addysg sy'n cefnogi dysgwyr ag ADY 

Rwy'n parhau i fod wedi ymrwymo i gydweithredu'n barhaus ac i ystyried y canfyddiadau 
hyn yn ofalus wrth inni fireinio'r newidiadau terfynol i drefniadau casglu data statudol. Bydd 
hyn yn ein helpu i daro'r cydbwysedd cywir rhwng y deilliannau yr hoffem eu sicrhau, 
ymarferoldeb y gwaith cyflawni, a'r angen i gynnal prosesau clir, hawdd eu trin ar gyfer 
ysgolion ac awdurdodau lleol. 

Y bwriad yw gosod y newidiadau yn ystod tymor y Senedd hon, a byddaf yn cyfathrebu 
ymhellach maes o law. 

Mae crynodeb o'r ymatebion bellach ar gael yma ac ar wefan Llywodraeth Cymru. Diolch 
eto i bawb a gymerodd ran yn yr ymgynghoriad. Mae eich lleisiau'n helpu i lunio dyfodol 
data ADY yng Nghymru, gan gryfhau ein gallu ar y cyd i gefnogi dysgwyr i ffynnu ac i 
wireddu eu potensial. 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 30

https://www.llyw.cymru/data-i-fonitror-system-anghenion-dysgu-ychwanegol-ady


   
 

 

SL(6)774 – The Deposit Scheme for Drinks Containers 

(Wales) Regulations 2026 

Background and Purpose 

These Regulations establish a Deposit Return Scheme (“DRS”) in Wales for in-scope drinks 

containers. These include single-use closed bottles and cans made from PET1 plastic, steel, 

glass or aluminium that contain between 150ml to 3 litres of liquid and are supplied for 

consumption in Wales. HDPE2 bottles (usually used to supply milk), cartons and plastic 

pouches/sachets are not included under the DRS.  

From 1 October 2027, a person who is supplied with a drink in a container that is in-scope of 

the Regulations must pay a deposit to the person who supplied that container. The person 

who returns the container to a designated point will then be entitled to redeem the deposit 

or elect that an amount equivalent to the deposit is paid to a charity.  

The Explanatory Memorandum to the Regulations states that the purpose of the DRS is to 

support the transition to a circular, zero waste and net zero carbon Wales. In doing so it will 

build on Wales’ recycling record by further increasing the quantity and quality of recycling of 

in-scope materials, reduce littering and fly-tipping, and importantly, phase in the reuse of 

drinks containers. The commitment to implementing a DRS in Wales is set out in the Welsh 

Government’s circular economy strategy, Beyond Recycling, the Net Zero Wales emissions 

reduction plan and is a key part of the implementation of the Welsh Government’s 

Programme for Government commitment to Extended Producer Responsibility. 

The Regulations provide for the appointment of a scheme administrator to operate the 

scheme, referred to as the Deposit Management Organisation (DMO) and set out:  

- the scope of the DRS (as described above);  

- the role of retailers, drink producers and suppliers;  

- the functions of the DMO; 

- a four year transition period during which in-scope glass drinks containers will be 

subject to a 0p deposit and will not be required to comply with DRS labelling 

requirements, and  

- the monitoring, compliance and enforcement measures that will be in place to 

support the running of the scheme, including the roles of Welsh Ministers and 

regulators. 

The 2026 Regulations require the DMO to make arrangements to recycle drink containers 

that have been returned. From year four of the scheme onwards, the DMO will also be under 

                                                           
1 polyethylene terephthalate 
2 high-density polyethylene 

Tudalen y pecyn 31

Eitem 2.4

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47215
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47215


   
 

 

a duty to make arrangements for the reuse of drink containers that have been returned and 

are capable of reuse.   

Procedure 

Senedd approval procedure. 

The Welsh Ministers have laid a draft of the Regulations before the Senedd. The Welsh 

Ministers cannot make the Regulations unless the Senedd approves the draft Regulations. 

Technical Scrutiny 

The following 15 points are identified for reporting under Standing Order 21.2 in respect of 

this instrument. 

1. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Regulation 1(4) of the Regulations states that regulation 73 (reuse) comes into force on 1 

October 2030. Reg 73(1) says “The deposit management organisation must make 

arrangements for the reuse of returned refund items”. 

Page 8 of the Explanatory Memorandum provides that: “Apart from the duty on the DMO to 

make arrangements to reuse drinks containers that are capable of reuse, which is due to come 

into force on 1 October 2031, the rest of the 2026 Regulations come into force on 1 October 

2027 which is the date from which the DRS will be operational.” 

The Welsh Government is asked to confirm whether the date in regulation 1(4) is correct, as it 

is noted that the transition period (regulation 3(2)) comes to an end on 30 September 2031, 

and all other references in the Explanatory Memorandum are to 1 October 2031. 

2. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

In regulation 7, there is a difference between the English and Welsh text. In the English text, 

the provision is numbered as regulation 7, but in the Welsh text it is numbered as regulation 

7(1). 

3. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In regulation 9, the term “means of distance communication” is defined. That definition 

refers to “connected goods and services”, but regulation 9 also defines “connected goods or 

services”. The Welsh Government is asked to confirm whether the two phrases are intended 

to have the same meaning and, if not, the context in which they are to be interpreted 

differently. 

4. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Tudalen y pecyn 32



   
 

 

Regulation 9(10) deals with the provision of documents under the Regulations, and 

determines when such documents are deemed to be received by reference to “business 

days”. “Business day” is not defined for the purpose of these Regulations so the Welsh 

Government is asked to:- 

a) confirm what constitutes a business day for the purpose of regulation 9(10); 

b) explain why this term is not defined; and 

c) explain why it did not use the term “working day” which has a defined meaning 

under the Legislation (Wales) Act 2019 and therefore would not require further 

definition in the Regulations. 

5. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In regulation 15(6), in the Welsh text, the definition of “specified” for regulation 15 is noted as 

“penodedig”. However, a different term “a bennir” is used on each occasion to express the 

meaning of “specified” in regulation 15. Therefore, it would seem more appropriate to note “a 

bennir” or the root form “pennu” as the definition of “specified” in the Welsh text of regulation 

15(6). This also occurs in regulation 31(6) of these Regulations. 

6. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

In regulation 32(2)(b) and (4)(b), there is a difference between the English and Welsh text. In 

the English text, it notes “state the date” but the meaning given by the Welsh text is “specify 

the date”. It is also inconsistent with the Welsh text of the other provisions in these Regulations 

where a form of “nodi” has been used for “state” in the same context on almost every occasion. 

The only exception appears to be in paragraph 3(3)(a) and (b) of Schedule 6 where “datgan” 

has been used to express “state” in the Welsh text, which is also an appropriate choice of word. 

The use of the fully standardised term “pennu” (“specify”) for both “specify” and “state” also 

means that the reader of the Welsh text will be unable to distinguish between those terms in 

these Regulations. 

7. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Regulation 61(2) sets out the requirements upon a deposit management organisation when 

determining the amount of of the deposit. Regulation 62 provides for that amount to be 

revised, but does not specify that the requirements set out in regulation 61(2) also apply to 

any revision under regulation 62. The Welsh Government is asked to clarify whether the 

requirements in regulation 61(2) are intended to apply to any revision(s) made under 

regulation 62 and, if so, why this is not made clear on the face of the Regulations. 

8. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Tudalen y pecyn 33



   
 

 

In regulation 86(6)(a), it could be argued that it would aid the reader if the words “of this 

regulation” were added after the reference to “paragraph (1)”. Likewise, in regulation 86(6)(c), 

it could aid the reader if the words “of Schedule 18 to the EA 1995” were added after the 

reference to “in paragraph 6(1)”. This is because there are references to paragraphs in 

regulation 86 and to paragraphs in Schedule 18 to the EA 1995 in regulation 86(6). 

Therefore, it would enable the reader to distinguish clearly between them. To a lesser extent, 

this is also true of the reference in regulation 86(7) to “paragraphs (1) and (2), as modified by 

paragraph (3)” where an added “of this regulation” could be helpful for the reader. 

9. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

In regulation 86(7), in the English text, the definitions of “the applied enforcement powers” 

and “the EA 1995” are repeated in English in italics and brackets immediately afterwards. 

However, the definitions in italics and brackets should be the corresponding Welsh language 

definitions. 

10. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Regulation 93 deals wil enforcement cost recovery notices. Regulation 19(5) states that a 

person required to pay costs is not liable to pay any costs which are shown to be 

unnecessarily incurred. However, there is no detail explaining how this will work in practice, 

for example, how is a person to “show” this, who determines whether the costs were incurred 

unnecessarily etc. The Welsh Government is therefore asked to provide further information in 

this regard and asked to explain why this information is not included in the Regulations. 

11. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

In Schedule 3, in paragraph 3(4) and (5), there is a difference between the English and Welsh 

text. In the English text, it refers to “paragraph (3)(b)(ii)” and “paragraph (3)(b)(iii)” but the 

meaning given by the Welsh text is “sub-paragraph (3)(b)(ii)” and “sub-paragraph (3)(b)(iii)” 

respectively. In this regard, the descriptions of the references in the Welsh text are correct 

rather than those in the English text. 

12. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

In Schedule 4, in paragraph 11(3), there is a difference between the English and Welsh text. In 

the English text, it refers to “sub-paragraph (1)(b)”, but the meaning given by the Welsh text is 

“sub-paragraph (1)(a)”. 

13. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Tudalen y pecyn 34



   
 

 

Schedule 5 deals with the appointment of the deposit management organisation. The 

Schedule sets out when such appointment may be made or revoked, but does not give any 

information about the application process, such as what form it should take, what 

information an applicant needs to include in its application, etc. The Welsh Government is 

therefore asked to provide further information in this regard and asked to explain why this 

information is not included in the Regulations. 

14. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Schedule 6 deals with the civil sanctions. The table in Part 2 provides for civil sanctions to be 

imposed in relation to regulation 27(1) or (6), which relates to the (requirement to provide or 

display, or provide for display, the Scheme information. However, although regulation 28(1) 

is included in relation to the requirement to provide or display, or provide for display, the 

RLVP information, regulation 28(6) is not, which makes the equivalent provision to regulation 

27(6). The Welsh Government is asked to confirm why regulation 27(6) is included in the 

Table of Civil Sanctions but not regulation 28(6). 

15. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Paragraph 8 of Schedule 6 provides for the power to impose a variable money penalty 

(VMP). Paragraph 8(1) states that where the civil sanctions table indicates that a VMP is 

available for an act or contravention of a requirement listed in column 1 of the table, an 

enforcement authority may, by notice, impose a VMP on a person. in relation to that act or 

contravention. Paragraph 8(3) begins with “Before serving a notice relating to a VMP for 

failure to comply with a compliance notice or enforcement undertaking…” The civil sanctions 

table does not appear to make provision for a VMP to be imposed due to a failure to comply 

with a compliance notice or enforcement undertaking, so the Welsh Government is asked to 

explain the basis for any VMP in this regard. 

Merits Scrutiny  

The following six points are identified for reporting under Standing Order 21.3 in respect of 

this instrument. 

16. Standing Order 21.3(ii) – that it is of political or legal importance or gives rise to 

issues of public policy likely to be of interest to the Senedd 

The Explanatory Memorandum to the Regulations states: 

Continuing the collaborative engagement with the UK Government and other Devolved 

Governments and in line with the outcome of the UK Government’s review of UKIMA, 

the Welsh Government has proposed a UKIMA exclusion for the inclusion of glass and 

reuse in the Welsh DRS, through the Common Frameworks process. 

Tudalen y pecyn 35



   
 

 

The Explanatory Memorandum does not provide any further information regarding the 

current status of the Welsh Government’s request but it is noted that the Written Statement 

issued by the Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change and Rural 

Affairs on 12 February 2026 confirms that the other Governments in the UK have agreed to 

the exclusion being brought forward. A UK Government policy paper published on 25 

February 2026 also notes: 

The UK government has therefore offered an exclusion for single-use glass bottles in 

Wales, which will be implemented in legislation at the earliest opportunity. This 

exclusion is subject to the Welsh Government committing to all of these points: 

 commencing its DRS for plastic and metal drinks containers as planned on 1 

October 2027  

 ensuring that its DRS for plastic and metal drinks containers meets key criteria for 

integrating with a UK-wide scheme (this includes ensuring that schemes have a 

single registration and reporting system, processes for reciprocal takeback of 

material – for example, material can be returned in any nation, consistent logos 

and the same deposit level)  

 extending its proposed transitional period for single use glass (where a 0p deposit 

applies and no labelling requirements or targets apply) to October 2031 – this will 

provide industry with additional lead-in time to prepare for the introduction of 

glass in the Welsh DRS  

The UK government has also agreed to a proposal from the Welsh Government to 

establish a joint taskforce on implementation under the Resources and Waste Common 

Framework, including the devolved governments and the relevant deposit management 

organisations, in order to oversee interoperability and support the smooth 

implementation of DRS across the UK. 

It would assist the Committee if the Welsh Government could provide a clear, detailed and 

comprehensive update on the position regarding the exclusion process and the timescales 

for the progression and completion of the process. 

17. Standing Order 21.3(ii) – that it is of political or legal importance or gives rise to 

issues of public policy likely to be of interest to the Senedd 

The Committee notes that the Regulations do not make detailed provisions regarding reuse. 

The Explanatory Memorandum notes that this has been the subject of recent public 

consultation and amendment will therefore be required to the Regulations in the next 

Senedd, to include detailed provisions relating to reuse and reusable containers in the 

scheme. The Welsh Government is asked to explain why it felt it necessary to address reuse 

in the Regulations at this stage, when it is not yet in a position to provide the applicable 

details. 

Tudalen y pecyn 36

https://www.gov.wales/written-statement-deposit-return-scheme-drinks-containers-wales-regulations-2026
https://www.gov.wales/written-statement-deposit-return-scheme-drinks-containers-wales-regulations-2026
https://www.gov.wales/written-statement-deposit-return-scheme-drinks-containers-wales-regulations-2026
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/welsh-government-deposit-return-scheme-uk-internal-market-act-exclusion-policy-update/welsh-government-deposit-return-scheme-uk-internal-market-act-exclusion
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/welsh-government-deposit-return-scheme-uk-internal-market-act-exclusion-policy-update/welsh-government-deposit-return-scheme-uk-internal-market-act-exclusion


   
 

 

18. Standing Order 21.3(ii) – that it is of political or legal importance or gives rise to 

issues of public policy likely to be of interest to the Senedd 

Paragraph 5 of the Explanatory Memorandum to the Regulations sets out the details of 

various formal and informal consultation exercises that have been carried out in relation to 

the Regulations. The Committee notes that links are provided for information relating to the 

consultations carried out in 2019 and 2021, but since then links to information regarding the 

results for any further consultations are not provided. The Welsh Government is asked to 

provide links or further details as to where information regarding the results of the 2025 

consultation noted in the Explanatory Memorandum, and any other consultation exercises, 

regarding any aspect of the Regulations can be found. 

19. Standing Order 21.3(ii) – that it is of political or legal importance or gives rise to 

issues of public policy likely to be of interest to the Senedd 

The Regulatory Impact Assessment (“RIA”) for the Regulations appears to be based upon an 

initial impact assessment that was undertaken for Wales, England and Northern Ireland in 

2021. The Welsh Government is asked to confirm: 

a) whether the RIA is, in fact, based upon the assessment undertaken in 2021 and, if so, 

why a more recent assessment has not been carried out; and 

b) why it was considered appropriate to use an impact assessment for the three nations, 

rather than an assessment that is specific to Wales, particularly given the proposed 

differences between the Welsh scheme and the scheme in England and Northern 

Ireland. 

20. Standing Order 21.3(ii) – that it is of political or legal importance or gives rise to 

issues of public policy likely to be of interest to the Senedd 

These Regulations are related to other regulations. The Explanatory Memorandum to the 

Regulations states: 

These Regulations make provision for the DRS in Wales and will sit in parallel with the 

schemes developed by the other UK nations’ governments. Whilst the scheme has been 

developed to deliver in a Welsh context against Wales’ baseline recycling rate, including 

glass within its scope, the aim is for an aligned 1 October 2027 launch date to support 

interoperability across the UK. 

The Producer Responsibility Obligations (Packaging and Packaging Waste) Regulations 

2024, which have been developed on a UK-wide basis, place obligations on producers 

of packaging. Such obligations however do not apply in respect of drinks containers 

within the scope of DRS. Whilst glass drinks containers are currently in scope of 

Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) for packaging, this will only apply until the 

point at which a DRS is operational in Wales. Products will therefore be obligated under 

either the DRS or EPR for packaging, but not both. However, if DRS is not operational 

by January 2028, then containers will fall within the scope of the Producer 

Tudalen y pecyn 37



   
 

 

Responsibility Obligations (Packaging and Packaging Waste) Regulations 2024 by 

default.  

Consequential to the 2026 Regulations further legislation is proposed in respect of 

permitted development rights for reverse vending machines. 

21. Standing Order 21.3(i) – that it imposes a charge on the Welsh Consolidated Fund or 

contains provisions requiring payments to be made to that Fund or any part of the 

government or to any local or public authority in consideration of any licence or 

consent or of any services to be rendered, or prescribes the amount of any such 

charge or payment 

Regulation 94(1) requires any penalty payment that Natural Resources Wales receives under 

Part 9 of the Regulations to be paid into the Welsh Consolidated Fund. 

Welsh Government response 

A Welsh Government response is required for points 1-19 inclusive. 

Legal Advisers 

Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee 

3 March 2026 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 38



 

 

 

 

 

DATGANIAD YSGRIFENEDIG 

GAN 

LYWODRAETH CYMRU 
 

 

TEITL  Rheoliadau Cynllun Dychwelyd Ernes ar gyfer Cynwysyddion 
Diod (Cymru) 2026 

DYDDIAD  12 Chwefror 2026 

GAN  Huw Irranca-Davies AS, Y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion 
Gwledig 

 

Heddiw, mae Rheoliadau’r Cynllun Dychwelyd Ernes (CDE) ar gyfer Cynwysyddion 

Diod (Cymru) 2026 wedi’u gosod. Mae’r cynllun hwn yn galluogi dychwelyd 

cynwysyddion diod i’w hailgylchu ac i’w hailddefnyddio, ac felly bydd yn adeiladu ar 

ein perfformiad ailgylchu sydd eisoes gyda’r gorau yn y byd a lleihau sbwriel a 

gwastraff ymhellach. Mae hyn yn garreg filltir sylweddol ar ein taith tuag at ddod â  

cymdeithas wastraffus i ben ac i greu economi fwy cylchol i wireddu ein hymrwymiad 

yn Mwy nag Ailgylchu, ac yn y cynllun Sero Net Cymru.   

Rydym wedi bod yn glir o’r dechrau ynghylch yr angen i ddatblygu cynllun sy’n 

diwallu anghenion Cymru ac sy’n gwella ein cyfraddau ailgylchu sydd eisoes yn 

uchel, ac sydd hefyd yn cyd-fynd â chynlluniau ar draws y DU. Yn ymarferol, mae 

hyn yn golygu cynllun sydd yn cynnwys poteli gwydr, er penderfyniad Llywodraeth 

flaenorol y DU oedd i newid cwmpas y cynllun y cytunwyd arno. Mae’r gwahaniaeth 

yn y cwmpas yn golygu y bu’n rhaid i ni gael eithriad o Ddeddf Marchnad Fewnol y 

DU a thrwy gydweithio gyda Llywodraethau eraill y DU, mae’n bleser gallu 

cadarnhau eu bod wedi cytuno i ganiatáu’r eithriad.  

Bydd y cynllun yng Nghymru yn cynnwys poteli plastig PET, caniau alwminiwm a dur 

a photeli gwydr o’r diwrnod cyntaf. Bydd yn cychwyn hefyd ar greu llwybr clir ar gyfer 

ailddefnyddio cynwysyddion, hynny gyda chymorth treialon y mae’r diwydiant wedi 

ymrwymo i’w cynnal, yn ogystal ag adlewyrchu arferion gorau rhyngwladol ac yn 

parhau i arwain y ffordd yn y DU. 

Tudalen y pecyn 39

https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17855-em-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17855-em-cy.pdf


Fel y dywedwyd ynghynt, er mwyn cwrdd â dymuniad y diwydiant bod yr CDE yn 

cael ei lansio yr un pryd ym mhob rhan o’r DU ym mis Hydref 2027, bu’n rhaid 

cyflymu’r broses o ddatblygu rheoliadau sy’n cael eu gosod heddiw i sefydlu’r 

cynllun. Bydd angen, felly, ymgorffori prif bwyntiau’r ymgynghoriad cyhoeddus 

diweddar, yn enwedig o ran pennu’r targedau ar gyfer ailddefnyddio, mewn 

rheoliadau yn y dyfodol. Mae’r drafodaeth am yr eithriad yn UKIMA eisoes wedi 

dechrau.  

Er mwyn sicrhau bod y cynlluniau’n cael eu rhoi ar waith yn esmwyth ledled y DU, 

rwyf wedi cynnig i Lywodraethau’r DU, Gogledd Iwerddon a’r Alban ein bod yn 

sefydlu tasglu i sicrhau bod cysondeb rhwng y cynlluniau, gan weithio ar y cyd â’r 

Sefydliad Rheoli Ernes gaiff ei benodi a’i arwain gan y diwydiant. Byddwn yn 

cydweithio’n glos â’r diwydiant, Awdurdodau Lleol a rhanddeiliaid eraill i sicrhau bod 

y cynllun yn dod â manteision clir i Gymru.  

Bydd y Senedd nawr yn ystyried y Rheoliadau sy’n gosod y fframwaith cyffredinol ar 

gyfer y CDE, sy’n galluogi penodi Sefydliad Rheoli Ernes, ac yn diffinio cwmpas a 

phwrpas y cynllun. O 1 Hydref 2027, bydd y cynllun yn cwmpasu poteli plastig PET, 

caniau alwminiwm a dur, a photeli gwydr (150ml i 3L). Yn dilyn trafodaethau gyda’r 

diwydiant, er y bydd poteli gwydr yn rhan o’r cynllun ac yn cael eu casglu o’r 

cychwyn, fe fydd cyfnod pontio pan fydd cynwysyddion diodydd gwydr wedi’u 

heithrio rhag y gofynion labeli ac ni chaiff ernes ei godi arnynt. Bydd hyn yn para am 

bedair blynedd, gan roi llawer o amser i’r diwydiant addasu i’r gofynion, a ddaw i rym 

o ran poteli gwydr yr un pryd â chyflwyno ailddefnyddio. Hefyd. bydd y cynllun yn 

caniatáu i bobl Cymru allu rhoi yr ernes a ad-delir iddyn nhw i elusen, gan gefnogi 

buddiannau cymdeithasol a chymunedol.  

Yn amodol ar gymeradwyaeth y Senedd, trwy’r rheoliadau, daw’r CDE i rym yng 

Nghymru ar 1 Hydref 2027. Mae hyn yn garreg filltir arall yn y daith o ddatblygu’n 

cynllun, a bydd Cymru’n gallu parhau i arwain y ffordd yn y DU ac yn y byd wrth 

adeiladu economi gylchol sy’n gweithredu er lles ein heconomi, ein cymunedau a’n 

hamgylchedd.  

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 40



 

 

 

 

 

2 Mawrth 2026 

Annwyl Huw, 

Rheoliadau Cynllun Ernes ar gyfer Cynwysyddion Diodydd (Cymru) 2026 

Yn ystod cyfarfod y Pwyllgor ar 25 Chwefror,  gwnaethom drafod gohebiaeth gan y Gymdeithas 

Fasnach Gwin a Gwirodydd (WSTA) a British Glass ynghylch y Rheoliadau Cynllun Ernes ar gyfer 

Cynwysyddion Diodydd (Cymru) 2026 (y Rheoliadau drafft).  

O ran y trefniadau amserlennu, rydym ar ddeall y bydd y Rheoliadau drafft yn cael eu trafod ddiwedd 

mis Mawrth. O ystyried ymrwymiadau gwaith y Pwyllgor ar hyn o bryd, nid ydym mewn sefyllfa i 

drafod y Rheoliadau drafft mewn unrhyw ffordd ystyrlon er mwyn gallu cyflwyno adroddiad arnynt 

cyn y ddadl. Fodd bynnag, cytunodd y Pwyllgor y dylwn ysgrifennu atoch er mwyn nodi ein safbwynt 

lefel uchel ar y Rheoliadau drafft, ac er mwyn gofyn am ymateb ar faterion a godwyd mewn 

gohebiaeth sy'n berthnasol i'n cylch gwaith. Mae rhestr o gwestiynau wedi'i chynnwys mewn Atodiad.  

Mae'r Pwyllgor wedi bod yn eiriolwr cryf dros gyflwyno cynllun dychwelyd ernes (DRS) yng Nghymru. 

Rydym wedi mynegi rhwystredigaeth ynghylch yr oedi parhaus o ran cyflwyno cynllun o’r fath, gan 

bwysleisio'r angen i Lywodraeth Cymru wneud hynny gynted â phosibl. Felly, mae'r Rheoliadau drafft 

yn gam ymlaen yr ydym yn ei groesawu. 

Rydym yn falch bod y Rheoliadau drafft yn darparu ar gyfer dechrau’r cynllun ar 1 Hydref 2027, gan 

sicrhau cydymffurfiaeth â gweddill y DU, a chan gyflawni ymrwymiad hirdymor Llywodraeth Cymru i 

gynnwys cynwysyddion diodydd gwydr.  

Nodwn mai diben y cyfnod pontio ar gyfer cynwysyddion diodydd gwydr, a fydd yn para am bedair 

blynedd, yw caniatáu digon o amser i'r diwydiant addasu i ofynion y cynllun. Rydym yn ystyried bod 

hwn yn ddull pragmatig o osgoi oedi pellach o ran cyflwyno'r cynllun. Serch hynny, rydym yn 

cydnabod bod rhai yn y diwydiant yn parhau i bryderu am gwmpas y cynllun. Rydym yn pwysleisio 

Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd,  
yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith 
— 
Climate Change, Environment,  
and Infrastructure Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

SeneddHinsawdd@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddHinsawdd 

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddClimate@senedd.wales 

senedd.wales/SeneddClimate 
0300 200 6565 

Huw Irranca-Davies AS 

Y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros 

Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig  

Tudalen y pecyn 41

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=741&MId=15825&Ver=4
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17855-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17855-cy.pdf
mailto:SeneddHinsawdd@senedd.cymru
mailto:SeneddClimate@senedd.wales


 

 

pwysigrwydd ymgysylltu’n barhaus â’r diwydiant a phartneriaid cyflawni eraill er mwyn sicrhau cyfnod 

pontio llyfn ac effeithiol. 

Rwy’n anfon copi o’r llythyr hwn at Mike Hedges AS, Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder 

a’r Cyfansoddiad.  

Byddwn yn ddiolchgar pe byddech yn darparu ymateb cyn gynted â phosibl, ac yn ddelfrydol erbyn 

16 Mawrth 2026.   

Yn gywir, 

 

 

 

 

Llyr Gruffydd AS 

Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg/We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Tudalen y pecyn 42



 

 

Atodiad: Cwestiynau ynghylch effaith cynnwys cynwysyddion diodydd gwydr  

1. Sut ydych chi'n ymateb i honiad y Gymdeithas Fasnach Gwin a Gwirodydd y gallai’r penderfyniad i 

gyflwyno cynllun dychwelyd ernes sy'n cynnwys gwydr danseilio amcanion amgylcheddol drwy 

gynyddu allyriadau sy’n deillio o gerbydau, a thrwy roi cymhelliant i bobl ddefnyddio mathau llai 

ailgylchadwy o becynnu yn hytrach na gwydr cynaliadwy? 

2. Sut ydych chi'n ymateb i honiad British Glass y gallai cynnwys cynwysyddion diodydd gwydr arwain 

at y canlynol: 

i. Mewnforio cynwysyddion diodydd gwydr rhatach sy’n gallu amsugno costau polisi, gan 

leihau cynnwys ailgylchadwy y cynhyrchion, cynyddu eu hôl-troed carbon, a disodli 

cadwyni cyflenwi’r DU. 

ii. Newid deunydd cynhyrchion i blastig neu ddeunyddiau eraill sy’n gallu cael effaith 

negyddol ar iechyd pobl a’r amgylchedd mewn llawer o achosion, ac sy’n llai ailgylchadwy 

na gwydr. 

3. Yn ôl British Glass, mae nifer o gwestiynau hollbwysig heb eu hateb (wedi’u nodi isod) yn codi yn 

sgil y Rheoliadau. Byddai'n ddefnyddiol pe gallech ymateb i bob un yn ei dro.  

iii. A fydd cynhyrchwyr yn wynebu costau am gasglu gwydr DRS yn ystod y cyfnod pan fydd 

yr ernes yn 0c? 

iv. Os bydd gwydr yn cael ei eithrio o’r drefn Cyfrifoldeb Cynhyrchydd Estynedig ar gyfer 

pecynnu (pEPR) o dan y system DRS o fis Hydref 2027 ymlaen, pam fod cynhyrchwyr yn 

parhau i dalu ffioedd pEPR yn awr, yn wahanol i’r drefn ar gyfer mathau eraill o ddeunydd 

pecynnu metel a phlastig ym mhob gwlad yn y DU sydd wedi’u heithrio o’r ffioedd pEPR?  

v. Sut fydd y system hon yn rhyngweithio â’r system sy’n bodoli eisoes ar gyfer casglu 

eitemau wrth ymyl y ffordd? A fydd gofyn i'r Sefydliad Rheoli Ernes (DMO) ad-dalu 

awdurdodau lleol am y gost o gasglu cynwysyddion diodydd gwydr o ochr y ffordd, ac os 

felly, sut y bydd y gost hon yn cael ei chyfrifo er mwyn sicrhau nad yw cynhyrchwyr gwydr 

yn parhau i dalu am y ddwy system gasglu? 

vi. O ystyried yr ernes o 0c, mae targed dychwelyd o 80 y cant ar gyfer cynwysyddion 

diodydd gwydr erbyn 2030 yn uchel iawn. A fydd cynhyrchwyr yn wynebu dirwy os nad 

yw’r targed hwn yn cael ei gyflawni? 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 43



 
 
 
 
 
 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
Wine and Spirit Trade Association. Registered address:  Lynton House, 7-12 Tavistock Square, London WC1H 9LT 
Correspondence address:  International Wine & Spirit Centre, 39-45 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF 
Tel: +44 (0) 207 089 3877 / Email: info@wsta.co.uk 
Registered Number: 410660 England Limited by Guarantee / VAT Number: GB 243 8280 60 

 

The Deposit Return Scheme for Drinks Containers (Wales) Regulations 2026: Submission to the 
Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee  
………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

Author: Wine and Spirit Trade Association (March 2026) 

 

Introduction: 
The WSTA supports the introduction of a DRS for PET Plastic, steel and aluminium containers from 
October 2027, alongside removing glass from scope in Wales. This will ensure UK-wide, 
interoperability of schemes, prevent barriers to trade (such as unique labels for Wales), whilst 
ensuring that Wales can continue to deliver world-leading recycling rates for glass via kerbside 
collection.  

Removing glass from Wales would prevent mass market withdrawal (initial estimates suggest over 
90% of our industry’s SKUs will be removed from sale in Wales) and ensure that environmental 
outcomes are protected (the current kerbside glass collection rate is over 90%, whilst targets set in 
these draft regulations are 80% by 2030). 

 

Standing Orders: 

The WSTA encourages the Committee to report on, and draw special attention to this instrument 
under Standing Orders 21.2 and 21.3: 

21.2 (v): ‘that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs further explanation’ 

21.3 (ii0: ‘that it is of political or legal importance or gives rise to issues of public policy likely to be of 
interest to the Senedd’ 

 

Rationale: 

The WSTA believes that the instrument should be drawn to special attention for numerous reasons 
within the Committee’s remit. Most significantly: 

• There is no guarantee, or agreed methodology, for the UK or Welsh Government‘s to meet 
the terms of the transition period for glass 2027-2031 (no labelling requirements). This 
was a condition of the UK Internal Market exclusion for the scheme 
 

• The Explanatory Memorandum and Regulatory Impact Assessment do not accurately 
reflect implementation of a DRS in Wales, nor impacts on business, or likely environmental 
benefits. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 44

https://senedd.wales/media/n33df5ry/english_digital.pdf


 
 
 
 
 
 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
Wine and Spirit Trade Association. Registered address:  Lynton House, 7-12 Tavistock Square, London WC1H 9LT 
Correspondence address:  International Wine & Spirit Centre, 39-45 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF 
Tel: +44 (0) 207 089 3877 / Email: info@wsta.co.uk 
Registered Number: 410660 England Limited by Guarantee / VAT Number: GB 243 8280 60 

 

Additional Resources: 

WSTA Analysis of the Explanatory Memorandum and Regulatory Impact Assessment  

WSTA Briefing on International Deposit Return Schemes 

WSTA Submission to the Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure Committee on the Deposit 
Return Scheme for Drinks Containers (Wales Regulations) 2026 

 

Detail: 

Transition Period 2027-2031:  

These regulations contain a transition period (2027-2031), whereby glass containers in scope of DRS 
will be zero-rated (do not pay a deposit), and do not require associated labelling (such as a DRS 
scheme logo and barcode for Reverse Vending Machines). The UK Internal Market exclusion for the 
scheme states: 

‘This exclusion is subject to the Welsh Government committing to all of these points… extending its 
proposed transitional period for single use glass (where a 0p deposit applies and no labelling 
requirements or targets apply) to October 2031 – this will provide industry with additional lead-in 
time to prepare for the introduction of glass in the Welsh DRS’ 

However, in lieu of further guidance from either Welsh Government or UK Government at this stage, 
it is our interpretation that unique identification of products sold in Wales will be required from day 
one of the scheme in October 2027. This is because products will need to differentiated from 
identical glass containers/products in scope of Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) in the rest 
of the UK. This is an important anti-fraud measure, with the ongoing requirement for containers in 
scope of EPR to pay scheme fees. The Welsh Government acknowledge this in the Regulatory 
Impact Assessment for these regulations (contained within Explanatory Memorandum): 

 

‘DRS drinks containers will be exempt from pEPR payments from the scheme launch in October 2027’ 
(2.93) 

‘Many products will undergo relabelling before 2031 for commercial and legislative reasons outside 
of the DRS’ (2.91) 

 
The need for unique identification of products in Wales by October 2027 is a significant challenge to 
business. Aside costs and re-labelling cycles (typically 24-month intervals to re-design labels), 
introducing a unique labelling regime within the UK’s Internal Market requires the ability to pinpoint 
the final POS (point-of-sale) or point of consumption of a product. Thisis not realistic, as many 
importers or producers sell to wholesalers and third-party distributors and do not have visibility of a 
product’s full journey though the market and to the consumer. Busnesses currently apply one label, 

Tudalen y pecyn 45

https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fwsta.co.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2026%2F02%2FWSTA-commentary-on-the-Welsh-Governments-Explanatory-Memorandum-and-RIA-for-a-DRS-in-Wales-2026.docx&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK
https://wsta.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2026/02/WSTA-briefing.-Harmonisation-of-DRS-systems-%E2%80%93-an-international-comparison.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s171592/Briefing%20note%20from%20the%20Wine%20and%20Spirit%20Trade%20Association%20to%20the%20Chair%20in%20relation%20to%20the%20impacts%20of%20.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s171592/Briefing%20note%20from%20the%20Wine%20and%20Spirit%20Trade%20Association%20to%20the%20Chair%20in%20relation%20to%20the%20impacts%20of%20.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/welsh-government-deposit-return-scheme-uk-internal-market-act-exclusion-policy-update/welsh-government-deposit-return-scheme-uk-internal-market-act-exclusion
https://laiddocuments.senedd.wales/sub-ld17855-em-en.pdf


 
 
 
 
 
 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
Wine and Spirit Trade Association. Registered address:  Lynton House, 7-12 Tavistock Square, London WC1H 9LT 
Correspondence address:  International Wine & Spirit Centre, 39-45 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF 
Tel: +44 (0) 207 089 3877 / Email: info@wsta.co.uk 
Registered Number: 410660 England Limited by Guarantee / VAT Number: GB 243 8280 60 

 

at the point of bottling, to cover most of the EU. Even if the financial burden, of unique labelling can 
be surpassed, it is highly unlikely produce, destined for the Welsh market, will be labelled at the 
point of production, and separated, along the entire supply chain, for such a small market. 

Many businesses may choose to withdraw entirely from selling in Wales due to the complexity of 
identifying and applying unique labels. Initial estimates produced by the WSTA suggest that up to 
97% of SKUs (stock-keeping units) in our industry could be withdrawn from sale in Wales if a DRS 
with glass in-scope is implemented.  

 

Explanatory Memorandum (EM) and Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA): 

The WSTA has produced a full analysis of the Explanatory Memorandum (EM) and integrated 
Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA). Below are some significant concerns: 

Unique Identification: As outlined below, despite the condition of the UKIMA exclusion stating no 
labelling requirements before October 2031, the RIA states: ‘Many products will undergo relabelling 
before 2031 for commercial and legislative reasons outside of the DRS’ (2.91) 

QR Labelling: The RIA assumes 80% of containers within scope of DRS will have serialised QR codes 
by 2031. A minority of SKUs within WSTA membership and the wider industry currently apply QR 
codes, and we do not see this as a realistic target, especially given the number of low-volume SKU 
lines sold in the UK. The RIA also concedes that this 80% estimate is not evidence-based: ‘No 
forecasts were found on the likely level of future adoption and so for the impact assessment it is 
assumed that 20 percent of glass DRS SKUs will not have added QR codes by October 2031’ (2.79) 

Re-Labelling: When complying with labelling requirements under the regulations, businesses in our 
industry will have to re-label and separate stock year-on-year (for example, annual vintage varietals 
for wine). The RIA states that this will be a one-off cost: ‘There will be a one-off cost to producers to 
re-design labels to incorporate a DRS logo and a barcode capable of being read by an RVM’ (2.87). 
The re-labelling cost for glass is estimated at £2.1 million (2.91). The WSTA disputes this estimate, 
that is likely to be significantly higher, and a recurring (not singular) cost. 

Local Authority Funding: There is no solution for funding local authority (LA) glass collections 
between 2027-2031 (the transition period). During the transition period glass containers will not pay 
a deposit and there will be no incentive for the consumer to return to retail or collection points. 
Therefore, whilst most glass will be collected at the kerbside until 2031, from day one of the scheme 
in October 2027, glass containers in scope of DRS in Wales will not pay Extended Producer 
Responsibility (EPR) fees – that are currently paid to Welsh LAs. The RIA states: ‘In the DRS scenario, 
DRS drinks containers will be exempt from pEPR payments from the scheme launch in October 2027 
and local authorities will not receive the pEPR payments relating to this material. This includes glass 
drinks containers during the transitional 0p deposit period’ (2.93). Additionally, even from 2031 
when glass will be subject to a deposit and ‘return to retail’, other glass containers will still be 
collected at the kerbside (i.e. jam jars) increasing inefficiency. 

Tudalen y pecyn 46



 
 
 
 
 
 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
Wine and Spirit Trade Association. Registered address:  Lynton House, 7-12 Tavistock Square, London WC1H 9LT 
Correspondence address:  International Wine & Spirit Centre, 39-45 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF 
Tel: +44 (0) 207 089 3877 / Email: info@wsta.co.uk 
Registered Number: 410660 England Limited by Guarantee / VAT Number: GB 243 8280 60 

 

Glass Reuse: Introduction of a glass re-use scheme in Wales was not permitted under the UKIMA 
exclusion: ‘UK government has been unable to agree a UKIM Act exclusion for this part of the 
proposal. Any future exclusion request for reuse will be considered by the UK government and 
devolved governments’. Despite this, reuse is covered extensively in the regulations and the RIA, 
including setting targets. Part 3 of the draft regulations state that ‘These Regulations establish in 
Wales a deposit scheme in respect of containers in which drinks are supplied, for the purposes of— 
(a) sustaining, promoting and securing an increase in the reuse of refund items and recycling of 
materials’. The draft regulations also require the DMO (Scheme Governance) to make arrangements 
for the reuse of deposit items (Clause 73). Within the draft regulations, targets are set for the % of 
returned containers being reusable by October 2031, and the the RIA includes phased reuse targets 
from 2029-2035. 

 

Other Procedural Concerns: UKIMA and Consultation Process: 

The Welsh Government did not formally propose an exclusion request under the UK Internal Market 
Act until 27th November 2025. The UKIMA exclusion process therefore began after the Welsh 
Government’s public consultation closed (10th November 2025), and over 2 months after the Wesh 
Government issued formal World Trade Organisation notification of their draft regulations (17th 
September 2025). Based on the draft regulations, the WSTA issued a notification to the Office for the 
Internal Market (the watchdog for the UK Internal Market Act) in early November 2025, outlining the 
necessity for an exclusion to UKIMA for the scheme in Wales. The Welsh Government announced 
their intention to include glass containers in a unique Deposit Return Scheme in Wales in November 
2024, meaning that a UKIMA exclusion was not sought for over 12 months.  

The UKIMA exclusion for the inclusion of single-use glass containers was the first agreed under the 
new UKIMA exclusions process, agreed as part of the 2025 review into the operation of the Act. 
Therefore, given this is an important ‘test case’ for the new process, it’s important that Welsh 
Government sought evidence of the impact of introducing a glass-in DRS on the three evidence 
factors that are used for UKIMA exclusions since July 2025, namely: ‘direct and indirect economic 
impact (including costs to businesses), environmental protection, and public health’ (Reserve 
Exclusions Process – Part 18, p.33). The Office for the Internal Market (OIM) is the independent 
watchdog for the UK internal market and operation of UKIMA, with a remit to ‘support the effective 
operation of the UK’s internal market, and provides expert and independent advice to the UK 
government and devolved governments’. As the first exclusion agreed under the new UKIMA 
exclusions process, clarity is needed as to whether the Welsh Government requested independent 
advice from the Office for the Internal Market on the impacts of agreeing an exclusion for single-use 
glass in DRS. In the 2025 review of the UK Internal Market Act, UK Government stated: ‘we will take 
steps to work with the devolved governments to ensure that the OIM’s independent expertise is 
engaged and considered earlier and in a more structured and consistent way within policy 

Tudalen y pecyn 47

https://laiddocuments.senedd.wales/sub-ld17855-em-en.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/written-statement-deposit-return-scheme-application-deposit-management-organisation
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2025-08/consultation-delivering-deposit-return-scheme-drinks-containers-wales.pdf
https://eping.wto.org/en/Search/Index?viewData=%20G/TBT/N/GBR/106
https://eping.wto.org/en/Search/Index?viewData=%20G/TBT/N/GBR/106
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/686fa10e2cfe301b5fb679d0/uk-government-response-to-the-review-of-the-united-kingdom-internal-market-act-2020-and-public-consultation.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/686fa10e2cfe301b5fb679d0/uk-government-response-to-the-review-of-the-united-kingdom-internal-market-act-2020-and-public-consultation.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-for-the-internal-market/about


 
 
 
 
 
 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
Wine and Spirit Trade Association. Registered address:  Lynton House, 7-12 Tavistock Square, London WC1H 9LT 
Correspondence address:  International Wine & Spirit Centre, 39-45 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF 
Tel: +44 (0) 207 089 3877 / Email: info@wsta.co.uk 
Registered Number: 410660 England Limited by Guarantee / VAT Number: GB 243 8280 60 

 

discussions to inform better decision making’ (p.25). The OIM has been monitoring the development 
of Deposit Return Schemes since 2024.  

This raises numerous concerns: 

• Has the UKIMA exclusions process (and scrutiny of the regulations in the Senedd) pursued at 
unnecessary pace? The formal UKIMA exclusions process was completed in just 10 weeks 
 

• Was the design of the scheme subject to meaningful impact from public consultation? (WTO 
notification was issued 7 weeks before the public consultation period closed) 
 

• Did Welsh Government request independent advice from the OIM on the impact of including 
glass in DRS? 
 
 

WSTA Background: 
The Wine and Spirit Trade Association (WSTA) represents c.350 businesses, covering the full route to 
market from the point of production/import to the point of retail. WSTA members include multi-
national brands, importers, bulk bottlers/packers, logistics firms, warehousers, glass manufacturers, 
and retailers (including major supermarkets, BWS specialists, and DTC retailers). Over 60% of WSTA 
members are SMEs, and over 40% are micro-businesses. The vast majority of WSTA members are 
onward suppliers to both the on-and-off trade, often via indirect supply chains (such as wholesale). 

In 2022, the UK wine and spirit industry contributed c.£76 billion in economic activity. The UK is a 
global hub for the trade – as the largest exporter of spirits and second largest importer of wine (by 
volume and value). In 2024, the UK exported the equivalent of 1.5 billion bottles of spirits (70cl) 
and imported the equivalent of 1.7 billion bottles of wine (75cl). The WSTA represents c.70% of all 
drinks industry glass placed on the UK market. 

The WSTA and our members support the introduction of UK-wide Deposit Return Schemes for PET 
plastic and aluminium containers, and we have worked closely with DEFRA and the Devolved 
Administrations to deliver this. We believe that Wales’s existing method of kerbside collection is the 
most effective for glass. This is highly successful (c.92% collection – WRAP Cymru, 2023), and at a 
relatively low cost to taxpayers. The WSTA and our members long advocated for glass to remain 
under the kerbside system, and to be included in EPR over DRS when delivering the ‘polluter pays’ 
environmental principle. Including glass in DRS is unlikely to improve on this collection rate – and 
includes additional environmental challenges (such as vehicular emissions in transporting glass, and 
reduced quality of glass collections).   

Tudalen y pecyn 48

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/686fa10e2cfe301b5fb679d0/uk-government-response-to-the-review-of-the-united-kingdom-internal-market-act-2020-and-public-consultation.pdf
https://www.wrap.ngo/sites/default/files/2023-07/WRAP-wales-msw-summary-report-english-2023.pdf


   
 

 

SL(6)779 – Rheoliadau Deddf Deddfau Trethi Cymru 

etc. (Pŵer i Addasu) 2022 (Estyn Dyddiad Dod i Ben) 

2026 

Cefndir a Diben 

Mae adran 1(1) o Ddeddf Deddfau Trethi Cymru etc.  (Pŵer i Addasu) 2022 (“Deddf 2022”) 

yn darparu y caiff Gweinidogion Cymru wneud rheoliadau sy’n addasu deddfiadau penodol 

sy’n ymwneud â threthi datganoledig at y dibenion penodol a nodir yn adran 1(1)(a) i (d) o 

Ddeddf 2022, yn ddarostyngedig i rai amodau a chyfyngiadau.  

Daw'r pŵer o dan adran 1 o Ddeddf 2022 i ben ar 8 Medi 2027. Fodd bynnag, mae adran 

7(2) o Ddeddf 2022 yn darparu y caiff Gweinidogion Cymru, drwy reoliadau, ddarparu y caiff 

y pŵer barhau mewn grym am gyfnod pellach, hyd at 30 Ebrill 2031. Mae'r Rheoliadau hyn 

yn darparu bod y pŵer hwn i barhau mewn grym tan y dyddiad hwnnw. 

Gweithdrefn 

Gweithdrefn gymeradwyo’r Senedd. 

Mae Gweinidogion Cymru wedi gosod drafft o'r Rheoliadau gerbron y Senedd. Ni chaiff 

Gweinidogion Cymru wneud y Rheoliadau oni bai bod y Senedd yn cymeradwyo'r 

Rheoliadau drafft. 

Materion technegol: craffu 

Ni nodwyd unrhyw bwyntiau i gyflwyno adroddiad arnynt o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.2 mewn 

perthynas â'r offeryn hwn. 

Rhinweddau: craffu  

Nodwyd y pwynt a ganlyn i gyflwyno adroddiad arno o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.3 mewn 

perthynas â’r offeryn hwn. 

1. Rheol Sefydlog 21.3(ii) – ei fod o bwysigrwydd gwleidyddol neu gyfreithiol neu ei 

fod yn codi materion polisi cyhoeddus sy’n debyg o fod o ddiddordeb i’r Senedd.  

Mae’r Memorandwm Esboniadol ar gyfer y Rheoliadau hyn, ym mharagraff 4.1, yn nodi mai: 

“Nod y Rheoliadau … yw sicrhau bod pŵer gwneud rheoliadau yn adran 1 o Ddeddf 

2022 ar gael i’w ddefnyddio gan Weinidogion Cymru hyd at 30 Ebrill 2031.  Bydd hyn 

yn rhoi amser, pan fydd y pŵer adran 1 yn Neddf 2022 yn parhau i fod ar gael i 

Lywodraethau Cymru a Seneddau yn y dyfodol, i sefydlu pa ddulliau gweithredu y 

maent am eu rhoi arwaith ar gyfer gwneud newidiadau i Ddeddfau Trethi Cymru.  Mae 

Tudalen y pecyn 49

Eitem 2.5

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47245
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47245
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47245


   
 

 

adolygiad Gweinidogion Cymru1 o ddiben ac effaith Deddf 2022 a’r mecanwaith 

deddfwriaethol amgen posibl yn gam cyntaf.  Bydd estyn dyddiad dod i ben y pŵer 

gwneud rheoliadau yn adran 1 o Ddeddf 2022 yn golygu felly y bydd Llywodraeth nesaf 

Cymru yn gallu gwneud newidiadau mewn modd cyflym a hyblyg os bydd angen.” 

Ymateb Llywodraeth Cymru 

Nid oes angen ymateb gan Lywodraeth Cymru. 

Cynghorwyr Cyfreithiol 

Y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a’r Cyfansoddiad 

4 Mawrth 2026 

 

 

                                                           
1 Adolygiad Gweinidogion Cymru o Ddeddf Deddfau Trethi Cymru etc. (Pŵer i Addasu) 2022 (13 Chwefror 
2026) 

Tudalen y pecyn 50

https://www.llyw.cymru/welsh-ministers-review-welsh-tax-acts-etc-power-modify-act-2022-html#196345


 

 

 

 1 

 

 

DATGANIAD YSGRIFENEDIG  

GAN 

LYWODRAETH CYMRU 
 

 

TEITL  

 
Rheoliadau Deddf Deddfau Trethi Cymru etc. (Pŵer i Addasu) 
2022 (Estyn Dyddiad Dod i Ben) 2026 

DYDDIAD  24 Chwefror 2026 

GAN 
Mark Drakeford AS, Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gyllid a’r 
Gymraeg 

 

Heddiw, mae Rheoliadau drafft wedi’u gosod i estyn dyddiad dod i ben y pŵer a roddir i 
Weinidogion Cymru gan adran 1 o Ddeddf Deddfau Trethi Cymru etc. (Pŵer i Addasu) 
2022, o’r dyddiad dod i ben presennol sef 8 Medi 2027 i ddyddiad dod i ben newydd sef 30 
Ebrill 2031. Gweler y Memorandwm Esboniadol ar gyfer Rheoliadau Deddf Deddfau Trethi 
Cymru etc. (Pŵer i Addasu) 2022 (Estyn Dyddiad Dod i Ben) 2026 yma. 

Mae’r Datganiad Ysgrifenedig hwn yn dilyn y datganiad a gyhoeddwyd ar 13 Chwefror 

2026. Roedd y Datganiad Ysgrifenedig blaenorol yn cyd-fynd â chyhoeddi’r crynodeb o’r 

ymatebion i’r ymgynghoriad a geisiodd farn ar y mecanweithiau priodol ar gyfer gwneud 

newidiadau i Ddeddfau Trethi Cymru ac adolygiad Gweinidogion Cymru o Ddeddf Deddfau 

Trethi Cymru etc. (Pŵer i Addasu) 2022. Cyfrannodd yr ymgynghoriad a gynhaliwyd gyda’r 

cyhoedd a Senedd Cymru at yr adolygiad, y mae rhaid ei gyhoeddi cyn gosod y Rheoliadau 

i estyn y dyddiad dod i ben. 

Mae’r Rheoliadau yn sicrhau, drwy gadw’r pŵer gwneud rheoliadau hwn am y cyfnod hirach 

dan sylw, y bydd Llywodraeth nesaf Cymru yn parhau i allu gwneud newidiadau mewn 

modd cyflym a hyblyg, os bydd yr angen yn codi, gan ddefnyddio’r pŵer gwneud rheoliadau 

yn adran 1 o Ddeddf 2022.  O ganlyniad, bydd gan Lywodraeth nesaf Cymru a’r Senedd 

nesaf hefyd amser yn ystod tymor nesaf y Senedd i sefydlu pa fecanweithiau y byddent yn 

dymuno’u cyflwyno yn y dyfodol i wneud newidiadau i Ddeddfau Trethi Cymru, gan hefyd 

gynnal yr amddiffyniad a ddarperir ar ei gyfer gan y pŵer yn Neddf 2022.   

 

Edrychaf ymlaen at y drafodaeth ar y Rheoliadau a gynhelir ar 17 Mawrth 2026. 

Tudalen y pecyn 51

https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17884-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sub-ld17884-em-cy.pdf
https://www.llyw.cymru/datganiad-ysgrifenedig-adolygiad-o-ddeddf-deddfau-trethi-cymru-etc-pwer-i-addasu-2022-ac-adroddiad
https://www.llyw.cymru/datganiad-ysgrifenedig-adolygiad-o-ddeddf-deddfau-trethi-cymru-etc-pwer-i-addasu-2022-ac-adroddiad


   
 

 

SL(6)775 - Gorchymyn Cod Ymarfer Gwariant 

Ymgyrch Pleidiau Gwleidyddol (Etholiadau’r Senedd) 

2025 (Diwrnod Penodedig) (Cymru) 2026 

Cefndir a Diben 

Mae’r Gorchymyn hwn yn pennu 18 Chwefror 2026 fel y diwrnod y daw Cod Ymarfer Gwariant 

Ymgyrch Pleidiau Gwleidyddol (Etholiadau’r Senedd) 2025 (“y Cod”) i rym. 

Gweithdrefn 

Dim gweithdrefn. 

Materion technegol: craffu 

Nodir y pwynt a ganlyn i gyflwyno adroddiad arno o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.2 mewn cysylltiad 

â’r offeryn hwn. 

1. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(vi) – ei bod yn ymddangos bod gwaith drafftio’r offeryn neu’r 

drafft yn ddiffygiol neu ei fod yn methu â bodloni gofynion statudol. 

Er nad yw’r Gorchymyn hwn yn ddarostyngedig i un o weithdrefnau’r Senedd, mae’r Cod yn 

dilyn y weithdrefn a nodir yn Atodlen 8 i Ddeddf Pleidiau Gwleidyddol, Etholiadau a Refferenda 

2000 (“Deddf 2000”). Mae’r Gorchymyn yn cadarnhau bod drafft o’r Cod wedi’i osod gerbron 

y Senedd ar 15 Rhagfyr 2025, yn unol â pharagraff 3(4) o Atodlen 8 i Ddeddf 2000. 

Yn unol â pharagraff 3(6) a 3(9) o Atodlen 8, os yw’r Senedd, o fewn cyfnod o 40 niwrnod (ac 

eithrio cyfnodau diddymu neu gyfnodau o doriad am fwy na phedwar diwrnod) sy’n dechrau 

â’r dyddiad gosod, yn penderfynu peidio â chymeradwyo’r Cod drafft, ni chaiff Gweinidogion 

Cymru ei ddyroddi.  

Mae paragraff 3(7) o Atodlen 8 yn darparu, ymhlith pethau eraill, os na wneir penderfyniad o’r 

fath gan y Senedd o fewn y cyfnod o 40 niwrnod, fod rhaid i Weinidogion Cymru ddyroddi’r 

Cod, sy’n dod i rym ar y dyddiad a bennir gan Weinidogion Cymru drwy orchymyn. 

Gwnaed y Gorchymyn hwn ar 12 Chwefror 2026, ac ymddengys fod y dyddiad hwn yn disgyn 

ar ddiwrnod 39 o’r cyfnod o 40 niwrnod.  

Mae rhaglith y Gorchymyn yn cynnwys y datganiadau a ganlyn: 

“Ni wnaed penderfyniad o’r math a grybwyllir ym mharagraff 3(6) o Atodlen 8 i Ddeddf 

2000 gan Senedd Cymru o fewn 40 niwrnod i’r Cod Ymarfer drafft gael ei osod. 

Tudalen y pecyn 52

Eitem 2.6

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47221
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47221
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47221


   
 

 

Dyroddwyd y Cod Ymarfer, ar ffurf y drafft a osodwyd gerbron y Senedd, gan 

Weinidogion Cymru o dan baragraff 3(7)(a) o Atodlen 8 i Ddeddf 2000…”  [pwyslais 

wedi’i ychwanegu]. 

Felly, gofynnir i Lywodraeth Cymru egluro’r canlynol: 

1. y rheswm dros wneud y Gorchymyn hwn yn ystod y cyfnod o 40 niwrnod a ragnodir 

ym mharagraff 3 o Atodlen 8 i Ddeddf 2000 (ac nid ar ôl iddo ddod i ben); 

2. y dyddiad y dyroddodd Gweinidogion Cymru y Cod yn unol â pharagraff 3(7)(a) o 

Atodlen 8 i Ddeddf 2000; ac, yn unol â hynny, 

3. a yw Gweinidogion Cymru wedi’u bodloni y cydymffurfiwyd â gofynion Deddf 2000 

wrth wneud y Cod. 

Rhinweddau: craffu  

Ni nodir unrhyw bwyntiau i gyflwyno adroddiad arnynt o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.3 mewn 

cysylltiad â’r offeryn hwn. 

Ymateb Llywodraeth Cymru 

Mae angen ymateb gan Lywodraeth Cymru. 

Cynghorwyr Cyfreithiol 

Y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a’r Cyfansoddiad 

3 Mawrth 2026 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 53



   
 

 

SL(6)776 – Gorchymyn Cod Ymarfer Gwariant 

Ymgyrch Ymgyrchwyr Nad Ydynt yn Bleidiau 

(Etholiadau'r Senedd) 2025 (Diwrnod Penodedig) 

(Cymru) 2026 

Cefndir a diben 

Mae'r Gorchymyn hwn yn pennu 18 Chwefror 2026 fel y diwrnod y bydd Cod Ymarfer 

Gwariant Ymgyrch Ymgyrchwyr Nad Ydynt yn Bleidiau (Etholiadau'r Senedd) 2025 (“y Cod”) 

yn dod i rym. 

Gweithdrefn 

Dim gweithdrefn. 

Materion technegol: craffu 

Nodwyd y pwynt a ganlyn i gyflwyno adroddiad arno o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.2 mewn 

perthynas â'r offeryn hwn.  

1. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(vi) – ei bod yn ymddangos bod gwaith drafftio'r offeryn neu’r 

drafft yn ddiffygiol neu ei fod yn methu â bodloni gofynion statudol. 

Er nad yw'r Gorchymyn hwn yn ddarostyngedig i weithdrefn y Senedd, mae'r Cod yn dilyn y 

weithdrefn a nodir yn adran 100C o Ddeddf Pleidiau Gwleidyddol, Etholiadau a Refferenda 

2000 (“Deddf 2000”). Mae'r Gorchymyn yn cadarnhau y gosodwyd drafft o'r Cod gerbron y 

Senedd ar 15 Rhagfyr 2025, yn unol ag adran 100C(4) a (5) o Ddeddf 2000. 

Yn unol ag is-adrannau (6) a (10) o adran 100C, os bydd y Senedd yn penderfynu peidio â 

chymeradwyo'r Cod drafft, a hynny o fewn cyfnod o 40 diwrnod (ac eithrio cyfnodau 

diddymiad neu doriad o fwy na phedwar diwrnod) sy'n dechrau gyda’r dyddiad gosod, rhaid 

i Weinidogion Cymru beidio â’i ddyroddi.  

Mae is-adran (8) o adran 100C yn darparu, ymhlith pethau eraill, os na fydd y Senedd yn 

gwneud penderfyniad o'r fath o fewn y cyfnod o 40 diwrnod, fod yn rhaid i Weinidogion 

Cymru ddyroddi’r Cod, a ddaw i rym ar y dyddiad a bennir gan Weinidogion Cymru drwy 

orchymyn. 

Gwnaed y Gorchymyn hwn ar 12 Chwefror 2026, sy'n ymddangos fel ei fod yn disgyn ar 

ddiwrnod 39 o'r cyfnod 40 diwrnod.  

Mae rhaglith y Gorchymyn yn cynnwys y datganiadau a ganlyn: 

Tudalen y pecyn 54

Eitem 2.7

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47222
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47222
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47222
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47222


   
 

 

“Ni wnaed penderfyniad o’r math a grybwyllir yn adran 100C(6) o Ddeddf 2000 gan 

Senedd Cymru o fewn 40 niwrnod i’r Cod Ymarfer drafft gael ei osod… 

…Dyroddwyd y Cod Ymarfer…ar ffurf y drafft a osodwyd gerbron y Senedd, gan 

Weinidogion Cymru o dan adran 100C(8)(a) o Ddeddf 2000…”  [ychwanegwyd 

pwyslais]. 

Felly, gofynnir i Lywodraeth Cymru egluro: 

1. y rheswm dros wneud y Gorchymyn hwn yn ystod y cyfnod o 40 diwrnod a ragnodir 

yn adran 100C o Ddeddf 2000 (ac nid wedi i’r cyfnod hwn ddod i ben); 

2. y dyddiad y dyroddodd Gweinidogion Cymru y Cod yn unol ag adran 100C(8)(a) o 

Ddeddf 2000; ac, yn unol â hynny, 

3. a yw Gweinidogion Cymru yn fodlon y cydymffurfiwyd â gofynion Deddf 2000 wrth 

wneud y Cod. 

Rhinweddau: craffu  

Ni nodwyd unrhyw bwyntiau i gyflwyno adroddiad arnynt o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.3 mewn 

cysylltiad â’r offeryn hwn. 

Ymateb Llywodraeth Cymru 

Mae angen ymateb gan Lywodraeth Cymru. 

Cynghorwyr Cyfreithiol 

Y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a’r Cyfansoddiad 

3 Mawrth 2026 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 55



   
 

 

SL(6)777 – Gorchymyn Cod Ymarfer Treuliau 

Etholiadau Ymgeiswyr Unigol (Etholiadau'r Senedd) 

2025 (Diwrnod Penodedig) (Cymru) 2026 

Cefndir a Diben 

Gwneir y Gorchymyn hwn gan Weinidogion Cymru, drwy arfer y pwerau a roddir gan 

baragraff 20(7)(b) o Atodlen 7 i Orchymyn Senedd Cymru (Cynrychiolaeth y Bobl) 2025 

(“Gorchymyn 2025”). 

Mae’r Gorchymyn hwn yn pennu 18 Chwefror 2026 fel y diwrnod y daw Cod Ymarfer Treuliau 

Etholiadau Ymgeiswyr Unigol (Etholiadau’r Senedd) 2025 (“y Cod Ymarfer”) i rym.  

Gweithdrefn 

Dim gweithdrefn. 

Materion technegol: craffu 

Nodir y pwynt a ganlyn i gyflwyno adroddiad arno o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.2 mewn cysylltiad 

â’r offeryn hwn. 

1. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(vi) – ei bod yn ymddangos bod gwaith drafftio'r offeryn neu’r 

drafft yn ddiffygiol neu ei fod yn methu â bodloni gofynion statudol. 

Er nad yw'r Gorchymyn hwn yn ddarostyngedig i un o weithdrefnau’r Senedd, mae'r Cod 

Ymarfer yn dilyn y weithdrefn a nodir ym mharagraff 20 o Atodlen 7 i Atodlen 7 i Orchymyn 

2025. Mae'r Gorchymyn yn cadarnhau bod drafft o'r Cod Ymarfer wedi’i osod gerbron y 

Senedd ar 15 Rhagfyr 2025, yn unol â pharagraff 20(4) o Atodlen 7 i Orchymyn 2025. 

Yn unol â pharagraff 20(6) o Atodlen 7 i Orchymyn 2025, os yw’r Senedd, o fewn cyfnod o 40 

niwrnod (ac eithrio cyfnodau diddymu neu gyfnodau o doriad am fwy na phedwar diwrnod) 

sy’n dechrau â’r dyddiad gosod, yn penderfynu peidio â chymeradwyo'r Cod Ymarfer drafft, 

ni chaiff Gweinidogion Cymru gymryd unrhyw gamau pellach mewn perthynas ag ef.  

Mae paragraff 20(7) o Atodlen 7 i Orchymyn 2025 yn darparu, ymhlith pethau eraill, os na 

wneir penderfyniad o'r fath gan y Senedd o fewn y cyfnod o 40 niwrnod, fod rhaid i 

Weinidogion Cymru ddyroddi'r Cod Ymarfer, sy’n dod i rym ar y dyddiad a bennir gan 

Weinidogion Cymru drwy orchymyn. 

Gwnaed y Gorchymyn hwn ar 12 Chwefror 2026, ac ymddengys fod y dyddiad hwn yn disgyn 

ar ddiwrnod 39 o'r cyfnod o 40 niwrnod.  

Mae rhaglith y Gorchymyn yn cynnwys y datganiadau a ganlyn: 

Tudalen y pecyn 56

Eitem 2.8

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47223
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47223
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47223


   
 

 

“Ni wnaed penderfyniad o’r math a grybwyllir ym mharagraff 20(6) o Atodlen 7 i 

Orchymyn 2025 gan Senedd Cymru o fewn 40 niwrnod i’r Cod Ymarfer drafft gael ei 

osod. 

Dyroddwyd y Cod Ymarfer, ar ffurf y drafft a osodwyd gerbron y Senedd, gan 

Weinidogion Cymru o dan baragraff 20(7)(a) o Atodlen 7 i Orchymyn 2025…” 

[pwyslais wedi’i ychwanegu]. 

Felly, gofynnir i Lywodraeth Cymru egluro’r canlynol: 

1. y rheswm dros wneud y Gorchymyn hwn yn ystod y cyfnod o 40 niwrnod a ragnodir 

ym mharagraff 20(6) o Atodlen 7 i Orchymyn 2025 (ac nid ar ôl iddo ddod i ben); 

2. y dyddiad y dyroddodd Gweinidogion Cymru y Cod Ymarfer yn unol â pharagraff 20 

o Atodlen 7 i Orchymyn 2025; ac, yn unol â hynny, 

3. a yw Gweinidogion Cymru wedi’u bodloni y cydymffurfiwyd â gofynion Gorchymyn 

2025 wrth wneud y Cod Ymarfer. 

Rhinweddau: craffu  

Ni nodir unrhyw bwyntiau i gyflwyno adroddiad arnynt o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.3 mewn 

cysylltiad â’r offeryn hwn. 

Ymateb Llywodraeth Cymru 

Mae angen ymateb gan Lywodraeth Cymru. 

Cynghorwyr Cyfreithiol 

Y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a’r Cyfansoddiad 

3 Mawrth 2026 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 57



   
 

 

SL(6)771 - Datganiad Blaenoriaethau ac Amcanion 

Strategol ar gyfer Ofwat a gyhoeddwyd o dan adran 

2B o Ddeddf y Diwydiant Dŵr 1991 

Cefndir a Diben 

Mae Deddf y Diwydiant Dŵr 1991 (“Deddf 1991”) yn galluogi Llywodraeth Cymru i gyhoeddi 

datganiad sy'n nodi'r blaenoriaethau ac amcanion strategol (SPS) ar gyfer Ofwat wrth 

gyflawni ei swyddogaethau rheoleiddio sy'n ymwneud yn gyfan gwbl neu'n rhannol â 

Chymru. Ofwat yw rheoleiddiwr economaidd annibynnol y diwydiant dŵr yng Nghymru a 

Lloegr. Mae'r SPS hwn yn nodi disgwyliadau Gweinidogion Cymru i Ofwat ymgysylltu'n 

rhagweithiol ac yn dryloyw â rhanddeiliaid Cymru ac i ddatblygu dull rheoleiddio sy'n gallu 

bodloni gofynion penodol Cymru orau.  

Rhwng mis Tachwedd 2025 a mis Ionawr 2026, yn unol ag adran 2B Deddf 1991, 

ymgynghorwyd â rhanddeiliaid allweddol. Mae'r Memorandwm Esboniadol yn nodi bod yr 

ymgyngoreion yn gyffredinol yn gefnogol i'r SPS drafft.  

Gweithdrefn 

Gweithdrefn arall. 

Mae Gweinidogion Cymru wedi gosod drafft o'r Datganiad gerbron y Senedd. Os bydd y 

Senedd, o fewn 40 niwrnod (ac eithrio unrhyw ddiwrnodau pan fo’r Senedd: (i) wedi’i 

diddymu neu (ii) ar doriad am fwy na phedwar diwrnod) i’r dyddiad y gosodwyd y drafft, yn 

penderfynu peidio â chymeradwyo’r Datganiad drafft, ni chaiff Gweinidogion Cymru 

ddyroddi’r Datganiad.   

Os na wneir penderfyniad o’r fath, rhaid i Weinidogion Cymru ddyroddi’r Datganiad (ar ffurf 

y drafft). 

Gwaith craffu o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.7 

1. Mae paragraff cyntaf y Datganiad yn nodi bod y Datganiad yn adlewyrchu bwriad polisi 

Llywodraeth Cymru “a amlinellir yn y Papur Gwyrdd Diwygio Llywodraethiant Dŵr yng 

Nghymru”. Nid yw'r Papur Gwyrdd y cyfeirir ato yn bodoli, fodd bynnag cyhoeddwyd Papur 

Gwyrdd o'r enw “Llunio Dyfodol Llywodraethiant Dŵr yng Nghymru” ar 3 Chwefror 2026. 

Byddai'n gliriach pe bai'r paragraff cyflwyniadol hwn o'r Datganiad yn cyfeirio at y Papur 

Gwyrdd cywir.  

Ymateb Llywodraeth Cymru 

Mae angen ymateb gan Lywodraeth Cymru. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 58

Eitem 3.1

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47212
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47212
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47212


   
 

 

Cynghorwyr Cyfreithiol 

Y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a’r Cyfansoddiad 

3 Mawrth 2026 

Tudalen y pecyn 59



   
 

 

SL(6)742 – Rheoliadau’r Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol 
(Contractau Gwasanaethau Meddygol Cyffredinol) 
(Cymru) (Diwygio) 2026 

Cefndir a Diben 

Mae’r Rheoliadau hyn yn diwygio Rheoliadau’r Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol (Contractau 
Gwasanaethau Meddygol Cyffredinol) (Cymru) 2023 (“Rheoliadau 2023”). Mae’r rheoliadau 
hynny yn nodi, ar gyfer Cymru, y fframwaith ar gyfer contractau gwasanaethau meddygol 
cyffredinol o dan adran 42 o Ddeddf y Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol (Cymru) 2006. 

Mae’r Rheoliadau hyn yn gwneud diwygiadau i Reoliadau 2023 er mwyn cywiro gwallau o natur 
dechnegol a mewnosod diffiniadau newydd. 

Gweithdrefn 

Gweithdrefn annilysu’r Senedd. 

Gwnaed y Rheoliadau gan Weinidogion Cymru cyn iddynt gael eu gosod gerbron y Senedd. 
Caiff y Senedd annilysu’r Rheoliadau o fewn 40 niwrnod (ac eithrio unrhyw ddiwrnodau pan 
fydd y Senedd: (i) wedi’i diddymu, neu (ii) mewn cyfnod o doriad am fwy na phedwar diwrnod) 
i’r dyddiad y’u gosodwyd gerbron y Senedd.  

Materion technegol: craffu 

Nodir y pum pwynt a ganlyn i gyflwyno adroddiad arnynt o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.2 mewn 
cysylltiad â’r offeryn hwn. 

1. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(v) – bod angen eglurhad pellach ynglŷn â’i ffurf neu ei ystyr am 
unrhyw reswm penodol 

Yn rheoliad 2, mae’r ddarpariaeth gymhwyso yn nodi bod y Rheoliadau hyn yn gymwys o ran 
Cymru. Fodd bynnag, mae hyn yn wahanol i’r ddarpariaeth gymhwyso yn rheoliad 2 o 
Reoliadau’r Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol (Contractau Gwasanaethau Meddygol Cyffredinol) 
(Cymru) 2023 (“Rheoliadau 2023”) a nododd fod y Rheoliadau hynny yn gymwys o ran Cymru 
a hefyd mewn perthynas â chontractau penodol. O ganlyniad, mae’n golygu bod cymhwyso’r 
diwygiadau yn wahanol i gymhwyso’r offeryn presennol.  

A allai Llywodraeth Cymru egluro ai dyna’r bwriad neu a ddylai darpariaeth gymhwyso’r 
Rheoliadau diwygio hyn fod yr un fath â’r hyn a geir yn Rheoliadau 2023? Yn hyn o beth, nid 
yw fel arfer yn angenrheidiol cynnwys darpariaeth gymhwyso mewn offeryn diwygio oherwydd 
bydd y diwygiadau fel arfer yn rhannu’r un cymhwysiad â’r offeryn presennol. 

Tudalen y pecyn 60

Eitem 4.1

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47148
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47148
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47148


   
 

 

2. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(vi) – ei bod yn ymddangos bod gwaith drafftio’r offeryn neu’r 
drafft yn ddiffygiol neu ei fod yn methu â bodloni gofynion statudol 

Yn rheoliad 4(6), disgrifir y lleoliad ar gyfer mewnosod y testun newydd yn anghywir fel ar ôl 
“is-baragraff (d)” yn y diffiniad o “rhagnodydd atodol” yn rheoliad 3(1) o Reoliadau 2023. 
Fodd bynnag, dylid ei ddisgrifio’n gywir fel ar ôl “paragraff (d)” oherwydd mai’r rhaniad cyntaf 
mewn diffiniad sydd dan sylw. Yn hyn o beth, mae hefyd yn anghyson â’r disgrifiadau tebyg a 
ddefnyddir mewn croesgyfeiriadau presennol yn y diffiniadau yn rheoliad 3(1) o Reoliadau 
2023, e.e. yn y diffiniad o “swpddyroddiad”, ceir “ym mharagraff (c)”. 

3. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(v) – bod angen eglurhad pellach ynglŷn â’i ffurf neu ei ystyr am 
unrhyw reswm penodol 

Yn rheoliad 4(18), yn y paragraff newydd 7A a fewnosodir yn Atodlen 2 i Reoliadau 2023, yn 
is-baragraff (d), mae’n cyfeirio at “gofnod iechyd personol y claf”. Fodd bynnag, mae’r term 
“cofnod claf” wedi’i ddiffinio gydag ystyr penodol ar gyfer paragraffau 1 i 7 o Atodlen 2 gan 
baragraff 8 o’r Atodlen honno.  

A allai Llywodraeth Cymru esbonio a ddylai’r term diffiniedig “cofnod y claf” fod wedi cael ei 
ddefnyddio yn y paragraff newydd 7A neu a fwriedir ystyr gwahanol i’r term “cofnod iechyd 
personol y claf”? Yn hyn o beth, nid oes diffiniad presennol o “cofnod iechyd personol y claf” 
yn Atodlen 2 i Reoliadau 2023 os bwriedir ystyr gwahanol iddo.  

4. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(vi) – ei bod yn ymddangos bod gwaith drafftio’r offeryn neu’r 
drafft yn ddiffygiol neu ei fod yn methu â bodloni gofynion statudol 

Yn rheoliad 4(19), nid yw’r diwygiad yn nodi a disgrifio’n gywir leoliad y diwygiadau a wneir i 
destun Saesneg paragraff 2 yn Atodlen 3 i Reoliadau 2023. Yn benodol, mae rheoliad 4(19)(b) 
yn nodi “yn is-baragraff (a)” ond mae paragraff (a) yn is-baragraffau (1) a (2) o baragraff 2 yn 
Atodlen 3 i Reoliadau 2023. Felly, dylai lleoliad y diwygiad fod wedi cael ei nodi fel “paragraff 
2(2)” yn hytrach na “paragraff 2” yng ngeiriau agoriadol rheoliad 4(19). At hynny, yn rheoliad 
4(19)(b), dylai’r ddarpariaeth benodol ym mharagraff 2(2) o Atodlen 3 fod wedi cael ei disgrifio 
fel “ym mharagraff (a)" yn hytrach nag “yn is-baragraff (a)”. 

5. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(v) – bod angen eglurhad pellach ynglŷn â’i ffurf neu ei ystyr am 
unrhyw reswm penodol 

Yn rheoliad 4(36), yn yr is-baragraff newydd (4A) a fewnosodir ym mharagraff 93 o Atodlen 3 
i Reoliadau 2023, nodir “Ar ôl ystyried y datganiad yn is-baragraff (4), bydd y Bwrdd Iechyd 
Lleol yn penderfynu a oes angen adolygiad wyneb yn wyneb ffurfiol”. Fodd bynnag, nid yw’n 
glir ai bwriad y ddarpariaeth hon yw gosod rhwymedigaeth gyfreithiol ar y Bwrdd Iechyd Lleol. 
Yn yr achos hwnnw, dylai nodi “rhaid” yn hytrach na “bydd” os yw’n gosod rhwymedigaeth o’r 
fath yn hytrach na chyfeirio at ddigwyddiad yn y dyfodol yn unig (gweler Drafftio Deddfau i 
Gymru 3.14(5)). Yn hyn o beth, defnyddiwyd “rhaid” yn is-baragraffau eraill paragraff 93 yn 
Atodlen 3 wrth osod rhwymedigaethau cyfreithiol eraill ar y Bwrdd Iechyd Lleol. Felly, mae 

Tudalen y pecyn 61



   
 

 

hefyd yn anghyson â drafftio’r darpariaethau presennol ym mharagraff 93 o Atodlen 3 os yw’n 
gosod rhwymedigaeth gyfreithiol ar y Bwrdd Iechyd Lleol. 

Rhinweddau: craffu  

Ni nodir unrhyw bwyntiau i gyflwyno adroddiad arnynt o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.3 mewn 
cysylltiad â’r offeryn hwn. 

Ymateb Llywodraeth Cymru 

Mae angen ymateb gan Lywodraeth Cymru. 

Trafodaeth y Pwyllgor 

Trafododd y Pwyllgor yr offeryn yn ei gyfarfod ar 23 Chwefror 2026 ac mae'n cyflwyno 
adroddiad i'r Senedd yn unol â'r pwyntiau adrodd uchod.  

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 62



Ymateb y Llywodraeth: Rheoliadau’r Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol (Contractau 

Gwasanaethau Meddygol Cyffredinol) (Cymru) (Diwygio) 2026 

 

 

Pwynt Craffu Technegol 1:   Mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi nodi 

hyn ac mae’n cadarnhau y dylai’r cymhwysiad fod yr un fath â’r cymhwysiad a geir yn 

Rheoliadau 2023. Mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn cydnabod ymhellach nad yw 

darpariaethau cymhwyso fel arfer yn cael eu cynnwys mewn offeryn diwygio. 

 

Serch hynny, nid yw Llywodraeth Cymru yn ystyried bod y gwahaniaeth yn effeithio’n 

sylweddol ar weithrediad y ddarpariaeth gan fod cwmpas y cymhwysiad yn glir yn 

Rheoliadau 2023. 

 

 

Pwynt Craffu Technegol 2:    Mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi nodi 

hyn. Fodd bynnag, nid yw’n ystyried bod y gwahaniaeth yn effeithio’n sylweddol ar 

weithrediad y ddarpariaeth gan ei bod yn glir at beth y mae’r diwygiad yn cyfeirio, a’r 

hyn a olygir wrth “is-baragraff (d)”. 

 

 

Pwynt Craffu Technegol 3:   Mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn 

cadarnhau mai’r un ystyr sydd i fod i’r cyfeiriad at “gofnod iechyd personol y claf” ym 

mharagraff newydd 7A a fewnosodir yn Atodlen 2 ag sydd i “cofnod claf”, fel y’i diffinnir 

gan baragraff 8 o Atodlen 2. 

 

Nid yw Llywodraeth Cymru yn ystyried bod y gwahaniaeth yn effeithio’n sylweddol ar 

weithrediad y ddarpariaeth. Fodd bynnag, mae’n nodi y gellir ystyried diwygio hyn pan 

fydd y Rheoliadau yn cael eu diwygio nesaf. Disgwylir ar hyn o bryd y bydd hyn yn 

digwydd yn 2026, unwaith y bydd gwaith wedi ei gwblhau ar sut i weithredu rhai o 

ganlyniadau’r trafodaethau diweddar gyda’r proffesiwn. 

 

 

Pwynt Craffu Technegol 4:   Mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi nodi 

hyn. Fodd bynnag, nid yw’n ystyried bod y gwahaniaeth yn effeithio’n sylweddol ar 

weithrediad y ddarpariaeth gan ei bod yn glir at beth y mae’r diwygiad yn cyfeirio, a’r 

hyn a olygir wrth “is-baragraff (a)” a “paragraff 2”. 

 

 

Pwynt Craffu Technegol 5:   Mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn 

cadarnhau mai’r bwriad yw i’r ddarpariaeth hon fod yn rhwymedigaeth gyfreithiol, er 

mwyn sicrhau bod rhaid i Fwrdd Iechyd Lleol benderfynu ac asesu a oes angen 

adolygiad wyneb yn wyneb ffurfiol. 

 

Mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi nodi hyn ac mae’n cadarnhau y gellir ystyried diwygio 

hyn pan fydd y Rheoliadau yn cael eu diwygio nesaf. Disgwylir ar hyn o bryd y bydd 

hyn yn digwydd yn 2026, unwaith y bydd gwaith wedi ei gwblhau ar sut i weithredu 

rhai o ganlyniadau’r trafodaethau diweddar gyda’r proffesiwn. 

Tudalen y pecyn 63



   
 

 

SL(6)752 – Rheoliadau Gofal a Chymorth (Gosod 
Ffioedd) ac (Asesiad Ariannol) (Cymru) (Diwygiadau 
Amrywiol) 2026 

Cefndir a Diben 

Mae’r Rheoliadau hyn yn diwygio Rheoliadau Gofal a Chymorth (Gosod Ffioedd) (Cymru) 
2015 (“y Rheoliadau Gosod Ffioedd”) a Rheoliadau Gofal a Chymorth (Asesiad Ariannol) 
(Cymru) 2015 (“y Rheoliadau Asesiad Ariannol”). 
 
Mae’r Rheoliadau Gosod Ffioedd yn nodi’r gofynion y mae rhaid i awdurdodau lleol eu 
bodloni wrth ddyfarnu swm y ffioedd sy'n gymwys mewn perthynas â gofal a chymorth a 
ddarperir neu a drefnir ganddynt, neu y cynigiant eu darparu neu eu trefnu, wrth gyflawni eu 
swyddogaethau o dan Ran 4 o Ddeddf Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Llesiant (Cymru) 2014 
(“Deddf 2014”). Mae'r Rheoliadau Gosod Ffioedd hefyd yn cynnwys darpariaethau cyfochrog 
sy’n nodi gofynion sy’n gymwys pan fydd awdurdod lleol yn gwneud taliadau uniongyrchol i 
ddiwallu angen person am ofal a chymorth. 
 
Mae'r Rheoliadau Asesiad Ariannol yn gwneud darpariaeth o dan Ddeddf 2014 ynghylch y 
ffordd y mae rhaid i awdurdod lleol gynnal asesiad ariannol o adnoddau ariannol person 
(“A”) yn yr achosion a ganlyn— 
- pan fo’r awdurdod yn tybio, pe bai’n diwallu anghenion A am ofal a chymorth 
(neu anghenion gofalwr am gymorth), y byddai’n gosod ffi o dan adran 59 o 
Ddeddf 2014, neu 
- pan fo’r awdurdod yn tybio, pe bai’n gwneud taliadau tuag at y costau o ddiwallu 
anghenion A am ofal a chymorth (neu anghenion gofalwr am gymorth) drwy wneud 
taliadau uniongyrchol yn rhinwedd adran 50 neu 52 o Ddeddf 2014, y byddai’n ei gwneud yn 
ofynnol i A dalu, ar ffurf ad-daliad (yn achos taliadau gros) neu gyfraniad (yn achos taliadau 
net), tuag at y gost o sicrhau’r ddarpariaeth honno o ofal a chymorth. 
 
Mae rheoliad 2 o’r Rheoliadau hyn yn diwygio rheoliad 13 o’r Rheoliadau Gosod Ffioedd 
(isafswm incwm ar gyfer person y darperir llety iddo mewn cartref gofal) i gynyddu’r swm 
incwm wythnosol net o £44.65 i £46.35. Mae rheoliad 28 hefyd wedi’i ddiwygio i wneud 
newid cyfatebol ar gyfer derbynyddion taliadau uniongyrchol. 
 
Mae rheoliad 3 o’r Rheoliadau hyn yn diwygio Atodlenni 1 a 2 i’r Rheoliadau Asesiad 
Ariannol fel bod unrhyw daliadau a geir fel digollediad am gamweinyddiad cyfiawnder 
sy’n deillio o achosion troseddol yn cael eu diystyru wrth gyfrifo incwm a chyfalaf. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 64

Eitem 4.2

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47174
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47174
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=47174


   
 

 

Gweithdrefn 

Gweithdrefn annilysu’r Senedd. 
Gwnaed y Rheoliadau gan Weinidogion Cymru cyn iddynt gael eu gosod gerbron y Senedd.  
Caiff y Senedd annilysu’r Rheoliadau o fewn 40 niwrnod (ac eithrio unrhyw ddiwrnodau pan 
fydd y Senedd: (i) wedi’i diddymu, neu (ii) mewn cyfnod o doriad am fwy na phedwar 
diwrnod) i’r dyddiad y’u gosodwyd gerbron y Senedd. 

Materion technegol: craffu 

Nodir y 2 bwynt a ganlyn i gyflwyno adroddiad arnynt o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.2 mewn 
cysylltiad â’r offeryn hwn. 

1. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(v) – bod angen eglurhad pellach ynglŷn â'i ffurf neu ei ystyr am 
unrhyw reswm penodol. 

Yn y rhestr o bwerau galluogi yn rhaglith y Rheoliadau, ceir adrannau 50(1), 52(1), 61(1) a 66(3) 
o Ddeddf 2014. 

Roedd Rheoliadau diwygio blaenorol, er enghraifft Rheoliadau Gofal a Chymorth (Gosod 
Ffioedd) ac (Asesiad Ariannol) (Cymru) (Diwygiadau Amrywiol) 2025, yn cynnwys adrannau 50, 
52, 61 a 66 yn y rhestr o bwerau galluogi ac nid oeddent yn cyfeirio at is-adrannau penodol 
o’r adrannau hynny. A all Llywodraeth Cymru nodi’r rhesymau dros y dull gwahanol hwn? 
 
2. Rheol Sefydlog 21.2(v) – bod angen eglurhad pellach ynglŷn â'i ffurf neu ei ystyr am 

unrhyw reswm penodol. 

Mae rhaglith y Rheoliadau yn nodi pwerau galluogi Deddf 2014 y mae Gweinidogion Cymru 
yn dibynnu arnynt. Nid yw’n glir pam mae adran 64(2)(b) wedi’i chynnwys yn benodol, ond nid 
64(2)(a). Mae adran 64(2)(b) yn ei gwneud yn ofynnol i reoliadau sy’n ymdrin ag asesiadau 
ariannol wneud darpariaeth ar gyfer asesu cyfalaf, ac adran 64(2)(a) ar gyfer asesu incwm. 
Rydym yn cwestiynu a ddylid cynnwys adran 64(2)(a) hefyd, gan fod y Rheoliadau hyn yn 
diwygio Atodlen 1 i’r Rheoliadau Asesiad Ariannol (symiau sydd i’w diystyru wrth gyfrifo 
incwm). 

Rhinweddau: craffu  

Nodir y 2 bwynt a ganlyn i gyflwyno adroddiad arnynt o dan Reol Sefydlog 21.3 mewn 
cysylltiad â’r offeryn hwn. 

3. Rheol Sefydlog 21.3(ii) – ei fod o bwysigrwydd gwleidyddol neu gyfreithiol neu ei 
fod yn codi materion polisi cyhoeddus sy’n debyg o fod o ddiddordeb i’r Senedd.  

Nodwn y paragraffau a ganlyn yn y Memorandwm Esboniadol: 

Nid yw’n ofynnol ymgynghori ar ddiwygio’r Rheoliadau Gosod Ffioedd. Yn 
wreiddiol, cynhaliwyd ymgynghoriad ar egwyddor y newidiadau a wneir gan y 

Tudalen y pecyn 65



   
 

 

rheoliadau diwygio i’r Rheoliadau Gosod Ffioedd rhwng 21 Rhagfyr 2016 a 25 
Ionawr 2017. Nid yw’r newidiadau yn adlewyrchu newid ym mholisi 
Llywodraeth Cymru. Yn hytrach, eu diben yw diweddaru rheoliadau i 
adlewyrchu’r codiadau a gymhwysir i bensiynau y wladwriaeth a budd-
daliadau. Yn sgil hynny, ni chynhelir ymgynghoriad yn flynyddol. 

Nid yw’n ofynnol ymgynghori ar ddiwygio’r Rheoliadau Asesiad Ariannol. Gallai 
diwygiadau o ran y diystyriadau newydd sy’n deillio o newidiadau ym mholisi 
Llywodraeth y DU mewn meysydd nad ydynt wedi eu datganoli effeithio ar nifer 
bach o unigolion ac nid yw’n adlewyrchu newid ym mholisi Llywodraeth Cymru. 
Dim ond addasiad technegol yw’r newidiadau i’r rheoliadau er mwyn sicrhau 
bod y rheoliadau yn adlewyrchu’n gywir y cynlluniau cymorth ariannol a nodir 
uchod i sicrhau bod dyfarniadau a roddir i unigolion yn cael eu diogelu rhag 
gosod ffioedd am ofal a chymorth. 

4. Rheol Sefydlog 21.3(ii) – ei fod o bwysigrwydd gwleidyddol neu gyfreithiol neu ei 
fod yn codi materion polisi cyhoeddus sy’n debyg o fod o ddiddordeb i’r Senedd. 

Nodwn y paragraffau a ganlyn yn yr Asesiad Effaith Rheoleiddiol: 

Opsiwn 2 – gwneud y rheoliadau diwygio 

7.2.7. Byddai’r opsiwn hwn yn gwneud y rheoliadau diwygio er mwyn cynyddu’r 
isafswm incwm o’i lefel bresennol, sef o £44.65 yr wythnos, i £46.35 yr wythnos. 
Byddai hyn yn caniatáu i breswylwyr sy’n cael cymorth gan awdurdodau lleol 
gadw codiad ar sail chwyddiant o 3.8% i’w wario ar eitemau personol fel y 
mynnant. 

Opsiwn 2 – gwneud y rheoliadau diwygio - Costau 

7.2.8. Mae’r opsiwn hwn yn golygu y byddai awdurdodau lleol yn cael cynnydd 
llai mewn incwm ffioedd, na phe na bai’r rheoliadau yn cael eu gwneud. Byddai’r 
swm oddeutu £5.7 miliwn y flwyddyn drwy gyfraniadau gan y 16,144 o 
breswylwyr dros oedran pensiwn y wladwriaeth yn unig. Byddai hyn o ganlyniad 
i’r incwm uwch a fyddai gan breswylwyr yn sgil y codiadau yn swm pensiynau y 
wladwriaeth. Byddai preswylwyr yn cadw cyfran o’r codiad hwn (oddeutu £1.4 
miliwn y flwyddyn gyda’i gilydd) i’w wario ar eitemau personol fel y mynnant. 
Nid oes unrhyw gostau gweithredu i Lywodraeth Cymru yn gysylltiedig â gwneud 
y diwygiadau a amlinellir. 

Ymateb Llywodraeth Cymru 

Mae angen ymateb gan Lywodraeth Cymru i’r ddau bwynt adrodd technegol. 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 66



   
 

 

Trafodaeth y Pwyllgor 

Trafododd y Pwyllgor yr offeryn yn ei gyfarfod ar 2 Mawrth 2026 ac mae'n cyflwyno 
adroddiad i'r Senedd yn unol â'r pwyntiau adrodd uchod.  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 67



Ymateb y Llywodraeth: Rheoliadau Gofal a Chymorth (Gosod Ffioedd) ac 

(Asesiad Ariannol) (Cymru) (Diwygiadau Amrywiol) 2026 

 

Pwynt Craffu Technegol 1:  Mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn cydnabod nad oedd y pwerau 

galluogi a restrwyd mewn offerynnau diwygio blaenorol yn cyfeirio at yr is-adrannau 

penodol; fodd bynnag, roeddem o’r farn y byddai cyfeirio at yr is-adrannau penodol 

yn cynorthwyo’r darllenydd yn well. 

Pwynt Craffu Technegol 2:  Mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn cydnabod bod hepgor y 

cyfeiriad at adran 64(2)(a) yn anghywirdeb. Fodd bynnag, yn ein barn ni, nid yw’n 

effeithio ar ddilysrwydd y ddarpariaeth sy’n ymwneud â thrin incwm mewn asesiad 

ariannol. 

Mae’r pŵer yn adran 64(1) wedi ei enwi fel pŵer galluogi yn ogystal ag adran 

64(2)(b). Mae adran 64(1) yn ddyletswydd gyffredinol i “wneud darpariaeth ar gyfer 

cynnal asesiadau ariannol ac mewn perthynas â’u cynnal”. Mae adran 64(2) yn nodi 

elfennau mwy penodol y mae rhaid eu cynnwys mewn rheoliadau a wneir o dan y 

ddyletswydd gyffredinol. Er gwaethaf y diffyg cydnabyddedig yn y drafft, oherwydd 

bod adran 64(1) wedi ei henwi, nid ydym o’r farn mai effaith yr hepgoriad yw codi 

amheuaeth ynghylch vires y ddarpariaeth yn rheoliad 3(a).   

Yn ogystal, gan mai effaith glir rheoliad 3(a) yw gwneud darpariaeth ynghylch cyfrifo 

incwm mewn perthynas ag asesiadau ariannol, mae’r bwriad statudol yn amlwg.  

Tudalen y pecyn 68



Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid 
Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig Deputy First Minister and Cabinet 
Secretary for Climate Change and Rural Affairs  

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Huw.Irranca-Davies@llyw.cymru 
                Correspondence.Huw.Irranca-Davies@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Eich cyf/Your ref: MA/HIDCC/0057/26 
 
Mike Hedges AS 
Cadeirydd  
Y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a’r Cyfansoddiad 
Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd 
Caerdydd 
CF99 1SN 

 
 

 27 Chwefror 2026 
 

Annwyl Mike, 
 
Rheoliadau Pysgodfeydd Môr (Diwygio) 2026 
 
Rwy'n cyfeirio at fy llythyr atoch dyddiedig 22 Ionawr 2026. Hoffwn hysbysu'r Pwyllgor fy 
mod wedi rhoi cydsyniad i'r Ysgrifennydd Gwladol wneud Rheoliadau Pysgodfeydd Môr 
(Diwygio) 2026 ("y Rheoliadau"). Rwyf wedi gosod Datganiad Ysgrifenedig a gallwch ei 
ddarllen yma (Rheoliadau Pysgodfeydd Môr (Diwygio) 2026). 
 
Mae'r Rheoliadau yn gorgyffwrdd â pholisïau datganoledig ac maent yn gymwys i Gymru 
(maent hefyd yn gymwys i Loegr, yr Alban a Gogledd Iwerddon). Mae'r Rheoliadau'n 
ddarostyngedig i'r weithdrefn negyddol a chawsant eu gosod gerbron Senedd y Deyrnas 
Unedig ar 6 Chwefror 2026. Y dyddiad cychwyn yw 27 Chwefror 2026. 
 
Er mai egwyddor gyffredinol Llywodraeth Cymru yw y dylai offerynnau statudol sy'n 
ymwneud â materion datganoledig gael eu gwneud gan Weinidogion Cymru, y tro hwn 
ystyrir ei bod yn briodol i'r Rheoliadau gael eu gwneud gan yr Ysgrifennydd Gwladol am y 
rhesymau a ddisgrifir yn fy llythyr dyddiedig 22 Ionawr.  
 
Yn gywir, 

 
 
Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion 
Gwledig  
Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change and Rural Affairs 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 69

Eitem 5.1

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Huw.Irranca-Davies@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Huw.Irranca-Davies@gov.wales
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru%2Fws-ld17820-cy.pdf&data=05%7C02%7CRobert.Floyd%40gov.wales%7C9830b65e2cb24740469508de68804529%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C639063097289299755%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=B2lEEVZQ7ddelCICzkuwiRYj0p%2BxYtRjxOFh8L7CzdM%3D&reserved=0


 

 

 

 1 

 

 

DATGANIAD YSGRIFENEDIG  

GAN 

LYWODRAETH CYMRU 
 

 

TEITL  

 

Y Pwyllgor Sefydlog Rhyngweinidogol – 17 Chwefror 2026 

DYDDIAD  2 Mawrth 2026 

GAN 
Huw Irranca-Davies AS, y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd 
y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig 

 
Cynrychiolais Lywodraeth Cymru yng nghyfarfod y Pwyllgor Sefydlog Rhyngweinidogol, a 
gynhaliwyd ar 17 Chwefror 2026.  
 
Cadeiriwyd y cyfarfod gan y Gwir Anrhydeddus Darren Jones AS, Prif Ysgrifennydd Prif 
Weinidog y DU, Canghellor Dugiaeth Caerhirfryn a'r Gweinidog dros Gysylltiadau 
Rhynglywodraethol. Bydd cyd-hysbysiad, a fydd yn cynnwys manylion llawn y rhai eraill a 
oedd yn bresennol, yn cael ei gyhoeddi maes o law yma (Saesneg yn unig). Roedd 
diogelwch etholiadol a Modiwl 2 Ymchwiliad Covid-19 ymhlith yr eitemau a drafodwyd. 
 
Croesewais y dull cydweithredol ar gyfer ymdrin â diogelwch etholiadol, gan gynnwys estyn 
amddiffyniadau Operation Ford i holl Aelodau'r Senedd a phob ymgeisydd i'r Senedd. Gan 
nodi ein cyfraniad at y Tasglu Amddiffyn Democratiaeth, y bydd Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet 
dros Gyfiawnder Cymdeithasol, y Trefnydd a'r Prif Chwip yn bresennol ynddo ym mis 
Mawrth, cyfeiriais hefyd at y gwaith o gysoni ein strwythurau gwydnwch â threfniadau'r DU.  
 
Tynnwyd sylw hefyd at ein gwaith agos gyda'r Comisiwn Etholiadol, partneriaid plismona a 
Bwrdd Rheoli Etholiadol Cymru cyn yr etholiadau ym mis Mai. Croesewais adolygiad Philip 
Rycroft o ymyrraeth dramor a chyhoeddi Bil Cynrychiolaeth y Bobl ar 12 Chwefror, gan 
gynnwys y darpariaethau arfaethedig i fynd i'r afael ag ymyrraeth dramor ac achosion o 
gam-drin ymgeiswyr a staff etholiadol. Eglurais fod gwaith ar y gweill ar gymhwyso'r Bil i 
Gymru a'r gofynion cysylltiedig o ran sicrhau cydsyniad deddfwriaeth.  Pwysleisiais hefyd 
bwysigrwydd bod Llywodraeth y DU yn parhau i fod yn ymwybodol o amseriad diddymu'r 
Senedd. 
 
O ran Modiwl 2 Ymchwiliad Covid-19, nodais fod Llywodraeth Cymru yn bwriadu cyhoeddi 
ei hymateb ar 16 Mawrth, cyn yr etholiadau i'r Senedd. Wrth fynd i'r afael â'r argymhellion 
ynghylch cysylltiadau rhynglywodraethol, amlinellais mai ein nod yw sicrhau cydweithio 
effeithiol rhwng y pedair cenedl, gan hefyd barchu'r setliadau datganoli yn llawn. Mae hyn 
yn gofyn am strwythurau gwneud penderfyniadau sy'n galluogi trafodaethau priodol a 

Tudalen y pecyn 70

Eitem 5.2

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/communiques-from-the-interministerial-standing-committee-august-2024-august-2028


 2 

chonsensws pan fo hynny'n briodol, gan hefyd sicrhau bod penderfyniadau ar faterion 
datganoledig yn aros yn nwylo llywodraethau datganoledig. 
 
Oherwydd cyfyngiadau amser, ni chafodd yr eitem ar yr agenda ynghylch cydsyniad 
deddfwriaethol a'r gwaith o lunio Memorandwm Cyd-ddealltwriaeth ar Gonfensiwn Sewel ei 
thrafod yn ystod y cyfarfod. Felly, ysgrifennais yn ddiweddarach at Lywodraeth y DU i nodi 
safbwynt sefydledig Llywodraeth Cymru, sef y byddai sail statudol a chryfhau'r Confensiwn 
yn cynnig mesurau diogelu hanfodol ar gyfer datganoli. Wrth wneud hynny, nodais y gallai 
ymrwymiad maniffesto Llywodraeth y DU i gryfhau Confensiwn Sewel drwy Femorandwm 
Cyd-ddealltwriaeth fod yn gam adeiladol i'r cyfeiriad cywir. 
 
Yn fy ngohebiaeth, rwyf wedi gofyn am sicrwydd ynghylch dull gweithredu Llywodraeth y DU 
o ran Araith y Brenin sydd ar ddod, yn enwedig i sicrhau bod amseru'r etholiad i'r Senedd 
a'r cyfnod o seibiant a diddymu cyn hynny yn cael eu hystyried. Mae hyn yn cynnwys 
sicrhau bod Confensiwn Sewel yn cael ei barchu wrth i raglen ddeddfwriaethol gyfredol y 
DU gael ei chwblhau, a phwysigrwydd cynllunio gofalus a rhannu gwybodaeth yn gynnar i 
alluogi ymgysylltu priodol cyn Araith y Brenin ac ar ôl hynny. 
 
Disgwylir i gyfarfod nesaf o'r Pwyllgor Sefydlog Rhyngweinidogol gael ei gynnal yn ystod haf 
2026 dan gadeiryddiaeth Gweithrediaeth Gogledd Iwerddon. 

Tudalen y pecyn 71



Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros 
Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig  
Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate 
Change and Rural Affairs  
 
 
 

Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion 
Gwledig 
Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change & Rural Affairs 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Huw.Irranca-Davies@llyw.cymru 
               Correspondence.Huw.Irranca-Davies@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein Cyf: HID PO 113 26  
 
Mike Hedges AS 
Cadeirydd 
Y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a’r Cyfansoddiad 
Senedd Cymru 
 

2 Chwefror 2026 
 
 
Annwyl Mike,  
 
Rwy'n ysgrifennu atoch yn unol â’r cytundeb cysylltiadau rhyngsefydliadol i dynnu eich sylw 
at Ddatganiad Ysgrifenedig Gweinidogol sy’n crynhoi’r trafodaethau yn y cyfarfod 
diweddaraf o’r Pwyllgor Sefydlog Rhyngweinidogol.  
 
Ymhellach i'm llythyr a oedd yn rhoi gwybod bod y cyfarfod gwreiddiol a drefnwyd ar gyfer 5 
Chwefror wedi'i ohirio, ac y byddwn yn ysgrifennu eto unwaith y byddai dyddiad newydd yn 
cael ei bennu, nid oeddwn wedi gallu rhoi gwybod ymlaen llaw gan fod dyddiad newydd y 
cyfarfod wedi'i gytuno ar fyr rybudd. 
 
Anfonwyd copi o'r llythyr hwn at Gadeiryddion y Pwyllgorau canlynol: Cyllid; Yr Economi, 
Masnach a Materion Gwledig; Diwylliant, Cyfathrebu, y Gymraeg, Chwaraeon a 
Chysylltiadau Rhyngwladol; Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol; a Chydraddoldeb a Chyfiawnder 
Cymdeithasol. 
 
Yn gywir, 
 

 
 
Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion 
Gwledig   
Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change and Rural Affairs  
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 72

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Huw.Irranca-Davies@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Huw.Irranca-Davies@gov.wales
https://www.llyw.cymru/datganiad-ysgrifenedig-y-pwyllgor-sefydlog-rhyngweinidogol-17-chwefror-2026


Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros 
Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig  
Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate 
Change and Rural Affairs  
 
 
 
Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion 
Gwledig 
Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change & Rural Affairs 

 
 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Huw.Irranca-Davies@llyw.cymru 
               Correspondence.Huw.Irranca-Davies@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni 
fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and 
corresponding in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.  

 

Ein cyf: MA/HIDCC/0424/26  
 
Mike Hedges AS 
Cadeirydd, Y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder  
a'r Cyfansoddiad 
SeneddDCC@senedd.cymru  
         

2 Mawrth 2026 
 
Annwyl Mike, 

Bil Gwahardd Rasio Milgwn (Cymru): Memorandwm Esboniadol Diwygiedig 

Ar ôl cwblhau trafodion Cyfnod 2 mewn cysylltiad â Bil Gwahardd Rasio Milgwn 
(Cymru), ac yn unol â Rheol Sefydlog 26.28, gosodwyd Memorandwm Esboniadol 
diwygiedig. Mae hwn yn ystyried y gwelliant a wnaed i'r Bil yng Nghyfnod 2, i 
adlewyrchu darpariaethau diwygiedig. Gwnaed diweddariadau i Bennod 5 er mwyn 
adlewyrchu'r sefyllfa ar y pwerau ar gyfer gwneud is-ddeddfwriaeth, ac i Atodiad 1 i 
sicrhau bod y Nodiadau Esboniadol yn adlewyrchu'r Bil fel y'i diwygiwyd. 

Ar 5 Ionawr, ysgrifennais i nodi fy ymateb cychwynnol i argymhellion y Pwyllgor yn 
adroddiad Cyfnod 1. Ers cyflwyno'r Bil, rydym wedi derbyn gwybodaeth ychwanegol i 
gefnogi ein hasesiadau o'r effeithiau. Mae'r wybodaeth hon wedi'i hadlewyrchu yn yr 
Asesiad Effaith Rheoleiddiol yn y Memorandwm Esboniadol. 

Hoffwn achub ar y cyfle i ddiolch unwaith eto i'r Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder 
a'r Cyfansoddiad am ei waith craffu ar y Bil. 

Yn gywir, 
 

 
 
Huw Irranca-Davies AS 
Y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd  
a Materion Gwledig  
Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change and Rural Affairs  
 

Tudalen y pecyn 73

Eitem 6.1

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Huw.Irranca-Davies@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Huw.Irranca-Davies@gov.wales
mailto:SeneddLJCC@senedd.wales


 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg / We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English 

 

 

 

Mark Bird 

Chief Executive Officer 

Greyhound Board of Great Britain 

 

By e-mail: wales@gbgb.org.uk  

 

Date: 4 March 2026 

 

 

Dear Mr Bird, 

 

Prohibition of Greyhound Racing (Wales) Bill  

Thank you for your correspondence regarding the Prohibition of Greyhound Racing (Wales) 

Bill. 

As Llywydd, my role is to chair Senedd proceedings and ensure that Bills are considered in 

accordance with the Standing Orders. I am satisfied that these have been followed. It would 

not be appropriate for me to comment on the merits of a Bill or to engage in assessments of 

the scrutiny that has been undertaken by the Senedd. 

I note your comments regarding the development of the Bill, the absence of an independent 

economic impact assessment, and the publication of anticipated plans of work and reports by 

the Greyhound Racing Ban Implementation Group. These matters relate to the Welsh 

Government’s responsibilities and would be more appropriately raised directly with them. 

I also note that you copied your correspondence to the Legislation, Justice and Constitution 

Committee and the Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, Sport and International 

Relations Committee, both of which have considered the Bill. I am copying this reply to the 

Committee Chairs for their information. 

 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

Llywydd@senedd.cymru 
0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
Llywydd@senedd.wales 

0300 200 6565 

Tudalen y pecyn 74

Eitem 6.2

mailto:wales@gbgb.org.uk


 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg / We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

The Rt. Hon Elin Jones MS/AS 

Llywydd 

 

Copy: Chairs of the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee & 

Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, Sport and International Relations Committee  

Tudalen y pecyn 75



Email received 19 February 2026 from the Greyhound Board of Great Britain in relation to 
the  Prohibition of Greyhound Racing (Wales) Bill 

To: The Rt. Hon Elin Jones MS, Llywydd 

CC: Mike Hedges MS, Chair of the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee, Delyth 
Jewell MS, Chair of the Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, and International 
Relations Committee 

Dear Presiding Officer, 

I am writing to formally complain about the lack of due diligence exercised in the development 
and progression of the Prohibition of Greyhound Racing (Wales) Bill. 

I am deeply concerned that the Bill has advanced through the Senedd without the completion, 
publication, or proper consideration of key evidence that is fundamental to sound and 
proportionate law-making. This raises serious questions about whether the principles of 
transparency, accountability, and evidence-based decision-making have been upheld. 

In particular, I wish to highlight the following issues: 

• The Welsh Government established an Implementation Group to guide and oversee the 
transition towards a ban on greyhound racing, including consideration of economic, 
social, and community impacts. However, multiple reports and a formal workplan that 
were due between September 2025 and February 2026 have not been published or 
shared, despite the Bill continuing to progress. 

• No independent economic impact assessment has been completed or made available, 
despite the Bill having potentially catastrophic consequences for businesses, 
employment, and local economies connected to greyhound racing. Any assessment 
undertaken after legislative decisions have effectively been made cannot be considered 
meaningful scrutiny.  The Valley Stadium has repeatedly requested this assessment take 
place. 

• There is no clear evidence that the displacement of employment, loss of livelihoods, or 
long-term economic consequences for affected communities have been properly 
quantified or mitigated. 

Proceeding with legislation of this magnitude in the absence of complete evidence, published 
assessments, and transparent reporting undermines confidence in the legislative process and 
risks setting a troubling precedent for future law-making in Wales. 

I respectfully request that the Senedd examines whether appropriate due diligence has been 
applied in this case, and whether the Bill should be paused until all outstanding assessments, 
reports, and impact analyses are completed, published, and properly scrutinised. 

I would welcome confirmation that this complaint has been received and details of how it will 
be considered.  

Kind regards, 

CEO, Greyhound Board of Great Britain 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 76

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=46468


 

 

 

 1 

 

 

DATGANIAD YSGRIFENEDIG  

GAN 

LYWODRAETH CYMRU 
 

 

TEITL  

 

Gweithredu Deddf Addysg Drydyddol ac Ymchwil (Cymru) 2022 

DYDDIAD  5 Mawrth 2026 

GAN Vikki Howells AS, Y Gweinidog Addysg Bellach ac Uwch 

 

 
Mae'n bleser gennyf roi gwybod i'r aelodau fy mod wedi gwneud cyfres o is-ddeddfwriaeth 
yr wythnos hon mewn cysylltiad â gweithredu Deddf Addysg Drydyddol ac Ymchwil (Cymru) 
2022 ('Deddf 2022') sy'n ymdrin â'r canlynol: 
 

 dyfodiad i rym cam nesaf swyddogaethau'r Comisiwn Addysg Drydyddol ac Ymchwil 
('Medr'), 

 diwygiadau i ddeddfwriaeth bresennol o ganlyniad i Ddeddf 2022,   

 cwblhau'r fframwaith deddfwriaethol ar gyfer y drefn reoleiddio ar gyfer darparwyr 
addysg uwch yng Nghymru.    

 
Mae Gorchymyn Deddf Addysg ac Ymchwil Drydyddol (Cymru) 2022 (Cychwyn Rhif 7, 
Darpariaethau Darfodol a Throsiannol a Darpariaethau Arbed) 2026 ('y Gorchymyn'), yn 
dwyn i rym, ar gyfres o ddyddiadau rhwng 1 Ebrill 2016 a 1 Ebrill 2027, darpariaethau sy'n 
ymwneud â: 
 

 chofrestru, rheoleiddio a sicrhau ansawdd darparwyr addysg drydyddol yng Nghymru 
(Rhan 2 ac Atodlen 3), 

 arolygu addysg bellach a hyfforddiant gan Brif Arolygydd Ei Fawrhydi dros Addysg a 
Hyfforddiant yng Nghymru ("Estyn") (Rhan 2), 

 swyddogaethau Medr a Gweinidogion Cymru mewn perthynas â sicrhau a chyllido 
addysg drydyddol (Rhan 3), 

 y fframwaith deddfwriaethol mewn perthynas â phrentisiaethau Cymreig cymeradwy 
(Rhan 4), 

 cwynion dysgwyr (Rhan 5), 

 darparu gwybodaeth, cyngor a chanllawiau gan Medr ac iddo (Rhan 6), 

 pwerau gwneud gorchmynion Gweinidogion Cymru mewn perthynas ag offerynnau 
ac erthyglau llywodraethu corfforaethau addysg uwch (Rhan 7). 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 77

Eitem 6.3



 2 

Mae'r Gorchymyn hefyd yn cynnwys darpariaethau trosiannol gyda'r bwriad o sicrhau nad 
yw darparwyr addysg drydyddol yng Nghymru yn ddarostyngedig i reoleiddio deuol tra bod 
Deddf 2022 yn cael ei gweithredu, ochr yn ochr â darpariaethau arbed sy'n cadw dilysrwydd 
unrhyw orchmynion a wneir gan Weinidogion Cymru o dan eu pwerau ymyrryd yn adran 
57(4) o Ddeddf Addysg Bellach ac Uwch 1992 cyn diddymu'r ddarpariaeth honno. 
 
Yn olaf, mae'r Gorchymyn yn dwyn i rym nifer o ddarpariaethau yn Atodlen 4 i Ddeddf 2022 
sy'n darparu ar gyfer diwygiadau canlyniadol a mân ddiwygiadau i ddeddfwriaeth bresennol 
sy'n codi o ddod â'r swyddogaethau a nodir uchod i rym. 
 
Ochr yn ochr â'r Gorchymyn rwyf hefyd wedi gwneud y rheoliadau canlynol, pob un ohonynt 
yn darparu ar gyfer diwygiadau i'r ddeddfwriaeth bresennol sy'n ofynnol o ganlyniad i 
Ddeddf 2022: 
 

 Rheoliadau Deddf Addysg Drydyddol ac Ymchwil (Cymru) 2022 (Diwygiadau 
Canlyniadol a Darpariaeth Ddarfodol) 2026 ("y Rheoliadau Canlyniadol");  

 Rheoliadau Deddf Diogelwch Ar-lein 2023 (Gwasanaethau Defnyddiwr-i-Ddefnyddiwr 
a Chwilio Esempt) (Diwygio) 2026 ("y Rheoliadau Diogelwch Ar-lein"); a 

 Rheoliadau Arolygu Addysg a Hyfforddiant (Cymru) 2026 ("y Rheoliadau Arolygu"). 

Ar ôl iddynt gael eu cymeradwyo gan y Senedd yr wythnos hon, mae'r Rheoliadau 
Canlyniadol yn gwneud newidiadau angenrheidiol i ddeddfwriaeth sylfaenol ac is-
ddeddfwriaeth i adlewyrchu'r fframwaith statudol newydd fel y darperir ar ei gyfer gan 
Ddeddf 2022.  
 
Mae'r Rheoliadau Diogelwch Ar-lein yn diwygio Deddf Diogelwch Ar-lein 2023 i adlewyrchu'r 
trefniadau cyllido newydd ar gyfer addysg bellach a hyfforddiant yng Nghymru fel y nodir yn 
Neddf 2022. 
 
Mae'r Rheoliadau Arolygu yn dirymu ac yn disodli Rheoliadau Arolygu Addysg a 
Hyfforddiant (Cymru) 2001, gan sicrhau bod y drefn arolygu yn cyd-fynd â rôl newydd Medr 
a'i gyfrifoldebau o dan Ddeddf 2002. Mae'r Rheoliadau yn cynnal cylch arolygu chwe 
blynedd ar gyfer addysg bellach a hyfforddiant ac yn lleihau'r cyfnod adrodd ar gyfer Estyn o 
70 i 35 diwrnod gwaith, gan ei wneud yn gyson ag arolygiadau ysgolion. Mae'r newidiadau 
hyn yn sicrhau cysondeb a pharhad, a dull cadarn o sicrhau ansawdd ar draws y sector. 
 
Fis diwethaf ysgrifennais at yr aelodau yn cadarnhau fy mod wedi gosod Rheoliadau 
Addysg Uwch (Terfynau Ffioedd) (Cymru) 2026. Ar ôl iddynt gael eu cymeradwyo gan y 
Senedd yr wythnos diwethaf, mae'n bleser gennyf roi gwybod i'r aelodau fy mod hefyd wedi 
gwneud y Rheoliadau hyn, yn ogystal â Rheoliadau Addysg Uwch (Cyrsiau Cymhwysol a 
Phersonau Cymhwysol) (Cymru) 2026.   
 
Mae'r offerynnau hyn yn cwblhau'r fframwaith deddfwriaethol ar gyfer y drefn reoleiddio 
newydd ar gyfer addysg uwch yng Nghymru, gyda Medr yn bwrw ymlaen â'r 
gweithgareddau angenrheidiol i alluogi sefydlu'r gofrestr newydd o ddarparwyr addysg uwch 
ar 31 Gorffennaf 2026. 

Tudalen y pecyn 78



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 79

Eitem 8Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 93

Eitem 9Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 100

Eitem 11 Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



  
 
 
 

 

 

 

DATGANIAD YSGRIFENEDIG 

GAN 

LYWODRAETH CYMRU 
 

 

TEITL  

 

Rheoliadau Deddf Amrywogaethau Planhigion (Diwygio) 2026 

DYDDIAD  2 Mawrth 2026 

GAN 
Huw Irranca-Davies AS, y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd 

y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig 

  

Bydd aelodau'r Senedd yn dymuno cael gwybod fy mod wedi gosod memorandwm 
cydsyniad offeryn statudol ("y memorandwm") mewn perthynas â Rheoliadau Deddf 
Amrywogaethau Planhigion (Diwygio) 2026 ("y Rheoliadau"), a osodwyd gerbron 
Senedd y DU ar 25 Chwefror. 
 
Ceisiodd   Gweinidog y DU dros Fioddiogelwch, Ffiniau ac Anifeiliaid, y Farwnes 
Hayman, gytundeb i wneud y Rheoliadau. Mae'r Rheoliadau'n gymwys i Gymru, 
Lloegr, yr Alban, a Gogledd Iwerddon. 
 
Gwneir y Rheoliadau gan yr Ysgrifennydd Gwladol drwy arfer pwerau a roddir gan 
adran 14(2) o Deddf Cyfraith yr UE a Ddargedwir (Dirymu a Diwygio) 2023. Mae'r 
Rheoliadau yn diwygio'r diffiniad o "small farmer" yn adran 9(10) o Ddeddf 
Amrywogaethau Planhigion 1997 i ddarparu diffiniad cliriach yn unol â'r bwriad polisi 
ac i ddileu'r posibilrwydd o ddryswch yn ei ddehongliad. Mae'r diffiniad o "small farmer" 
yn gysylltiedig â'r eithriad yn adran 9(4) a thalu tâl teg i ddeiliaid hawliau bridwyr 
planhigion (math o eiddo deallusol). Bwriad y polisi oedd i'r elfen o'r eithriad "small 
farmer" yn adran 9(10)(b) fod yn berthnasol i swm yr amrywogaethau a dyfir mewn 
ardal, nid i bob amrywogaeth a dyfir mewn ardal, a dyma yw bwriad y polisi o hyd.  
 
Rwyf wedi gosod y memorandwm yn unol â Rheol Sefydlog 30A. Rwy'n ystyried bod 
y Rheoliadau'n offeryn statudol perthnasol gan eu bod yn gwneud darpariaeth o ran 
Cymru sy'n diwygio deddfwriaeth sylfaenol sydd o fewn cymhwysedd deddfwriaethol 
Senedd Cymru ac nad ydynt yn ddarpariaethau deilliadol, ganlyniadol, drosiannol, 
ddarfodol, atodol nac arbed sy’n ymwneud â materion nad ydynt o fewn cymhwysedd 
deddfwriaethol Senedd Cymru. 

Tudalen y pecyn 103



 

 
Er mai egwyddor gyffredinol Llywodraeth Cymru yw y dylai'r gyfraith sy'n ymwneud â 
materion datganoledig gael ei gwneud a'i diwygio yng Nghymru, y tro hwn, ystyrir ei 
bod yn briodol i'r Ysgrifennydd Gwladol ddeddfu ar lefel Cymru, Lloegr, yr Alban a 
Gogledd Iwerddon. Mae Hawliau Bridwyr Planhigion yn cael eu gweinyddu gan 
'Reolwr' y Swyddfa Hawliau Amrywogaethau Planhigion. Penodir y Rheolwr gan 
Weinidogion Cymru, y DU, yr Alban a Gogledd Iwerddon. Mae swyddogion o bob 
Llywodraeth yn gweithio o dan Fframwaith Cyffredin dros dro y DU ar 
Amrywogaethau a Hadau Planhigion. Mae'r ddarpariaeth y mae'r Rheoliadau yn ei 
diwygio yn Neddf 1997 yn ymestyn i Gymru, Lloegr, yr Alban a Gogledd Iwerddon, 
mae'r polisi sy'n sail i'r Rheoliadau wedi'i gysoni ar draws eu priod Lywodraethau ac 
mae'r dull diwygio hwn yn sicrhau cysoni'r gyfundrefn hawliau bridwyr planhigion yn 
amserol ar draws eu tiriogaethau.  
 
Er nad yw'r Rheoliadau yn newid cymhwysedd deddfwriaethol y Senedd na phwerau 
gweithredol Gweinidogion Cymru, maent yn diwygio deddfwriaeth o fewn 
cymhwysedd datganoledig, ac felly rwyf wedi ceisio cytundeb y Senedd. 
 
Er na fydd y Rheoliadau yn cael eu gwneud yn ddwyieithog, nodaf nad oedd Deddf 
1997 ei hun wedi'i gwneud yn ddwyieithog.   
 
Mae'r Rheoliadau a'r Memorandwm Esboniadol cysylltiedig, sy'n rhoi'r manylion am 
darddiad, diben ac effaith y diwygiadau, ar gael yma.  
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 104

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/cy/uksi/2026/160/introduction/made


Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid 
Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig  
Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change 
and Rural Affairs  

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Huw.Irranca-Davies@llyw.cymru 
                Correspondence.Huw.Irranca-Davies@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb i ohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn yr un iaith ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn y Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
Mike Hedges, AS 
Cadeirydd, 

Y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a’r Cyfansoddiad 

Senedd Cymru 
SeneddLJC@senedd.wales 

 
2 Mawrth 2026 

 
Annwyl Mike,  
 
Rheoliadau Deddf Amrywogaethau Planhigion (Diwygio) 2026  
 
Rwy'n cyfeirio at fy llythyr atoch dyddiedig 15 Rhagfyr 2025. Hoffwn hysbysu'r Pwyllgor fy mod wedi 
rhoi cydsyniad i'r Ysgrifennydd Gwladol wneud Rheoliadau Deddf Amrywogaethau Planhigion 
(Diwygio) 2026 ('y Rheoliadau'). Yn unol â rheol sefydlog 30A, rwyf wedi gosod memorandwm 
cydsynio offeryn statudol gerbron y Senedd.  
 
Gellir dod o hyd i'r ddolen i'r memorandwm cydsyniad offeryn statudol yma: Memorandwm 
Cydsyniad Offeryn Statudol - Rheoliadau Deddf Amrywogaethau Planhigion (Diwygio) 2026. 
 
Mae'r Rheoliadau yn gorgyffwrdd â pholisïau datganoledig ac maent yn gymwys i Gymru (maent 
hefyd yn gymwys i Loegr, yr Alban a Gogledd Iwerddon). Rhagwelwyd y byddai'r Rheoliadau yn cael 
eu gwneud a'u gosod yn Senedd y DU ar 11 Chwefror. Cafodd hyn ei ohirio oherwydd sylwadau a 
wnaed gan bwyllgor craffu'r DU a ofynnodd i wybodaeth gael ei hychwanegu at y Memorandwm 
Esboniadol ac yna cafodd ei ohirio ymhellach gan doriad Senedd y DU. Mae'n ddrwg gennyf y gall 
yr oedi ar y mater hwn effeithio ar y cyfnod y gofynnir i chi ystyried yr OS hwn ac adrodd ar y 
memorandwm.    
 
Mae'r Rheoliadau'n ddarostyngedig i'r weithdrefn negyddol a chawsant eu gosod gerbron Senedd y 
Deyrnas Unedig ar 25 Chwefror 2026. Daw’r Rheoliadau hyn i rym ar yr 21ain diwrnod ar ôl y 
diwrnod y cânt eu gwneud. 
 
Rwyf wedi cyhoeddi datganiad ysgrifenedig y gallwch ei weld yma: Rheoliadau Deddf 
Amrywogaethau Planhigion (Diwygio) 2026. 
 
Yn gywir, 

 
 
 
Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig  
Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change and Rural Affairs 

Tudalen y pecyn 105

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Huw.Irranca-Davies@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Huw.Irranca-Davies@gov.wales
mailto:SeneddLJC@senedd.cymru
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sicm-ld17894-r-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/sicm-ld17894-r-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/ws-ld17895-r-cy.pdf
https://dogfennauaosodwyd.senedd.cymru/ws-ld17895-r-cy.pdf


 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dr Robert Jones  

February 2026 

 
Thomas Commission 
Research 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 106

Eitem 15



 
 

2 
 

Acknowledgements 

 

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to those who kindly gave up their time to discuss 

the many issues and topics explored in this report. The process of measuring the progress made 

(or not) against each of the Thomas Commission’s 78 recommendations was often a rather 

onerous, challenging and difficult task. However, it was made a lot simpler by the kindness and 

generosity shown to me by others. I am extremely grateful to the following people for their help, 

advice and support throughout the research: Deian Benjamin,1 Rhian Chamberlain, Siriol Dafis, 

Jonathan Davies, Josh Hayman, Nerys Llewelyn Jones, Lord Lloyd-Jones, Sarah Nason, Rhys 

ab Owen, Huw Pritchard, Jonathan Elystan Rees KC, Charlotte Rook, Lord Thomas of 

Cwmgiedd, and Richard Wyn Jones.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact details 

 

Dr Robert Jones 

Senior Lecturer in the Welsh Criminal Justice System  

Wales Governance Centre    

Cardiff University 

Law Building  

Museum Avenue     

CF10 3AX 

Email: jonesrd7@cardiff.ac.uk 

 
1 Promoting Compliance Officer, acting on behalf of the Welsh Language Commissioner. 

Tudalen y pecyn 107

mailto:jonesrd7@cardiff.ac.uk


 
 

3 
 

Contents 

 
Introduction 4 

 
1  The Recommendations: Progress and  Implementation 5 

 
2 A Story of Non-Implementation: The Commission’s  Report  
 Six Years On 74 

 
3 The Thomas Commission in the Seventh Senedd 81 

 
Appendices 83 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 108



 
 

4 
 

Introduction 
 

Under the Chairship of the former Lord Chief Justice of England and Wales, Lord Thomas of 

Cwmgiedd, the Commission on Justice in Wales carried out the first review of the operation of 

the justice system in Wales in over two hundred years. Drawing upon more than two hundred 

written evidence submissions, 46 oral evidence sessions and 87 external events and 

engagements, the Commission’s final report was published in 2019 and set out a series of 

wide-ranging proposals and recommendations for reform. From family justice to the legal 

profession and Welsh tribunals to the operation of police, prisons and probation in Wales, the 

Commission’s overarching conclusion was unequivocal: ‘the people of Wales are being let 

down by the justice system in its current state’.  

 

In the years that have elapsed since the report’s publication, the Commission’s findings have 

heavily shaped and informed academic and political debates on the operation of the Welsh 

justice system, as well as those relating to the future of justice powers and devolution in Wales. 

Despite its recurrent appearance within debates on justice related issues in Wales, however, 

serious questions remain over the extent to which progress has been made against each of the 

Commission’s 78 recommendations. While successive UK Governments have declined to 

engage on a serious level with the Commission’s findings, the Welsh Government has also 

fallen short in delivering the recommendations firmly within its remit. 

 

As we enter the final months of the Sixth Senedd, the purpose of this research is to assess the 

extent to which the Commission’s recommendations have been considered and implemented 

by the relevant decision-making bodies. This task includes considering how effectively the 

Welsh and UK governments have worked together to deliver recommendations where they 

share joint responsibility, as well as the impact made by leadership changes in both the UK and 

Welsh government on the delivery of the Commission’s recommendations. In seeking to inform 

the legacy work of the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee, the research hopes to 

provide the relevant successor committee in the Seventh Senedd with a baseline to inform its 

(much needed) future work on justice related matters in Wales. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 109



 
 

5 
 

1  The Recommendations: Progress and  Implementation    
 

The Commission on Justice in Wales was led by a team of Commissioners with a diverse range 

of experiences of the justice system. This breadth of knowledge and expertise allowed the 

Commission to ‘examine the whole system’ and analyse a variety of topics. Ranging from 

offender management and Wales’ legal economy to coroner services and legal education, the 

Commission examined every aspect of the justice system in great detail. Beyond the team of 

expert Commissioners, however, wider interest in the justice system in Wales tends to be 

siloed. Within academia, for example, expertise is clustered around particular subject fields 

(e.g. administrative justice, family justice, criminal justice) rather than ‘justice’ as a whole. 

 

The significance of this rather siloed landscape is that, while analyses of the progress made 

against the Commission’s recommendations have been carried out in relation to specific areas 

of the justice system in Wales, there have been few attempts made to evaluate the 

Commission’s work as a whole. This includes the responses provided by UK Ministers as well 

as the Welsh Government, including its most authoritative response to the Commission’s 

report in 2022. 

 

To address the existing gap, this section provides a detailed update on the progress that has 

been made against each of the Commission’s 78 recommendations since 2019. Alongside a 

description (where possible) of the activities that have taken place in this area, an outcome of 

‘Achieved’ (where the recommendation has been implemented in full), ‘Partially achieved’ 

(where some progress has been made, but the recommendation has not been implemented in 

full) or ‘Not achieved’ (where little or no progress has been made and the recommendation has 

not been implemented) is recorded for each recommendation based on the level of progress 

made.2 The recommendations are presented in the order that they appear in the Commission’s 

report, and are grouped by the chapter they were included in.  

 

 

 
2 The progress recorded against each recommendation has, where possible, been corroborated by an academic, 
legal professional or practitioner with in-depth expertise in that area. Any errors (whether factual or judgment), 
omissions or mistakes that appear in the pages that follow, however, are entirely my own. 

Tudalen y pecyn 110

https://www.uwp.co.uk/book/the-welsh-criminal-justice-system-jonesjones/
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-06/delivering-justice-for-wales-may-2022-v2.pdf


 
 

6 
 

 
 

Figure 1: Outcomes against the Commission on Justice in Wales’ recommendations, 

broken down by report chapter 

 
 

Achieved Partially 
Achieved 

Not Achieved Total 

Chapter Three 0 1 2 3 

Chapter Four 1 3 12 16 

Chapter Five 0 2 2 4 

Chapter Six 
  

1 0 6 7 

Chapter Seven 0 2 6 8 

Chapter Eight 0 0 1 1 

Chapter Nine 0 5 1 6 

Chapter Ten 
  

0 3 3 6 

Chapter Eleven  1 2 3 6 

Chapter Twelve  0 3 18 21 

Total 
  

3 21 54 78  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 111



 
 

7 
 

Chapter 3: Information, Advice And Assistance 
 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The Welsh Government introduced the Single Advice Fund in January 2020 to support the 

delivery of social welfare information and advice services (including the topics of benefits, debt, 

housing, employment and discrimination). The Single Advice Fund is designed to help meet the 

increasing demand for advice services across Wales and ensure that funding is directed 

towards strategically planned services that provide access to all the advice a person requires 

to resolve their social welfare problems. The Fund is a competitive grant process which is 

administered by the Welsh Government, not an independent body which provides strategic 

direction or oversight.3 

 

The Single Advice Fund does not extend to legal aid funded advice services in Wales because 

this matter is reserved to the UK Government. Concerns continue to be raised across Wales 

about the inadequate level of funding for legal aid, including the creation of legal advice deserts, 

as well as the imbalances between lawyers in private practice and third sector advice 

providers. The Senedd Research Service’s guidance for constituents seeking legal advice 

provides a comprehensive list of the many organisations and agencies that currently provide 

advice and support to individuals in Wales. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
3 The Single Advice Fund does not offer core funding to information and advice providers. 

1. The funding for legal aid and for the third sector providing advice and assistance 

should be brought together in Wales to form a single fund under the strategic direction 

of an independent body.  

Tudalen y pecyn 112

https://www.gov.wales/review-single-advice-fund-summary-html
https://www.gov.wales/action-needed-to-tackle-legal-aid-crisis#:~:text=It%20also%20found%20that%20the,with%20286%2C666%20social%20welfare%20problems.
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/a-deserted-landscape-access-to-civil-legal-aid-in-wales-part-2/
https://senedd.wales/media/zn2bjato/legal-advice-may-23-english.pdf


 
 

8 
 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

Support Through Court has not been expanded in Wales since the Commission published its 

report in 2019.  The service has undergone a number of restructures during this time, with its 

Cardiff office reduced from full-time to part-time, and the closure of the Newport satellite 

service in 2022.4  

 

Although Support Through Court has not opened any other services in Wales since 2019, it has 

launched a Welsh-speaking service, which is run from its Cardiff office, after receiving funding 

from the National Lottery.  

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The responsibility for criminal legal aid policy remains reserved to the UK Government and is 

administered by the Legal Aid Agency, an executive agency of the Ministry of Justice.5 The UK 

Government has made no attempt to design or implement any distinct approach in Wales, let 

alone one modelled on those adopted in the Nordic countries. 

 

 

 

 

 
4 Support Through Court retains a volunteer who will support clients in hearings at Newport if they have booked an 
appointment.  
5 Legal aid is listed in the Government of Wales Act 2006, Schedule 7A, Part 2 (Specific Reservations). 

3. Criminal legal aid policy and delivery should be designed in Wales to meet needs 

across Wales and based on the approaches to public defender schemes adopted by the 

Nordic nations.  

2. Support Through Court should be expanded so that there is availability at courts and 

tribunals across Wales.  

  

Tudalen y pecyn 113

https://supportthroughcourt.org/locations/cardiff/caerdydd-cymraeg/


 
 

9 
 

Chapter 4: Criminal justice: reducing crime and promoting rehabilitation 

 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

The Criminal Justice Board for Wales set out its statement of purpose in 2020. The Board has 

been given a new name, is led by a Chair, and publishes an annual report on its overall criminal 

justice strategy. Although the strategy provides the means for some accountability, it is not 

clear who is responsible for providing this oversight and accountability. For example, although 

the Criminal Justice Board’s annual report is made publicly available on the UK Government’s 

website, it is unclear who is (or should be) responsible for scrutinising the strategy and the 

progress made (or not) against its many commitments and pledges. 

 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

The Criminal Justice Board for Wales has established a Victims and Witnesses Taskforce to 

help meet the needs of victims in Wales. The Taskforce is responsible for overseeing the 

delivery of this work on behalf of the Board. 

 

The extent to which the Taskforce ensures the rights of victims are respected and there is a 

proper delivery of services, however, cannot be established from the (limited) information 

available. Although the Criminal Justice Board for Wales’ 2023/24 and 2024/25 reports both 

refer to the Taskforce, there are few details provided. For example, it is unclear who is on the 

4. A new Wales Criminal Justice Board should be created. It should set an overall 

criminal justice strategy for Wales and provide the means for accountability within 

Wales for the delivery of that overall strategic approach.  

5. The Wales Criminal Justice Board should have responsibility for ensuring the rights 

of victims are respected and there is proper delivery of services to victims. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 114

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-justice-board-for-wales-annual-report-2023-24/criminal-justice-board-for-wales-annual-report-2023to-2024
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-justice-board-for-wales-annual-report-2023-24/criminal-justice-board-for-wales-annual-report-2023to-2024
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-justice-board-for-wales-annual-report-2024-to-25/criminal-justice-board-for-wales-annual-report-2024-to-2025


 
 

10 
 

Taskforce, how many members form part of the Taskforce, as well as who leads the Taskforce 

and who it ultimately reports to. 

 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

The Criminal Justice Board for Wales  published its first Anti-Racism Action Plan in September 

2022 and has since produced two annual reports (2023/24 and 2024/25) aimed at monitoring 

the progress made against the plan’s pledges and commitments. 

 

By virtue of their membership of the Criminal Justice Board for Wales, the plan includes (and 

extends to) the four police forces in Wales, the four Police & Crime Commissioners, the Crown 

Prosecution Service, His Majesty’s Prison and Probation Service, His Majesty’s Courts and 

Tribunal Service, and the Youth Justice Board.  

 

The judiciary in Wales, however, are not members of the Criminal Justice Board for Wales and 

have not published their own strategy in respect of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic people in 

Wales. Although the Courts and Tribunals Judiciary published its Judicial Diversity and Inclusion 

Strategy (2020 to 2025) in 2020 to improve diversity among the judiciary in England and Wales, 

the strategy makes no mention of the unique legislative and policy context in Wales for 

promoting equality or tackling discrimination in Wales.6 

 

Every annual report published by the Criminal Justice Board for Wales is made publicly 

available on the UK Government’s website, but there is no indication that the reports are sent 

directly to the relevant committee in the Senedd. While the Senedd’s Equality and Social 

Justice Committee carried out an inquiry into the Welsh Government’s own Anti-Racist Action 

 
6 Data published by the Ministry of Justice in 2025 show that only three per cent of judges (5) and six per cent of 
magistrates (51) in Wales are from an ethnic minority background. 

6. Each of the police, Crown Prosecution Service, the judiciary and HM Prison and 

Probation Service should publish a strategy in respect of Black, Asian and Minority 

Ethnic people in Wales and report annually on the strategy to the Assembly. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 115

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-justice-anti-racism-action-plan-for-wales/criminal-justice-anti-racism-action-plan-for-wales
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-justice-anti-racism-action-plan-for-wales-annual-report-23-24/criminal-justice-anti-racism-action-plan-for-wales-annual-report-2023-24
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-justice-anti-racism-action-plan-for-wales-annual-report-2024-to-2025/criminal-justice-anti-racism-action-plan-for-wales-annual-report-2024-to-2025
https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Judicial-Diversity-and-Inclusion-Strategy-2020-2025-v2.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/klicd313/cr-ld16408-e.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/diversity-of-the-judiciary-2025-statistics


 
 

11 
 

Plan in 2023 (which included a focus on criminal justice), none of the agencies involved in the 

Criminal Justice Board for Wales provided written or oral evidence. 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The Home Office allocated £2.4m as part of the police settlement for 2025/26 to reimburse the 

amount paid by Welsh forces in their levy contribution for police constable degree 

apprenticeships. The need for this funding to be allocated, however, offers the clearest 

indication possible that a ‘long-term’ or lasting arrangement for police apprenticeship funding 

has yet to be agreed upon.7  

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The devolved legislative and policy landscape in Wales necessitates that police forces in Wales 

work closely with the Welsh Government on crime reduction policy, including substance abuse 

and mental health, through a range of forums, including the Policing in Wales group. Formal 

responsibility for policing, however, is reserved to the UK Government, as is responsibility for 

some of the key legislative and policy levers over drugs and mental health.8 

 
7 Because the police integrated degree apprenticeship programme—despite being delivered by universities in 
Wales to Welsh-based officers—is funded through the English apprenticeship levy system, it therefore continues 
to fall within the inspection remit of Ofsted, not Estyn. 
8 This includes the provisions within the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 and the Mental Capacity Act 2005. 

7. The Welsh Government and the Home Office should agree long-term arrangements 

for police apprenticeship funding which do not disadvantage Welsh police forces 

compared to their English counterparts. 

 

8. Policing and crime reduction policy, including drug abuse and mental health related 

issues, should be determined in Wales so that it is aligned and integrated with Welsh 

health, education and social policy. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 116

https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2025-10-14/HL10999/


 
 

12 
 

Although policing and crime reduction policy is influenced by policy makers in Wales, it is 

ultimately determined by UK Government Ministers and officials in Westminster. When asked 

about the possibility of devolving policing powers to Wales in February 2026, the Secretary of 

State for Wales, Jo Stevens, claimed that the UK Government’s priorities remain ‘fixing the 

mess that got left behind’ by the previous government and that the existing England and Wales 

arrangement ‘works best for communities in Wales’. 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

In 2023, the Ministry of Justice funded the piloting of four new problem-solving courts (also 

referred to as Intensive Supervision Courts) in England and Wales. All four problem-solving 

courts, however, were sited at locations in England.9 

 

In August 2025, the Ministry of Justice launched a new expression of interest for courts in 

England and Wales to be considered as potential sites for Intensive Supervision Courts 

designed to promote problem-solving approaches. The plans form part of the UK Government’s 

attempts to reduce the court backlog, as well as reduce the number of custodial sentences. In 

late 2025, HM Courts and Tribunals Service Wales applied for an Intensive Supervision Court 

to be located at West Glamorgan Magistrates’ Court (Swansea Magistrates’ Court). Although a 

decision has yet to be reached by the Ministry of Justice, it is expected that shortlisted areas 

will be notified in early 2026, with the new sites expected to begin implementation work from 

spring 2026. 

 

 

 

 
9 Women’s Intensive Supervision Court (Birmingham Magistrates’ Court): Focused on diverting women from short 
custodial sentences, addressing trauma, mental health needs, substance use, social instability, and supporting 
the maintenance of family relationships. 

9. Problem-solving courts should be established in Wales along the Northern Ireland 

model. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 117

https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/17207/pdf/
https://justiceinnovation.org/sites/default/files/media/document/2025/cji_pscf_-_v2.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/intensive-supervision-courts-expression-of-interest


 
 

13 
 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

A range of devolved services in Wales, including children’s social services, education and 

health, work closely with youth justice services to reduce the number of children coming into 

contact with the criminal justice system.10 Formal responsibility for youth justice policy, 

however, remains reserved to the UK Government. 

 

Although the UK Labour Government’s manifesto included its commitment to ‘consider’ the 

devolution of youth justice to Wales, there has yet to be any progress delivered in this area. In 

August 2025, the Welsh Government confirmed that it is still working alongside the UK 

Government to ‘explore where responsibilities in the youth justice system could be realigned’. 

It is expected that the focus of these discussions is likely to be on the funding and monitoring 

arrangements for youth justice services in Wales.  

 

In February 2026, the UK Government published plans to ‘modernise’ the governance and 

funding of youth justice services in England and Wales. The government’s strategy outlines its 

commitment to ‘see central and local agencies’, including local authorities, health and 

education services, ‘doing all they can’ to ensure that custody for children is used as a ‘last 

resort’. Although many of the services for children listed in the strategy fall under the auspices 

of the Welsh Government, the strategy fails to acknowledge the fundamentally different 

delivery landscape for youth justice services in Wales. Indeed, neither ‘Welsh Government’ nor 

‘devolution’ are mentioned once throughout the strategy. 

 

 

 
10 The average number of children (under 18s) from Wales in youth custody was 26 in 2019, the year that the 
Commission on Justice in Wales’ report was published. In 2024, the average number of Welsh children in youth 
custody was 17. 

10. Building on the reducing numbers of children and young people in custody and those 

entering the criminal justice system, youth justice policy should be determined and 

delivered in Wales. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 118

https://labour.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/06/Labour-Party-manifesto-2024.pdf?utm_source=substack&utm_medium=email
https://www.gov.wales/written-statement-preparing-devolution-justice-0
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/698d9aae43eb912f2e15b30b/A_modern_youth_justice_system_WEB.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/youth-justice-statistics-2023-to-2024


 
 

14 
 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The age of criminal responsibility in Wales remains 10 years of age. Although the case for raising 

the age of criminal responsibility was to form part of the UK and Welsh Government’s 

discussions over the devolution of youth justice in 2024, no progress has been made against 

this recommendation.  

 

When giving oral evidence to the Senedd’s Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee in 

December 2022, the UK Government’s then Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for 

Justice, Lord Bellamy KC, told members that this recommendation is ‘unlikely to proceed’, with 

the government maintaining the view that there should be ‘one age across England and Wales’. 

In a follow-up letter sent to the Committee in March 2023, Lord Bellamy confirmed that the UK 

Government ‘will not be taking forward this recommendation’. 

 

A Short Debate on increasing the age of criminal responsibility to 14 in Wales was held in the 

Senedd in January 2026. During the debate, the Welsh Government’s Cabinet Secretary for 

Social Justice, Trefnydd and Chief Whip, Jane Hutt, indicated the government’s support for an 

increase in Wales but once again reiterated that the responsibility for setting the age of criminal 

responsibility remains ‘reserved to the UK Government’.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

11. The age of criminal responsibility should be raised to at least 12 years old in Wales. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 119

https://senedd.wales/media/cjtgwxqp/information-further-to-written-questions-94843-and-94851-english.pdf
https://record.assembly.wales/Committee/13067#A75812
https://record.senedd.wales/Plenary/15725#C738395


 
 

15 
 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

Probation services in Wales were brought back under public sector control in December 2019. 

Although there is currently no National Probation Service of Wales, the responsibility for 

managing low, medium and high-risk offenders in Wales falls upon the National Probation 

Service under HM Prison and Probation Service in Wales. 

 

While probation services in Wales have been integrated as part of a public sector-led 

organisation, the problems and challenges that continue to face probation services suggest 

that the design principles set out in HM Chief Inspector of Probation’s 2018 annual report have 

not yet been successfully applied to the new model in Wales.11 In December 2025, for example, 

HM Inspectorate of Probation described the services being provided across the Cardiff and 

Vale Probation Delivery Unit as ‘inadequate’, with the work being done to keep people safe 

requiring ‘urgent attention’. Likewise, although the UK Government’s Minister of State for 

Prisons, Probation and Reducing Reoffending, Lord Timpson, told MPs in December 2025 that 

the North Wales Probation Delivery Unit is currently ‘top of the tree’ when it comes to 

performance across England and Wales, HMI Probation’s most recent inspection of North 

Wales concluded that the unit still ‘requires improvement’ in several areas. 

 

 
11 The four design principles listed within the Chief Inspector’s Annual report were: (i) the importance of a strong 
evidence base; (ii) the service needs to meet the needs of individuals – offenders and victims; (iii) it should be 
staffed by qualified and engaged professionals who provide a service that is properly integrated with the wider 
criminal justice system; and (iv) it instils confidence that the public are protected, rehabilitation is seen to work, 
the operating model supports effective delivery and it delivers value for money. 

12. The basic design principles for probation set out in the 2018 annual report of the 

then Chief Inspector of Probation should be applied to the design of the new integrated 

National Probation Service of Wales and the outcomes should be strictly measured on 

a regular basis and be made public. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 120

https://hmiprobation.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/document/an-inspection-of-probation-services-in-cardiff-and-the-vale-pdu-2025/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16931/pdf/
https://hmiprobation.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/document/an-inspection-of-probation-services-in-north-wales-pdu-2025/


 
 

16 
 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

In May 2020, the then UK Justice Minister, Lucy Frazer QC, announced that the very first 

Residential Women’s Centre would be sited in Wales. The Ministry of Justice confirmed in 

August 2023 that the Residential Women’s Centre will be located at a site in Swansea after it 

successfully appealed Swansea Council’s decision to reject its planning application for the 

Centre in September 2022. However, as of February 2026, the UK Government has yet to 

confirm if plans for a Residential Women’s Centre in Swansea (or elsewhere) will go ahead. 

 

Against the backdrop of these ongoing discussions, the number of Welsh women in prison 

increased for a fourth consecutive year in 2024, with around a quarter (24 per cent) of all 

women sentenced to immediate custody in Wales handed sentences of up to one month or 

less.12 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

Sentencing policy remains the responsibility of the UK Government in Westminster. The UK 

Government presented the Sentencing Bill to Parliament in September 2025 following the 

publication of the Independent Sentencing Review, led by the former Justice Secretary, David 

Gauke. The review set out a number of proposals to help address the prison capacity crisis 

facing prisons in England and Wales, but failed to acknowledge the devolved legislative and 

 
12 65 per cent of women handed custodial sentences of month or less at courts in Wales in 2024 were convicted 
of theft from shops (‘shoplifting’). 

13. The comprehensive network of services and centres as alternatives to custody for 

women in Wales must be established rapidly and sustained over time. 

 

14. Sentencing policy and the delivery of integrated offender management and 

rehabilitation should be determined in Wales so that it is an integral part of and aligned 

with Welsh health, education and social policy. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 121

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/funding-boost-to-steer-more-women-away-from-crime
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2025-11-27/95127/
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0012/2979723/Prisons-and-Imprisonment-in-Wales-2024-Factfile.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/682d8d995ba51be7c0f45371/independent-sentencing-review-report-part_2.pdf


 
 

17 
 

policy landscape in Wales, or that Wales boasts the highest ‘in-country’ and ‘home address’ 

imprisonment rate in western Europe. The Sentencing Act 2026 received Royal Assent on 22 

January 2026. 

 

Offender management services also remain reserved to the UK Government in Westminster 

and are overseen by HM Prison and Probation Service in Wales. During the House of Lords 

Committee stage of the Sentencing Bill, Lord Thomas of Cwmgiedd tabled an amendment to 

devolve probation to Wales by removing it from the list of reserved matters of Schedule 7A of 

the Government of Wales Act 2006. After the UK Government’s Lord in Waiting (Government 

Whip), Lord Lemos, pointed out the ‘fallacy’ of any proposal to devolve one ‘part of an entire 

system of offender management’, Lord Thomas tabled a further amendment to ‘devolve the 

whole of probation and prison services’. This amendment, however, was subject to a further 

‘very substantial objection’ from the UK Government on the basis that devolving offender 

management also constituted the transfer of ‘just part of the criminal justice system’.  

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

One of the most significant challenges associated with the ‘jagged’ constitutional 

arrangements underpinning the Welsh criminal justice system is that ‘joined-up’, ‘integrated’ or 

‘whole system’ approaches are especially difficult to achieve. Although HM Prison and 

Probation Service is formally responsible for offender management in Wales, many of the key 

resettlement and rehabilitative services delivered in Wales, including health, education, 

housing and tackling substance misuse, fall under the auspices of the devolved government. 

 

Although the Criminal Justice Board for Wales acts as a forum for devolved and reserved bodies 

to work together, there is no evidence that a single rehabilitative strategy has been developed 

15. An integrated and whole system approach to offender management should be 

established with a single rehabilitative strategy in Wales that is underpinned by a strong 

evidence base, accurate data, clear governance and accountability arrangements, 

coherent action plans, a realistic timetable and resources realigned accordingly. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 122

https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0012/2979723/Prisons-and-Imprisonment-in-Wales-2024-Factfile.pdf
https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/4012/stages/20279/amendments/10029889
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2026-01-06/debates/89E64A6F-02FF-4F32-9021-1B7F10E7C912/SentencingBill?highlight=justice%20devolution%20wales#contribution-DD94D70A-AC9E-4481-A254-EC91C24B317F


 
 

18 
 

for Wales. In the Criminal Justice Board for Wales’ most recent annual report, for instance, the 

terms ‘rehabilitation’, ‘rehabilitative’ or ‘resettlement’ were not mentioned once.  

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

Discussions over alternatives to custody in Wales have largely centred upon the plans for a 

Residential Women’s Centre since the Commission published its report in 2019. As outlined in 

Recommendation 13 (above), however, there has been little progress on this since planning 

permission for the Centre was secured in August 2023.13 

 

While community sentences often provide judges and sentencers with a viable alternative to 

custody, the number of community sentences handed out at courts in Wales has significantly 

decreased over the last two decades.14 This decrease has continued since the Commission’s 

report was published. In 2024, for example, 5.2 per cent of all those sentenced at courts in 

Wales were handed a community sentence. This compared with 6.5 per cent in 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
13 The Ministry of Justice piloted the use of Intensive Alternatives to Custody between 2008 and 2011. Seven areas 
were chosen to pilot the orders, including Dyfed-Powys. 
14 The use of community sentences have also fallen across courts in England during this time. While 7.4 per cent 
of those sentenced at courts in England received a community sentence in 2019, the proportion fell to 6.6 per cent 
in 2024. 

16. Intensive alternatives to custody should be developed as soon as possible in Wales. 

They should have judicial oversight and be formally evaluated. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 123

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-justice-board-for-wales-annual-report-2024-to-25/criminal-justice-board-for-wales-annual-report-2024-to-2025
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2024-03-20/19654/
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/2446129/Prison,-Probation-and-Sentencing-in-Wales-2019-Factfile.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/criminal-justice-system-statistics-quarterly-december-2024
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a74bab2e5274a3f93b48561/intensive-alt-custody-research-summary.pdf


 
 

19 
 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

Given the individualised nature of offender needs assessments, the vast range of interventions 

available, as well as the considerable scope for variation between Probation Delivery Units and 

prisons across Wales,15 it is difficult to determine with any degree of certainty whether 

‘progress’ has been made in response to this recommendation.  

 

The available evidence, however, does suggest that offender services continue to fall short of 

the Commission’s expectations. HMI Probation’s recent inspection on the Wales ‘region’ 

concluded that resettlement work ‘requires improvement’, with just under half of those 

surveyed agreeing that resettlement work is timely, personalised, coordinated and addresses 

an individual’s ‘key resettlement’ needs.   

 

The most recent inspections carried out across the Welsh prison estate have also identified 

areas for improvement. At HMP Berwyn, inspectors found that prison leaders had failed to 

‘provide adequate interventions or support systems’ aimed at younger prisoners. The delivery 

of resettlement services at HMP Cardiff was ‘poorly coordinated’, with inspectors concluding 

that the prison’s pre-release team was ‘not integrated’ with the Offender Management Unit. 

Although interventions for prisoners with learning disabilities and those convicted of violent 

offences had recently been introduced at HMP Parc, HMI Prisons uncovered gaps in the 

interventions available for other prisoners. At HMP Swansea, inspectors found that the high 

demand for substance use interventions was not being ‘adequately met’ with the release day 

arrangements for prisoners often lacking the sufficient ‘care’. At HMP Prescoed, inspectors 

 
15 There are six Probation Delivery Unit’s in Wales: Cardiff and the Vale; Cwm Taf Morgannwg; Dyfed-Powys; 
Gwent; North Wales; Swansea Neath and Port Talbot. 
Prisons across Wales have different official functions, including training (HMP Berwyn; HMP Usk), resettlement 
(HMP Parc), open (HMP Prescoed), and reception (HMP Cardiff and HMP Swansea). 

17. Needs assessments of Welsh offenders should be conducted and collated to 

identify by volume and character the range of interventions required in both prisons and 

the community and to ensure that they are sequenced properly for optimal effect. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 124

https://hmiprobation.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/document/an-inspection-of-probation-services-wales-region/
https://cdn.websitebuilder.service.justice.gov.uk/uploads/sites/19/2025/05/Berwyn-web-2025.pdf
https://cdn.websitebuilder.service.justice.gov.uk/uploads/sites/19/2024/04/Cardiff-web-2024.pdf
https://cdn.websitebuilder.service.justice.gov.uk/uploads/sites/19/2025/04/Parc-web-2025.pdf
https://cdn.websitebuilder.service.justice.gov.uk/uploads/sites/19/2024/03/Swansea-web-2023-ENGLISH.pdf
https://cdn.websitebuilder.service.justice.gov.uk/uploads/sites/19/2025/08/Usk-and-Prescoed-web-2025.pdf


 
 

20 
 

found that ‘no recent employment, training and education needs analysis’ had been carried out 

at the prison, with the provision on offer ‘not responsive enough’ to the changing prison 

population. 

 

 

Outcome: Achieved 

 

The UK Government announced in 2018 that it was ending its widely criticised Transforming 

Rehabilitation agenda. Introduced across England and Wales in 2015, Transforming 

Rehabilitation oversaw the creation of 22 private sector-led Community Rehabilitation 

Companies who were made responsible for managing low and medium risk offenders.  

 

While all probation services in England were brought back under a public sector-led National 

Probation Service in June 2021, the ‘reunification’ of probation in Wales was completed in 

December 2019. All sentence management for those considered low, medium and high-risk in 

Wales is now carried out by the National Probation Service, which falls under the auspices of 

HM Prison and Probation Service in Wales. 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

Although the Criminal Justice Board for Wales’ most recent annual report sets out its ambition 

to ‘address service gaps’ in mental health, very little detail is given to explain how those with 

18. Administering the sentences of the court should be the responsibility of a single 

public sector body in Wales and the core function of that body should be managing 

offenders and promoting rehabilitation to reduce reoffending. 

 

19. There should be an integrated approach in Wales to improve leadership and 

provision of mental health services including support for front line services to enable 

them to respond better to individuals with mental health needs. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 125

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/justice-secretary-outlines-future-vision-for-probation
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmpubacc/1747/1747.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strengthening-probation-building-confidence-monthly-bulletin/probation-service-change-bulletin-issue-15-december-2022#:~:text=This%20month%20marks%20three%20years,of%20Community%20Payback%20in%202023.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-justice-board-for-wales-annual-report-2024-to-25/criminal-justice-board-for-wales-annual-report-2024-to-2025


 
 

21 
 

mental health needs will be responded to in a more effective way, or who will be leading on this 

work.  

 

The Welsh Government’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy: 2025-2035 similarly outlines 

its commitment to ‘address the needs of offenders in the community and people in prison’. 

However, the strategy provides no further information on how this will be accomplished, 

including how the ‘jagged edges’ between mental health and criminal justice services will be 

managed and overcome.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 126

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2025-04/mental-health-and-wellbeing-strategy-2025-to-2035.pdf


 
 

22 
 

Chapter 5: Civil justice 

 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

Dispute Resolution Centre Wales was established in 2023. The Centre was supported by the 

Law Council of Wales and formed to help improve awareness, education, and research into 

dispute resolution and to encourage the Welsh judiciary to ‘embrace’ and promote the use of 

non-court dispute resolution in Wales.16 The Centre is overseen by the Dispute Resolution 

Centre Wales Board, which includes representatives from the legal profession, academics, 

government officials, the third sector, and Welsh judiciary.  

 

However, the extent to which the Dispute Resolution Centre is fully accessible or can offer the 

necessary assistance and support to people across Wales is uncertain. The Centre has no full 

or part-time staff and there is, at present, no long-term source of sustainable funding from 

either the UK or Welsh Government. Instead, the Centre is largely dependent on the determined 

efforts of a handful of hardworking volunteers who work to promote the Centre’s mission and 

aims. Although a Wales Dispute Resolution Pledge was created to encourage the Welsh 

Government and other public bodies to ‘meaningfully commit’ to constructive approaches to 

dispute resolution in Wales, at the time of writing, it is not clear whether the Welsh Government 

has signed or endorsed the Wales Dispute Resolution Pledge.17 

 
16 The Dispute Resolution Centre Wales’ activities will soon be publicised on its own website. The site will include 
information about the Centre’s aims as well as the rules for mediation. 
17 The Wales Dispute Resolution Pledge includes that public bodies approach dispute avoidance, the management 
of potential disputes, and dispute resolution, with respect for human rights, equality, restorative justice principles, 
and in accordance with the sustainable development principle and Five Ways of Working under the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (namely: long-term, prevention, integration, collaboration and involvement) 
and that significant commercial entities also approach dispute avoidance and resolution within the spirit of 
respect for human rights, equality, restorative justice and well-being principles.  

20. Digital court services and other dispute resolution services that are being developed 

and introduced must be fully accessible to people throughout Wales and free 

assistance must be available to help individuals use them. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 127

https://www.legalnewswales.com/app/uploads/2023/10/DRCW-Foundation-Document-and-Pledge-3.2.23.pdf


 
 

23 
 

The extent to which digital court services introduced in Wales are accessible to Welsh-

speakers is explored further in response to Recommendation 54. 

 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

There has been some progress in relation to this recommendation by the Law Council of Wales. 

The Council instigated consideration of how to implement the Commission recommendations 

around the promotion and coordination of dispute resolution and contributed significantly to 

the development of Dispute Resolution Centre Wales. However, progress has been limited by 

a lack of support and resource, with dispute resolution in Wales neither promoted nor 

coordinated by a body chaired by a senior judge. The lack of progress made by the Welsh 

Government to deliver a new tribunals system in Wales has further undermined the level of 

progress made against this recommendation. 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

Any progress against this recommendation would require the devolution of responsibility for 

the administration of justice in Wales. In his 2019/20 Annual Report, the President of Welsh 

Tribunals, Sir Wyn Williams, confirmed that this recommendation can only be achieved ‘if there 

is substantial devolution of the justice function to Wales’. The UK Government’s decision not 

to implement the Commission’s recommendation to devolve justice to Wales, therefore, 

means there has been no meaningful progress made against this recommendation. 

21. Dispute resolution before courts, tribunals, alternative dispute resolution and 

ombudsmen, as well as dispute resolution in respect of administrative law, should be 

promoted and coordinated in Wales through a body chaired by a senior judge. 

 

22. Courts and tribunals which determine disputes in both civil and administrative law 

should be under one unified system in Wales. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 128

https://www.gov.wales/a-new-tribunal-system-for-wales-chapter-1
https://senedd.wales/media/hwpihtla/gen-ld13263-e.pdf


 
 

24 
 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

Although the establishment of Dispute Resolution Centre Wales may be seen as offering some 

form of progress against this recommendation, there is very little publicly available information 

or evidence to suggest that a comprehensive ombudsman scheme has been properly and 

thoroughly examined in Wales. 

 

 

23. The feasibility of a low cost and effective resolution method for civil disputes 

through the use of a comprehensive ombudsmen scheme, taking into account the 

online court, should be examined in Wales. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 129



 
 

25 
 

Chapter 6: Administrative justice and coroners 

 

 

Outcome: Achieved 

 

On 16 July 2020, the Civil Procedure (Amendment No. 3) Rules 2020 were made to amend Part 

7 of the Civil Procedure Rules 1998, as of 1 October 2020, by including the following provisions: 

 

Claims against Welsh public bodies to be issued and heard in Wales 

 

7.1A. Unless required otherwise by any enactment, rule or practice direction, any claim against 

Welsh public bodies which challenges the lawfulness of their decisions must be issued and 

heard in Wales. 

 

Claims against Welsh public bodies to be forwarded for issue in Wales 

 

7.1B. If a court or centre in England receives a claim which should pursuant to paragraph (1) be 

issued in Wales a court officer shall forward it for issue in the Administrative Court Office in 

Wales or other appropriate court office in Wales. 

 

Further, by way of 122nd Update to the Practice Directions supplementing the Civil Procedure 

Rules 1998, Civil Procedure Rule Practice Direction 54D, which sets out the considerations as 

to which of the Administrative Court Offices a judicial review claim should be filed, was 

amended to include the following provision: 

 

24. It should be compulsory under the Civil Procedure Rules for cases against Welsh 

public bodies which challenge the lawfulness of their decisions to be issued and heard 

in Wales. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 130

https://www.no5.com/2020/07/welsh-judicial-reviews-must-in-the-future-be-issued-and-heard-in-wales/


 
 

26 
 

1.3 This Practice Direction is subject to the requirement in rule 7.1A that any claim against 

Welsh public bodies which challenge the lawfulness of their decisions must be issued and 

heard in Wales. 

 

From 1 October 2020, all Administrative Court claims, including judicial reviews, which 

challenge the decision of a Welsh public body must be issued and heard in Wales. The change 

of position of the Civil Procedure Rules Committee was made in large part in response to the 

Commission’s recommendation.  

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

Consideration of this recommendation by the relevant parties uncovered a series of potential 

problems and challenges. In his 2019/20 Annual Report, the President of Welsh Tribunals, Sir 

Wyn Williams, affirmed that any progress against this recommendation would once again ‘likely 

involve some legislation by the UK Parliament or, at the very least, amendment to legislation 

already enacted by the UK Parliament’ and would significantly increase the role and workload 

of the President.  Furthermore, the Public Service Ombudsman for Wales expressed the view 

that ‘no proper basis existed’ for making the Public Service Ombudsman, an independent body, 

subject to the supervision of the President of Welsh Tribunals.18 

 

Some of ‘quasi-judicial’ decision-making bodies (e.g. School Exclusion Appeal Panels) are 

proposed to be brought within the new tribunals system for Wales, and therefore subject to 

supervision by the President of Welsh Tribunals. However, despite unveiling proposals for a 

 
18 The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, for example, is a corporation sole, independent of government, but 
accountable to the Welsh Parliament 

25. All public bodies, ombudsmen and other tribunals which have been established 

under Welsh law or by the Welsh Government, which make judicial or quasi-judicial 

decisions, and are not currently subject to the supervision of the President of Welsh 

Tribunals, should be brought under the supervision of the President. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 131

https://www.counselmagazine.co.uk/articles/keeping-welsh-jrs-in-wales
https://senedd.wales/media/hwpihtla/gen-ld13263-e.pdf


 
 

27 
 

new independent unified tribunals system in Wales, the Welsh Government has yet to 

introduce the Bill and therefore implement this recommendation. 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

This recommendation proposes modifying the so-called ‘statutory bar’; the creation of a 

specific power to stay an application for judicial review whilst an ombudsman investigates; and 

creating a power for ombudsmen to refer points of law to the courts.19 Despite the 

Commission’s recommendation, as well the UK Government’s support for this change,20 and 

the support of the Public Services Ombusmen for Wales, the ‘statutory bar’ remains in force in 

Wales in section 13 of the Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2019.  

 

Concerns have been expressed around the potential costs of removing the statutory bar, but 

more specifically, around wider issues of competence and the impact the change will have on 

the (reserved) courts system in Wales. In a letter to the Senedd’s Finance Committee in June 

2025, the Cabinet Secretary for Social Justice, Trefnydd and Chief Whip, Jane Hutt, claimed 

that the Welsh Government has only ‘limited experience’ of cases that fall within the category 

of ‘statutory bar’ cases and are ‘unable to offer an opinion’ on the matter. The Cabinet Secretary 

also confirmed that, as far as she was able to ascertain, ‘no discussions’ had taken place 

between the UK and Welsh Government on the issues of competence and future devolution.  

 
19 Section 13 of the Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2019 provides that the Public Services Ombudsmen 
for Wales may not investigate a complaint if the person aggrieved has or had a right of appeal, reference or review 
to or before a tribunal, a right of appeal to a relevant Minister, or a remedy by way of proceedings in a court of law. 
However, this ‘statutory bar’ can be overridden if the Public Services Ombudsmen is satisfied that, in the particular 
circumstances, it is not reasonable to expect the person to resort, or to have resorted, to the right of remedy. 
20 In a letter to the Senedd’s Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee in 2023, the UK Government’s 
Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Justice, Lord Bellamy, confirmed the UK Government’s support for this 
recommendation by way of a change to the Civil Procedure Rules. The Minister advised that the Welsh 
Government would need to submit a rule change application to the Civil Procedure Rule Committee, with the 
support of the MoJ. 

26. The Administrative Court should have the power to stay court proceedings whilst 

the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales investigates a complaint. The Ombudsman 

should have the power to refer a point of law to the Court. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 132

https://record.senedd.wales/Plenary/14177#C625678


 
 

28 
 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

As with Recommendation 25, the President of Welsh Tribunals, Sir Wyn Williams, confirmed 

that any progress against this recommendation would ‘likely involve some legislation by the UK 

Parliament or, at the very least, amendment to legislation already enacted by the UK 

Parliament’. Given the Senedd has legislative competence for health, education, housing and 

agriculture, the President also acknowledged that this recommendation, by making sure 

disputes in this area are determined by the Welsh Tribunals, is likely to generate a ‘sharp 

increase’ in workload for the tribunals. 

 

This recommendation, however, is expected to be taken forward in the Welsh Government’s 

future Tribunals Bill. The Welsh Government’s New Tribunals System outlined its commitment 

‘to legislate to create a body corporate as a separate legal entity, at arms’ length from Welsh 

Government and with operational responsibility for the administration of the new tribunal 

system’. According to the Welsh Government, this ‘model will deliver the structural separation 

and independence from Government that aligns with the guiding principle of judicial 

independence’ as well as the ‘weight of opinion’ expressed by the Thomas Commission and 

the Law Commission. 

 

However, despite unveiling proposals for an independent unified tribunals system in Wales, the 

Welsh Government has yet to introduce the Bill. Although there has also been a commitment 

to publishing a Draft Bill in the Sixth Senedd, this has yet to be made available, with only a few 

months remaining of the current Senedd term.  

 

 

27. The Welsh Tribunals Unit should have structural independence and the Welsh 

tribunals should be used for dispute resolution relating to future Welsh legislation. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 133

https://senedd.wales/media/hwpihtla/gen-ld13263-e.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/pdf-versions/2023/9/1/1693834395/new-tribunal-system-wales-white-paper.pdf
https://record.senedd.wales/Plenary/14177#C625678
https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/15134#C684605


 
 

29 
 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

Any meaningful progress against this recommendation would require additional devolution of 

responsibility for civil justice and aspects of administrative justice. The UK Government’s 

decision not to implement the Commission’s recommendation to devolve justice to Wales, 

therefore, means there has been no meaningful progress made against this recommendation. 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

There has been no progress made against this recommendation since 2019. Any application 

under s.13 of the Coroners Act 1988 relating to a death in Wales must be heard and determined 

by a Divisional Court in London. There is no provision in the Civil Procedure Rules for the matter 

to be dealt with by a single Administrative Court judge, and therefore a court hearing in London 

will continue to be listed. 

 

Any meaningful progress against this recommendation would require additional devolution of 

responsibility for coroners services. In its Delivering Justice for Wales, the Welsh Government 

acknowledged that it would require ‘the agreement of others’ or the devolution of responsibility 

for the Coroners’ courts in order to progress this recommendation. 

 

 

 

 

28. The recommendations for coordinating and rationalisation made for civil justice 

should also be applied to administrative justice. 

 

29. Challenges relating to inquests into all deaths in Wales should be issued and heard 

in Wales. 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 134

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-06/delivering-justice-for-wales-may-2022-v2.pdf


 
 

30 
 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

As with Recommendation 29, any meaningful progress against this recommendation would 

require the devolution of responsibility for coroners services. Neither the UK Government nor 

Welsh Government has established a distinct organisation for coroner services in Wales. 

Although the Welsh Government has no influence on the policy for coroners in Wales, the 

funding for coroner services is provided by the Welsh Government to local authorities. There 

remain seven Coroner Areas across Wales, which allows for considerable divergence in 

standards and services. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

30. There should be a distinct organisation for coroner services in Wales with funding 

available on an all Wales basis to ensure that uniform standards and services are 

applied. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 135



 
 

31 
 

Chapter 7: Family justice: children 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The Family Justice Network, which is co-ordinated by the Welsh Government, was established 

before the publication of the Commission’s report in 2019. The Network has helped to provide 

some degree of policy co-ordination as well as strategic oversight over initiatives and 

developments that relate to family justice. However, despite some progress in policy and 

practice, the legal framework for family justice remains fragmented, with substantive family 

justice law and the courts still largely governed by (reserved) England and Wales legislation. 

Evidence from youth justice and child rights research highlights that practice in many areas 

across Wales remains siloed, with limited evidence of joined-up pathways or practices that 

fully integrate education, health, family support and justice in Wales.21 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
21 Research by Children’s Legal Centre Wales has highlighted that many breaches of children’s rights in Wales 
occur in legislative and policy areas that fall outside of the Welsh Government’s competence, including criminal 
justice. 

31. The law relating to children and family justice in Wales should be brought together 

in one coherent legal system aligned with functions in relation to health, education and 

welfare. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 136

https://childrenslegalcentre.wales/wp-content/uploads/2026/01/UK-Parliamentary-Round-Table-Presentation-The-Due-Regard-Duty-to-the-UNCRC-and-Childrens-Rights-Impact-Assessments-Reflections-from-Wales.pdf
https://childrenslegalcentre.wales/wp-content/uploads/2026/01/UK-Parliamentary-Round-Table-Presentation-The-Due-Regard-Duty-to-the-UNCRC-and-Childrens-Rights-Impact-Assessments-Reflections-from-Wales.pdf


 
 

32 
 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The Family Justice Network was established to provide a co-ordinated approach to family 

justice across Wales. However, the Network operates as a non-statutory, advisory body, 

without the legal authority to mandate practice or enforce uniform standards across Wales.  

 

Although early intervention practices have strengthened across Wales through early-help, 

edge-of-care, and pre-court Public Law Outline (PLO) practices, these approaches are policy 

driven rather than mandatory. There remains considerable scope, therefore, for diverging 

practices and approaches across Welsh local authorities, rather than a coherent and co-

ordinated ‘all-Wales’ approach.  

 

Despite an improvement in the underlying evidence-base, supported by linked-data and 

academic research, the Welsh Government has yet to produce any long-term research and 

reform strategy. Although the Commission’s recommendation has almost certainly influenced 

policy direction and practice in this area, a coherent, all-Wales statutory framework with 

mandatory local authority alignment has not been implemented. 

 

 

 

 

32. Pending further research and the development of a long-term strategy, an all Wales 

approach to family justice should be developed and led in Wales through the Family 

Justice Network for Wales and the Local Family Justice Boards. The approach should 

be followed by all local authorities for dealing with child protection referrals with the 

objective of avoiding care proceedings when family support would be more appropriate. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 137

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-06/delivering-justice-for-wales-may-2022-v2.pdf?
https://www.cfj-lancaster.org.uk/projects/fjdp?utm_source


 
 

33 
 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

This recommendation largely aligns with the Children Act 1989 principle that care proceedings 

should be a last resort and that children’s welfare is paramount. In Wales, this intent is mainly 

delivered through the Public Law Outline (PLO) pre-proceedings process, rather than through 

the court at the first hearing. According to the reviews carried out by Care Inspectorate Wales, 

families are generally supported to remain together where it is safe, with alternatives to care 

explored before court action. By the time of the first court hearing, cases usually proceed 

because PLO interventions have often not achieved sufficient change, limiting further scope for 

pre-hearing problem-solving. While current practice in Wales largely reflect the spirit but not 

the letter of the recommendation, problem-solving is embedded through pre-proceedings 

social work practice, but not as a uniform, court-mandated routine at the first hearing. 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

There remains no procedural entitlement or universal guarantee ensuring every child is 

consulted at every stage of family court proceedings in Wales. Children’s voices are most 

commonly captured through Section 7 and Section 37 reports or guardians, rather than through 

direct or routine engagement.22 Although the pathfinder model, piloted in north Wales and now 

rolled out across all of Wales, has helped to embed early, structured engagement with children 

and producing Child Impact Reports before the first hearing, children’s participation varies by 

 
22 Section 7 reports and Section 37 reports are specific types of welfare reports used by family courts in England 
and Wales under the Children Act 1989 to help judges make decisions about children’s lives — especially where 
the child’s welfare is at issue. 

33. It should be a matter of routine practice prior to the first hearing in care proceedings 

to examine the feasibility of problem-solving and the form it might take, with a view to 

finding what steps short of taking a child into care can be put in place. 

 

34. The voice of the child should be heard at every stage of the proceedings. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 138

https://www.careinspectorate.wales/sites/default/files/2024-01/240125-CIW-PLO-Review-2024-en.pdf?
https://www.nuffieldfjo.org.uk/resource/uncovering-private-family-law-what-can-the-data-tell-us-about-childrens-participation?
https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/15748#C746007


 
 

34 
 

location and practice culture in Wales, with children’s voices continuing to be mediated rather 

than direct. 

 

While policy direction and pilots in Wales strongly support the recommendation, the absence 

of universal mechanisms means the goal of hearing every child’s voice at every stage has not 

(yet) been achieved. 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The Welsh Government funded a two-year Family Drug and Alcohol Court pilot in 2021. The 

pilot was subject to an evaluation by the Children’s Social Care Research and Development 

Centre at Cardiff University with a view to learning lessons to support the potential roll-out of 

the Family Drug and Alcohol Court model across Wales. Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan 

were selected for the pilot which ran from November 2021 until the end of November 2023. 

 

Following the publication of the evaluation in June 2024, a Family Drug and Alcohol Court 

Working Group was established to consider the viability of a potential roll out across Wales. 

The Group identified a number of challenges to the roll out, including financial constraints, 

barriers to delivery (particularly in rural areas), and the potential for inconsistent services 

across Wales. In a letter to the Chair of the Senedd’s Children, Young People and Education 

Committee in October 2025, the Welsh Government’s Minister for Children and Social Care, 

Dawn Bowden, informed members that the Working Group had concluded that the Family Drug 

and Alcohol Court model ‘should not be progressed in isolation’, but should form part of wider 

system changes which will be considered further in the Seventh Senedd. 

35. Family Drug and Alcohol Courts should be established in Wales. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 139

https://cascadewales.org/research/evaluation-of-the-family-drug-and-alcohol-court-in-wales-pilot/


 
 

35 
 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The Welsh Government’s Delivering Justice for Wales recognised the need for research, early 

intervention and better evidence on what keeps families together in Wales. However, there 

remains no single, published, long-term research strategy dedicated to Welsh family justice 

reform and care-reduction. Instead, evidence is spread across multiple programmes and 

evaluations.  

 

The most recently published data show that the number of children in care continues to rise in 

Wales. In March 2024, there were 7,200 children looked after in Wales, compared to 6,855 

children in the year that  the Commission’s report was published in 2019.  

 

Although research activity in this area is increasing, the Commission’s vision for vigorous, 

coordinated research agendas driving systematic care-reduction reform has not yet been fully 

realised. 

 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

The Welsh Government has consistently recognised and acknowledged that too many children 

enter care and that reduction is a strategic priority. The Welsh Government has since steered a 

number of policies and initiatives to implement this change. Local authorities, for example, 

36. There should be vigorous support for a programme of research to underpin reform 

of Welsh family justice and associated preventative services. The overarching aim 

should be the reduction in the numbers of children taken into care and the provision of 

far better evidence of the impacts of intervention on family life. 

 

37. A carefully thought through long-term policy for reducing the numbers of children 

taken into care should be developed after the conclusions of the research and then 

implemented. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 140

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-06/delivering-justice-for-wales-may-2022-v2.pdf?
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-After/childrenlookedafterat31march-by-localauthority-gender-age


 
 

36 
 

have been required to plan and report on reducing looked-after children numbers, signalling 

long-term intent rather than a one-off initiative. Recurrent funding has also supported early 

intervention and family-support services intended to prevent care entry, where safe to do so. 

 

The Health and Social Care (Wales) Act 2025 removed profit from children’s care provision and 

reflects a systemic re-orientation towards needs, outcomes, and longer-term sustainability. 

This change, along with those already mentioned, represents a significant transformation to 

children’s services which is national in scope and explicitly connected to the Welsh 

Government’s ambition to support families and reduce care entry. 

 

However, the programme that has been developed and followed is not a single research-led 

long-term national strategy developed after a dedicated research programme. Instead, these 

developments reflect a broad set of commitments and ongoing reforms embedded across 

governance, practice frameworks, and prevention investment. Although the Welsh 

Government’s response provides clear evidence of its commitment to reduce the number of 

children in care, the Commission’s vision of a unified research strategy leading to 

implementation has not yet been fully realised. Furthermore, the number of looked after 

children in Wales has continued to rise. 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

Under the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012, early legal advice in 

private family law is generally out of scope, unless specific criteria (e.g. domestic abuse or child 

protection) are met. There currently remains no statutory or policy entitlement in England and 

Wales to funded early legal advice for all parents prior to proceedings, nor any fixed-fee 

scheme. 

 

38. Legal advice should be available to each parent in private family law disputes prior 

to the commencement of proceedings up to a maximum fixed amount in each case. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 141

https://www.gov.wales/looked-after-children-childrens-rights-impact-assessment
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/removing-profit-childrens-care
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-After/childrenlookedafterat31march-by-localauthority-gender-age


 
 

37 
 

Given that Wales remains subject to the England and Wales legal aid framework, there is no 

Wales-specific legal advice funding scheme in place. Although policy movement exists, 

including pilot projects introduced by the UK Government and mediation initiatives, the core 

recommendation for a fixed-amount, pre-proceedings legal advice entitlement for each parent 

in Wales has not been implemented.23 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
23 Limited legal aid is available in certain cases to cover the cost of Mediation Information and Assessment 
Meetings. 

Tudalen y pecyn 142

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/supporting-earlier-resolution-of-private-family-law-arrangements/outcome/supporting-earlier-resolution-of-private-family-law-arrangements-government-response?


 
 

38 
 

Chapter 8: Delivering justice: locality and structure 
 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

Although the Welsh Government’s Delivering Justice for Wales listed this recommendation as 

one that it was currently ‘exploring with the Ministry of Justice’, the Ministry considered that 

issues around access to justice in Wales were insufficiently distinct from those in England to 

merit a separate strategy. As such, there has been little progress made against this 

recommendation or any further follow-up from the Welsh Government. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

39. A strategy for Wales for provision of proper physical and digital access to justice 

before the courts, tribunals and other forms of dispute resolution should be drawn up 

and determined in Wales based on the needs of the people of Wales. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 143

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-06/delivering-justice-for-wales-may-2022-v2.pdf


 
 

39 
 

Chapter 9: The legal sector and the economy of Wales 
 

 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

In 2022, the Welsh Government introduced support for Legal Services apprenticeships (Level 

3/ A-level equivalent and Level 5/ foundation degree level) to provide a paid pathway to qualify 

as a paralegal or Chartered Legal Executive (in partnership with CILEX). According to the Welsh 

Government’s Counsel General in 2022, Mick Antoniw, the new qualifications represent a 

‘significant development for the Welsh legal sector’ and build upon the recommendations 

made in the Commission’s report. The Welsh Government currently funds the following legal 

apprenticeship pathways in Wales: 

 

• Level 3 Paralegal  

• Level 5 Advanced Paralegal 

• Level 5 Conveyancing Technician 

• Level 6 Conveyancer  

 

The need for Legal 7 Apprenticeships in Wales has been a recurring issue throughout the Sixth 

Senedd,24 with Welsh Government Ministers repeatedly outlining their support for the 

programme and underlining the benefits it could offer by increasing ‘diversity’ within the legal 

profession and providing vital opportunities to legal qualifications for those ‘who wouldn’t 

normally have access’ in Wales. However, there has been very little meaningful progress made, 

with the government yet to include a fully funded Legal Level 7 Apprenticeship as part of its 

Apprenticeship framework. In December 2025, the Welsh Government’s Counsel General, 

 
24 The topic of the Legal Level 7 Apprenticeship has been raised on multiple occasions by Senedd Members since 
2019, including 1 December 2021; 4 May 2022; 1 March 2023; 5 November 2024; 25 March 2025. 

40. The Welsh Government should, in close consultation with the legal professions, 

provide fully funded legal apprenticeships to enable people to qualify as legal 

professionals in Wales. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 144

https://www.cilex.org.uk/media/media_releases/legal_apprenticeships_launch_in_wales/#:~:text=Mick%20Antoniw%2C%20Welsh%20Government%20Counsel,can%20begin%20at%20Level%205.
https://record.senedd.wales/Plenary/12838#C422413
https://record.senedd.wales/Plenary/12517#C392129
https://record.senedd.wales/Plenary/12838#C422413
https://record.senedd.wales/Plenary/13260#C487323
https://record.senedd.wales/Plenary/14177#C625644
https://record.senedd.wales/Plenary/14878#C666417


 
 

40 
 

Julie James, reiterated that she is ‘very keen to do this’, but confirmed that this is something the 

Welsh Government are still yet to decide upon.25 

 

The Welsh Government’s new apprenticeship programme is due to be delivered from August 

2027. 

 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

The Welsh Government’s Commercial Delivery Solicitors Services Framework was re-

procured, and went live, in March 2025. The Framework provides the public sector in Wales 

with a compliant route for accessing solicitor services. Although the agreement provides 

access to specialist legal services from 20 law firms covering a range of legal areas, information 

with regards pricing structure is not routinely published due to commercial sensitivity.26 A 

complete list of the 20 firms included in the Framework could not be accessed, but a number 

of these firms are based in Wales.27 

  

With regards to the procurement of barristers in Wales, the Welsh Government took steps in 

2019 to establish a working group of barristers to include senior Wales and Chester circuit 

representatives, three regional Welsh Local Government area consortia, NHS legal team 

lawyers and lead Welsh government officials. The working group provided opportunities to 

 
25 The Law Society’s Senedd Election Manifesto Asks 2026 once again underlines the need for the implementation 
of a fully funded Legal Level 7 Apprenticeship in Wales. This includes the potential to improve access to the legal 
profession in Wales; address the challenges associated with the recruitment and retention of legal professionals 
in Wales; and to address the widening issue of advice deserts across Wales.   
26 The Welsh Government routinely publishes expenditure on external legal services for transactions in excess of 
£25k, but not those below this figure. 
27 Whilst the Welsh Government has taken the lead in the procuring the Solicitors Framework for use by the Public 
Sector in Wales, it is not responsible for the procurement of legal advice by other public sector bodies. 

41. There should be greater transparency about the level and distribution of expenditure 

on external legal services by the Welsh Government, each Welsh local authority and all 

other public bodies in Wales. The procurement of barristers’ services should be 

reformed to help build the capacity of the Bar in Wales. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 145

https://record.senedd.wales/Plenary/15470#C732254
https://www.gov.wales/professional-services-news-round-up-april-2025
https://www.legalnewswales.com/news/blake-morgan-appointed-to-all-lots-of-welsh-government-legal-services-framework/#:~:text=Blake%20Morgan%20has%20been%20appointed,service%20for%20public%20sector%20clients.
https://www.lawsociety.org.uk/about-us/law-society-wales/senedd-elections


 
 

41 
 

share ideas and, where appropriate, opportunities for joint working and sharing of training, to 

build the breadth and capacity of the Public Law Bar in Wales and to inform procurement of 

counsel services. 

 

The Welsh Government’s list of Panel of Counsel was refreshed in January 2026: 36 Counsel 

were appointed for a period of five years, with effect from 1 February 2026. In total, 25 Counsel 

were appointed from firms outside of Wales, including all 12 of those appointed to the Panel of 

King’s Counsel.28 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

Much of the Welsh Government’s focus in this area has been on facilitating the establishment 

of a Law Council of Wales, with the view that the Council could take forward this 

recommendation. However, while the Welsh Government agreed to work with the Law Council 

of Wales on any areas of priority it identified, the Council has received very little practical or 

financial support from the Welsh Government since it was established in 2022. As such, there 

has been little progress made against this recommendation since 2019. 

 

The introduction of a Legal Level 7 Apprenticeship has been widely heralded as a way to retain 

talent in rural and post-industrial areas which can help to reinvigorate the local legal sector. The 

Welsh Government, however, has yet to introduce a fully funded Level 7 Apprenticeship in 

Wales. 

 

 

 
28 While it may well be the case that the individuals appointed have personal and/or professional connections to 
Wales, the Panel of Kings Counsel are drawn from the following Chambers outside of Wales: 11 King’s Bench Walk 
(London); Francis Taylor Building (London); Henderson Chambers (London); Keating Chambers (London); 
Landmark Chambers (London); Monckton Chambers (London); and Serjeants’ Inn Chambers (London). 

42. The Welsh Government should develop and implement as soon as possible our 

proposed strategy to reinvigorate the rural and post-industrial legal sector in Wales. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 146

https://www.gov.wales/advocates-for-the-welsh-government-appointment-of-panel-of-counsel-2026
https://www.lawsociety.org.uk/about-us/law-society-wales/senedd-elections


 
 

42 
 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

The Legal Innovation Lab Wales was established at Swansea University in 2019 after receiving 

£4.95 million from the European Regional Development Fund through the Welsh Government 

and Swansea University. The Lab was developed to support collaboration between law firms, 

technology companies and security organisations, encouraging innovation in LegalTech, as well 

as access to justice. Although significant funding was put into the development of initiatives to 

support legal technology, the impact the investment has had on the legal sector in post-

industrial and rural Wales remains unclear. The project received no follow-on funding from the 

Welsh Government and ended in June 2023.  

 

The Welsh Government has also made a number of investments, albeit many of them not 

specific to the legal sector. During 2022 and 2023, the Welsh Government provided the legal 

sector in Wales with £100,000 of cyber security funding to enable legal practices across Wales 

to gain Cyber Essentials accreditations, with around 20 per cent of law firms included in the 

scheme.29 The impact that this has had on post-industrial or rural areas in Wales, however, 

remains uncertain.  

 

 

 
29 Business Wales has also provided bespoke business support, including advice and events on topics such as 
access to finance, Human Resources and employment practices, tendering and procurement and resource 
efficiency. A range of business support materials are available specifically for the legal sector, including bilingual 
online resources for the Business Wales website, comprising a series of short video case studies of operational 
aspects of law firms in Wales; an online workshop on recruitment, retention, and succession planning in the legal 
sector. 

43. The Welsh Government should provide strong support for investment in technology, 

especially in post-industrial and rural Wales. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 147

https://www.swansea.ac.uk/law/legal-innovation-lab-wales/
https://www.swansea.ac.uk/law/solnews/the-legal-innovation-lab-wales-reflects-on-a-successful-4-years.php
https://businesswales.gov.wales/legal-sector-wales
https://businesswales.gov.wales/legal-sector-wales


 
 

43 
 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

The Welsh Government has supported a number of initiatives to promote Welsh legal firms and 

Wales as a place of work, including hosting the Commonwealth Magistrates and Judicial 

Association conference in 2023.30 However, there remain legitimate concerns across the legal 

sector about a lack of clear leadership and investment from the Welsh Government in legal 

services. The failure to introduce a fully funded Legal Level 7 Apprenticeship, and the lack of 

resource, assistance and support given to the Law Council of Wales (see Recommendation 

65), provide two standout examples.  

 

However, in light of the technological advancements and changes that have been made since 

the Commission’s report was published in 2019, there is perhaps a need to reevaluate this 

recommendation. The outbreak of Covid-19 heralded a major shift in working patters and 

practices across the legal services sector. Many law firms have since introduced new 

technology to facilitate the remote delivery of services, including videoconferencing with 

clients. The ‘step change’ in the use of technology has led some across the legal sector to 

change their perspective on nearshoring and the potential merits associated with this 

recommendation. 

 

 
30 This event was attended by the First Minister, the Lord Chief Justice of England and Wales, as well as senior 
legal and judicial figures from across the globe. 

44. The Welsh Government must provide clear leadership and support for the legal 

services sector. This should be targeted, user-friendly, flexible and attractive to 

potential inward investors especially with establishing a technology-based nearshoring 

centre as an objective. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 148

https://www.sra.org.uk/globalassets/documents/sra/research/chapter-6---technology-and-innovation-in-legal-services.pdf
https://www.sra.org.uk/globalassets/documents/sra/research/chapter-6---technology-and-innovation-in-legal-services.pdf
https://www.commonwealthlawyers.com/event/cmja-conference/


 
 

44 
 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

The focus of the Welsh Government’s work in this area was directed towards the establishment 

of a Law Council of Wales. Once the Council was formed, the government’s hope (and 

expectation) was that the Council would drive forward work in this area by bringing together 

legal professions, academics and other professional bodies. However, while a Law Council of 

Wales was successfully established in 2022, the Council has limited resources, with much of 

its work dependent on the goodwill of volunteers. The capacity challenges facing the Law 

Council of Wales mean that very little progress has been made in this area. The Welsh 

Government has also not acted to independently produce any kind strategy to promote the 

capabilities of the legal sector in Wales, or to showcase south Wales as a legal centre. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

45. The Welsh Government, legal professionals in Wales, the Law Society, the Bar 

Council, other professional bodies and academia should work in partnership. They 

should develop and promote the capabilities of the legal sector, promote South Wales 

as a legal centre and increase the export of legal services. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 149



 
 

45 
 

Chapter 10: Knowledge, skills and innovation 
 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The Commission’s recommendation sought to encourage Welsh law schools to take the 

necessary steps to attract larger numbers of international students into Wales. While steps 

have been taken across some Welsh universities to promote comparative studies and to realise 

the advantages associated with transferable qualifications across multiple jurisdictions, this 

recommendation has been played out a time when universities across Wales have faced 

considerable challenges. The UK’s withdrawal from the European Union (EU) has seen the 

number of EU students enrolled on courses in UK universities fall by 57 per cent. According to 

Universities Wales, changes to the UK immigration system, including the increase in the general 

salary threshold, could also have a further ‘significant impact’ on the number of international 

students recruited to Welsh universities in future.31  

 

Furthermore, the continuing (and worsening) financial crisis in Welsh universities, which has 

led to significant academic redundancies in recent years, has forced several law departments 

to limit or ‘rationalise’ the curriculum on offer. These pressures have further undermined the 

level of progress made against this recommendation since 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 
31 Widespread concerns have also been raised about the challenges facing international students in Wales. This 
includes problems around housing, as well as concerns over the treatment and support provided to available to 
their families. 

46. Welsh law schools must reassess their undergraduate programmes to take 

advantage of the scope for comparative studies and transferable qualifications. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 150

https://migrationobservatory.ox.ac.uk/resources/briefings/eu-students-in-the-uk-after-brexit/
https://wonkhe.com/blogs/welsh-higher-education-is-running-out-of-wriggle-room/
https://www.walesonline.co.uk/news/wales-news/hundreds-jobs-risk-major-welsh-33323479
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/articles/cn0r43j899xo
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/supporting-international-students-the-realities-of-studying-in-wales/


 
 

46 
 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

While there is evidence that university departments offering LLB Law programmes across 

Wales have taken steps to teach Law tech to students, many of the modules offered are 

‘optional’, not compulsory or ‘core’. Optional modules on Law tech are offered at Aberystwyth 

University (Year 2) Bangor University (Year 2), Cardiff Metropolitan University (Year 2), Cardiff 

University (Year 3), Swansea University (Year 2), and the University of South Wales (Year 2). 

Swansea University has also introduced a LLM LegalTech and Commercial Law.32 

 

Although the topic might be covered in modules dealing with legal skills elsewhere in the 

curriculum, there are currently no legal tech modules offered on the LLB at University of Wales 

Trinity Saint David or Wrexham University. 

 

A number of training sessions and events for the legal professions have been held across Wales 

since 2019. These events, including LegalTech Wales Roadshow, are routinely advertised on 

the Legal Wales News website. The fourth LegalTech Wales Roadshow will be held in March 

2026 and will focus on Artificial Intelligence (AI) in the legal sector.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
32 The modules offered at each university are: Aberystwyth University: ‘Technology, Artificial Intelligence and the 
Law’; ‘Bangor University: ‘Law and Technology’; Cardiff Metropolitan University: ‘Cyber Law’; Cardiff University: 
‘Law, Technology and Society’; Swansea University: ‘Foundations in LegalTech’; University of South Wales: ‘Law 
and Technology in Practice’. 

47. Law tech must be taught to all students and the professions across Wales. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 151

https://courses.aber.ac.uk/undergraduate/M100-law/#modules-september-start--
https://courses.aber.ac.uk/undergraduate/M100-law/#modules-september-start--
https://www.bangor.ac.uk/courses/undergraduate/m100-law-llb-hons
https://www.cardiffmet.ac.uk/courses/undergraduate/llb-law/
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/study/undergraduate/courses/course/law-llb
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/study/undergraduate/courses/course/law-llb
https://www.swansea.ac.uk/law/module-choices/#year-1=is-expanded&year-2=is-expanded
https://www.southwales.ac.uk/courses/llb-hons-law/
https://www.swansea.ac.uk/postgraduate/taught/law/llm-legaltech-commercial-law/
https://www.uwtsd.ac.uk/programme-courses/undergraduate/law-criminology-and-emergency-services/law-full-time-full-time
https://www.uwtsd.ac.uk/programme-courses/undergraduate/law-criminology-and-emergency-services/law-full-time-full-time
https://wrexham.ac.uk/courses/undergraduate-courses/law/#panel2
https://www.legalnewswales.com/events/legaltech-wales-roadshow-ai-special-cardiff/


 
 

47 
 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

In 2023, the Law Council of Wales carried out an audit to determine where Welsh law is being 

taught across universities in Wales and considered what a Welsh law curriculum could include. 

At present, there are four universities in Wales that offer ‘optional’ modules dedicated to the 

topic of Welsh law and devolution. These include Bangor University (Year 2 or 3), Cardiff 

University (Year 3), Swansea University (Year 2 or 3), and the University of South Wales (Year 

3).33 Cardiff University also offers modules on ‘The Law of Devolution in Wales’ and 

‘Constitutionalism and Governance’ as part of the Governance and Devolution LLM.  

 

There are currently no dedicated modules on Welsh law offered on the LLB at Aberystwyth 

University, Cardiff Metropolitan University, University of Wales Trinity Saint David, or Wrexham 

University. Although the topic of Welsh law is likely to be reflected in other modules offered 

across the curriculum, including Public Law, many of the core modules delivered on LLB 

programmes do not include distinct differences in Welsh Law (e.g. Contract, Tort, Equity and 

Trusts).34 

 

Consideration should also be given to the cross-border flow of students between Wales and 

England. In 2022/23, 41 per cent of all undergraduates from Wales studied in England. Although 

the exact number of those studying law (or those who later return to Wales to pursue a career 

in law) is unknown, there is undoubtedly a need to consider the ways in which Welsh law is 

reflected in undergraduate syllabuses in England. This is true not only for Welsh students who 

 
33 The modules offered at each university are: Bangor University: ‘Devolution Law’; Cardiff University: 'Welsh 
Devolution' and 'Datganoli yng Nghymru' (‘Welsh Law and Devolution in Context’ will be delivered at Cardiff 
University from 2028 as part of the new revalidated programme); Swansea University: ‘The Law of Devolution in 
Wales’; University of South Wales: ‘The Law in Wales’. 
34 There are some elements of Land Law where it is possible to introduce aspects of Welsh law. The new 
arrangements under the Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016 is being taught within Land Law modules in several 
Universities  

48. All university and college education providers in Wales should teach Welsh law as 

part of the ordinary undergraduate syllabus and work together to produce the necessary 

materials. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 152

https://www.bangor.ac.uk/courses/undergraduate/m100-law-llb-hons
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/study/undergraduate/courses/course/law-llb
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/study/undergraduate/courses/course/law-llb
https://www.swansea.ac.uk/law/module-choices/#year-1=is-expanded&year-2=is-expanded&year-3=is-expanded
https://www.southwales.ac.uk/courses/llb-hons-law/
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/study/postgraduate/taught/courses/course/governance-and-devolution-llm
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/study/postgraduate/taught/courses/course/governance-and-devolution-llm
https://courses.aber.ac.uk/undergraduate/M100-law/
https://courses.aber.ac.uk/undergraduate/M100-law/
https://www.cardiffmet.ac.uk/courses/undergraduate/llb-law/
https://www.uwtsd.ac.uk/programme-courses/undergraduate/law-criminology-and-emergency-services/law-full-time-full-time
https://wrexham.ac.uk/courses/undergraduate-courses/law/#panel2
https://wrexham.ac.uk/courses/undergraduate-courses/law/#panel2
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/pdf-versions/2024/8/3/1724227731/students-higher-education-august-2022-july-2023.pdf


 
 

48 
 

study in England and wish to practice in Wales upon completion of their degree, but students 

who go on to practice in England in areas of law which are distinct in Wales. 

 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

There are a range of initiatives across the legal sector to ensure that the place of Welsh law is 

reflected in continuing legal education and training. The Legal Wales Annual Conference, for 

example, provides a regular forum for legal practitioners to engage and reflect upon the 

distinctiveness of the law in Wales. There are also developments within particular areas of law 

across Wales. The Agricultural Law Association hosts its own Wales Annual Conference and 

also delivers a residential training course, Starter for Ten – Wales, which provides basic 

information for trainees on relevant areas of law and policy in Wales, including land law and 

tenancies, agriculture and environment. 

 

These initiatives, however, have emerged organically and rather unevenly across the legal 

sector in Wales. The Commission’s conclusion in 2019 that there was ‘no dedicated system 

for updating solicitors and barristers in Wales on developments in Welsh law’ is still valid.35  

 

 

 

 

 

 
35 The same is also true for legal practitioners in England who provide services in Wales. 

49. The place of Welsh law and the distinctiveness of the law in Wales should be 

properly reflected in professional and continuing legal education and training. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 153

https://www.legalwales.org/en/conference
https://ala.org.uk/course/ala-wales-annual-conference-2026/
https://ala.org.uk/course/2026-ala-starter-for-ten-wales/


 
 

49 
 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

The Ministry of Justice published its inaugural Welsh Justice Data: Annual Release 2025 in 

September 2025. The release makes Wales-only prison data publicly available for the very first 

time and will significantly enhance transparency, scrutiny and accountability over the criminal 

justice system in Wales. The data included, however, relate only to a limited number of key 

‘priority areas’ relating to prisoners from Wales.  

 

There remain a number of significant data gaps across the Welsh justice system. Research 

carried out by Children’s Legal Centre Wales, for example, has identified the paucity of data on 

the number of Deprivations of Liberty Order applications affecting Welsh children, as well as 

police strip searches on children in Wales. The Law Society’s Reimagining Justice in Wales 

2030 also underlined the need for improved data on access to justice in Wales, the use of legal 

technology, as well as disaggregated data on the Welsh legal sector. There are also gaps on 

judicial review in Wales. This includes the absence of any publicly available disaggregated data 

on claims against Welsh public bodies, their progress and outcomes. Although the Ministry of 

Justice’s Civil Justice Statistics include information on judicial review claims issued in the 

Administrative Court in Cardiff, this court also administers claims from the Western Circuit 

(south West of England), thus preventing any Wales-level analysis.  

 

 

 

 

50. Wales specific data should be collected and published on a sufficient scale to 

enable disaggregation, with a view to proper evidence-based policy development and 

as a basis for research. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 154

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/welsh-justice-data-annual-release-2025
https://childrenslegalcentre.wales/strip-search-of-children/
https://www.lawsociety.org.uk/about-us/law-society-wales/reimagining-justice-2030
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/civil-justice-statistics-quarterly


 
 

50 
 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

Progress in this area was to be taken forward by the establishment of a Law Council of Wales. 

However, the Law Council has not developed as originally intended and its ability to take 

forward work to improve public legal education has been limited. No action plan or strategy to 

promote public legal education, especially for children and young people, has been produced 

since the Commission’s report was published in 2019. 

 

According to the Children’s Legal Centre Wales, legal education for children and young people 

is ‘fragmented’, ‘inconsistent’ and remains an ‘underdeveloped part of civic learning’. In 2022, 

the Welsh Government began the phased introduction of the new Curriculum for Wales for 3-

16 year olds. Although the guidance provided within the Humanities Area of Learning and 

Experience suggests that learners may be ‘introduced to other complimentary disciplines’ 

including law, there is little information provided on how the new curriculum will support public 

legal education for children and young people in Wales.36 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
36 The Advanced Skills Baccalaureate Wales was introduced in September 2023. It is unclear, however, what 
emphasis (if any) is placed on public legal education as part of the new qualification. 

51. The Welsh Government should lead the development and implementation of an 

action plan to promote and support public legal education, particularly for children and 

young people. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 155

https://childrenslegalcentre.wales/legal-education/
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/humanities/
https://www.wjec.co.uk/media/zjzlvqg2/wjec-level-3-advanced-skills-baccalaureate.pdf


 
 

51 
 

Chapter 11: The Welsh language 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The current justice bodies that are subject to the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011, and 

therefore required to comply with Welsh Language Standards, are: 

  

• The four Police Forces in Wales: Dyfed-Powys Police, Gwent Police, North Wales 

Police and South Wales Police. 

• The four Police and Crime Commissioners for the forces listed above. 

• The Independent Office for Police Conduct. 

• The British Transport Police. 

  

Each of these bodies is required to publish an annual monitoring report on their compliance 

with Welsh Language Standards. These reports are publicly available on the respective 

organisations’ websites. 

  

Other justice bodies, including HM Courts and Tribunals Service, HM Prison and Probation 

Service, the Office of the Public Guardian, the Probate Registry and the Crown Prosecution 

Service, remain subject to Welsh Language Schemes under the Welsh Language Act 1993. The 

introduction of Welsh language standards regulations for Ministers of the Crown would require 

the consent of a UK Secretary of State in order to be named in regulations. Although previous 

research has found that Welsh Government Ministers have not asked or attempted to obtain 

the consent of the relevant UK Secretary of State, it is unclear if they have done so since the 

publication of the Commission’s report in 2019.  

  

The Welsh Language Commissioner’s manifesto ahead of the 2026 Senedd Election expressed 

the view that extending Welsh Language Standards to priority areas, including Crown bodies 

and non-ministerial departments of the UK Government, would lead to significantly improved 

52. All justice bodies should be subject to the Welsh Language Measure 2011. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 156

https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2025-11-10/HL11769/
https://www.welshlanguagecommissioner.wales/media/1rpbdr5g/maniffesto-2026-comisiynydd-y-gymraeg-saesneg.pdf


 
 

52 
 

compliance and strengthen the delivery of Welsh-language services across Wales. This 

proposed extension would include the bodies who are currently subject to a Welsh Language 

Scheme under the 1993 Act, such as HM Courts and Tribunals Service, HM Prison and 

Probation Service, the Office of the Public Guardian, the Probate Registry and the Crown 

Prosecution Service.37 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The provision of training for barristers on using Welsh in the workplace would need to be 

included in the syllabus for the Bar Course. Although the Bar Training Course (LLM) at Cardiff 

University offers an optional module: ‘Eiriolaeth yn y Gymraeg’ (Advocacy in Welsh), the 

module is not credited. The Bar Standards Board’s Bar Training: Curriculum and Assessment 

Strategy states that written assessments may be provided in Welsh if requested. While it 

acknowledges that ‘the requirements of the Welsh Language Act 1993 are recognised’, 

candidates who can only satisfy the assessment requirements in Welsh will not be deemed 

‘competent to practise at the Bar of England and Wales’.  

 

Although CILEX recognise that its members working in Wales continue to engage with 

legislation passed by the Senedd and judgments from Welsh Tribunals that are distinct from 

their counterparts in Westminster and the courts of England & Wales, it does not offer any 

courses on using Welsh in the workplace.38  

 

 
37 During a recent appearance before the Senedd’s Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee, the Lady Chief 
Justice of England and Wales, Baroness Carr, confirmed that just under half (48 per cent) of circuit judges in Wales 
have Welsh language skills. 11 per cent of magistrates in Wales are Welsh-speaking, with considerable variation 
across the different areas and regions of Wales. 
38 The CILEX Accredited training providers delivering Welsh apprenticeships include the Prentis Iaith module, 
which aims to support apprentices in Wales to develop Welsh language skills for the workplace. 

53. The Bar, CILEx and the Law Society should provide courses on using Welsh in the 

workplace, similar to those used by the Judicial College. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 157

https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/study/postgraduate/taught/courses/course/bar-training-course-llm
https://www.barstandardsboard.org.uk/static/3f789bab-4be7-4ee7-bf1c77f198557c31/Curriculum-and-Assessment-Strategy-August-2024.pdf
https://www.barstandardsboard.org.uk/static/3f789bab-4be7-4ee7-bf1c77f198557c31/Curriculum-and-Assessment-Strategy-August-2024.pdf
https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/15748


 
 

53 
 

The Law Society operates in accordance with the requirements played upon it by the Welsh 

Language Act 1993. However, it does not provide any courses on using Welsh in the workplace.  

 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

In a letter to the Senedd’s Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee in 2023, the UK 

Government’s Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Justice, Lord Bellamy KC, assured 

members that the Ministry of Justice would work alongside the UK Government’s Digital Service 

to ensure that Ministry of Justice information relating to ‘the most-used aspects of its business 

and services’ are available both in Welsh and English. HM Courts and Tribunals Service’s 2023-

2026 Welsh Language Scheme also commits to making sure all digital/online services are 

available in Welsh at the same time as the English service and steps have been taken to provide 

‘more online services’ in Welsh. 

 

Despite these commitments, concerns remain about the availability of Welsh digital or online 

services. In 2022, the Welsh Language Commissioner launched an investigation into HM 

Courts and Tribunals Service having received evidence of non-compliance with its Welsh 

language scheme during a virtual hearing.39 The investigation concluded that HM Courts and 

Tribunals Service had ‘failed to comply’ with the scheme, including the clause that any online 

service provided ‘will be available in Welsh’. In 2025, the Ministry of Justice published guidance 

on its programme for ‘modernising’ court services in England and Wales. The guidance includes 

the claim that ‘many’ (but not all) of its services are available in Welsh.  

 

The recently published Independent Review of the Criminal Courts (Part II), led by Sir Brian 

Leveson, revealed that HMCTS is currently exploring whether AI can effectively support English 

to Welsh translation to support judicial case preparation, alongside summarisation, 

 
39 The Welsh Language Commissioner published a response to HM Courts and Tribunals Service’ digitising 
programme in 2018.  

54. Digital services that are being introduced must be accessible, free help must be 

available and all must be available in Welsh at the same time as the English version. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 158

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/651d4cd16a6955001278b2c5/HMCTS_Welsh_Language_Scheme_2023_-26.save.pdf
https://insidehmcts.blog.gov.uk/2023/03/01/improving-the-welsh-language-services-at-hmcts/
https://www.welshlanguagecommissioner.wales/media/dd4l0nbl/dg-s-ad-ymchwiliad-064.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/modernising-courts-and-tribunals-benefits-of-digital-services
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6982092de8900d4c455f37b2/independent-review-criminal-courts-part-2-vol-2.pdf
https://www.welshlanguagecommissioner.wales/media/kltcxrl1/case-study-10-digitisation-and-the-welsh-language.pdf


 
 

54 
 

transcription and anonymisation tools. Although the review has endorsed ‘further exploration 

of AI-supported English to Welsh translation’ to help ‘maximise participation’, there is no 

indication that the UK Government will support the Review’s recommendation and no 

information about possible timescales for implementation.  

 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

There has been significant progress made in the availability of professional examinations in the 

Welsh language since 2019. In 2021, the Solicitors Regulation Authority conducted a pilot 

exercise to explore the practicalities of running the Solicitor Qualifying Examination (SQE) 2 

assessments in the medium of Welsh.40 The pilot proved successful and the SQE2 became fully 

available in Welsh in September 2023. More recently, the SRA has successfully trialled the 

SQE1 pilot.  As of January 2025, trainee solicitors can sit for the SQE1 assessment in Welsh, as 

well as the SQE2.  

 

The extent of the progress made in providing professional legal education and training in Welsh, 

however, has been far more limited. Although the Solicitors Practice Course (LLM) and Bar 

Training Course (LLM) at Cardiff University offer an optional module: ‘Eiriolaeth yn y Gymraeg’ 

(Advocacy in Welsh), the module is not credited. The SQE preparation courses offered at 

Swansea University and the University of South Wales currently offer no modules (according 

the available course information) through the medium of Welsh.  

 

 

 

 

 
40 The Solicitors Qualifying Examination is comprised of two assessments. SQE1 tests candidates' functioning 
legal knowledge and SQE2 assesses candidates' practical legal skills. 

55. Professional legal education for those wishing to practise in Wales must be 

available in the Welsh language with the phased introduction of the availability of all 

professional examinations in Welsh. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 159

https://sqe.sra.org.uk/booking/sqe-welsh#:~:text=Key%20information%20at%20a%20glance,July%202026:%2024%20February%202026
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/study/postgraduate/taught/courses/course/solicitors-practice-course-llm
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/study/postgraduate/taught/courses/course/bar-training-course-llm
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/study/postgraduate/taught/courses/course/bar-training-course-llm
https://www.swansea.ac.uk/postgraduate/taught/law/llm-professional-legal-practice/
https://www.southwales.ac.uk/courses/llm-professional-practice-sqe/


 
 

55 
 

 

Outcome: Achieved 

 

There are a number of Welsh university departments which offer optional modules on the LLB 

Law programme through the medium of Welsh. This includes modules offered at Aberystwyth 

University (Legal Skills and Research; Legal and Criminal Justice Systems; Public Law); Bangor 

University (The Law in Welsh; Social Divisions; Wales in the Modern World; Devolution Law; 

Contemporary Issues in Criminal Law; Dissertation); Cardiff University (Cyfraith Cymru a 

Datganoli Mewn Cyd-destun; Traethawd Hir); Swansea University (where students can study 

two modules in Welsh in Year 1 and 2); and University of South Wales (Academic and 

Professional Legal Skills and Learning Through the Workplace).41   

 

The core modules delivered across Welsh Universities will often include a Welsh-medium 

tutorial or seminar group which is integrated into the main module. Some departments, 

including Cardiff University’s School of Law and Politics, have the capacity to offer Welsh-

medium provision on all core undergraduate modules from Year 1 to 3 (Level 4 to 6). As these 

can often come under the same module code and administered as part of internal group 

allocation, it is not always clear from University website where these are available.42  

 

The Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol, through its subject panel for Law & Criminology, has brought 

Law Schools together to collaborate on Welsh medium provision and resources in law. Since 

the publication of the Commission’s report, the second edition of Keith Bush's textbook on 

Public Law, Sylfeini'r Gyfraith Gyhoeddus, has been published and there is also on-going work 

on Welsh-medium textbooks for Contract Law, Equity and Trusts, and Land Law. 

 

 
41 Based on the course information available, there are currently no modules in Welsh available on the LLB at 
Cardiff Metropolitan University, University of Wales Trinity Saint David and Wrexham University. 
42 Law Schools will promote these options during open days and contact students with fluent Welsh language 
skills when they register to inform them of the options available and may automatically enrol Welsh-medium 
student on to the Welsh provision.  

56. Welsh law schools must collaborate on Welsh medium legal education, especially 

as regards the provision of teaching materials. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 160

https://courses.aber.ac.uk/undergraduate/M100-law/#modules-september-start--
https://courses.aber.ac.uk/undergraduate/M100-law/#modules-september-start--
https://www.bangor.ac.uk/courses/undergraduate/m100-law-llb-hons
https://www.bangor.ac.uk/courses/undergraduate/m100-law-llb-hons
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/study/undergraduate/courses/course/law-llb
https://www.swansea.ac.uk/law/module-choices/#year-1=is-expanded&year-2=is-expanded&year-3=is-expanded
https://www.southwales.ac.uk/courses/llb-hons-law/
https://colegcymraeg.ac.uk/
https://adnoddau.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/Sylfeini'rGyfraith/Sylfeini'r_Gyfraith_Gyhoeddus.pdf
https://www.cardiffmet.ac.uk/courses/undergraduate/llb-law/
https://www.uwtsd.ac.uk/programme-courses/undergraduate/law-criminology-and-emergency-services/law-full-time-full-time
https://wrexham.ac.uk/courses/undergraduate-courses/law/#panel2


 
 

56 
 

The Coleg Cymraeg has also supported the development of other teaching resources. The 

Coleg's website hosts online resources on the core principles of Contract Law developed in 

collaboration between Bangor and Aberystwyth Universities. This type of resource can be 

accessed for free by students and can be embedded onto core modules by staff at any 

University. 

 

The Coleg Cymraeg's subject panel has also facilitated Law Schools to collaborate on student 

recruitment and employability initiatives. In 2021, the panel hosted the first Welsh language 

online conference for law students that included contributions from the (then) Welsh 

Government’s Counsel General, Jeremy Miles, and Lord Lloyd-Jones. The panel subsequently 

held six online workshops in the autumn of 2021, open to students and the public, which hosted 

talks on current issues in law and criminology and included contributions from five of the law 

schools or departments in Wales. 

 

In 2023, the panel held two online career panel events in Welsh for law students seeking a 

traditional legal career and for those seeking alternative careers using their law degree. More 

recently, a national Welsh-medium mooting competition has been re-established. The first was 

hosted by Cardiff University at the National Eisteddfod in 2024 and included teams from Cardiff 

and Aberystwyth Universities.  

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

In a letter to the Chair of the Senedd’s Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee in March 

2023, the UK Government’s then Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Justice, Lord 

Bellamy KC, noted that, while coroner law and policy are reserved to the UK Government, 

coroner services in Wales are ‘administered and funded by local authorities’.43 As a result, he 

 
43 Although coroners are employed by local authorities, they operate as separate legal entities and are therefore 
not subject to the provisions of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure. As a result, coroners are not bound by 
Welsh Language Standards or Welsh Language Schemes. 

57. All coroner services should be available in the Welsh language. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 161

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.porth.ac.uk%2Fcy%2Fcollection%2Fy-gyfraith-cyfraith-contract&data=05%7C02%7CJonesRD7%40cardiff.ac.uk%7C67657fe5390f472fcd2608de6f05ab1e%7Cbdb74b3095684856bdbf06759778fcbc%7C1%7C0%7C639070267298079611%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=CyV6pa9Js13oPUUsOcrnvlJtGLbAb7bnmOua0jByPx0%3D&reserved=0
https://www.porth.ac.uk/cy/collection/cynhadledd-y-gyfraith-coleg-cymraeg-cenedlaethol
https://www.porth.ac.uk/cy/collection/sesiynau


 
 

57 
 

argued that responsibility for progressing this recommendation should sit with the Welsh 

Government. However, in its Delivering Justice for Wales, the Welsh Government 

acknowledged that it would require ‘the agreement of others’ or the devolution of responsibility 

for the coroners’ courts in order to progress this recommendation.44 The ‘jagged edges’ 

surrounding coroner services in Wales have yet to be resolved and, as such, there has been no 

meaningful progress made against this recommendation. 

 
44 The Welsh Language Commissioner has recently been involved in a case in which a death certificate was issued 
in English only, despite the inquest having been conducted in Welsh. This occurred as a result of a clerical error 
within the coroner’s office. The discussions held in response to this case have helped to highlight a number of 
challenges, including a lack of Welsh-speaking coroners, as well as shortcomings in the procedures and planning 
of Welsh-language services within coroner services. The Welsh Language Commissioner is currently working with 
the General Register Office with the aim of improving the Welsh language provisions and services when registering 
deaths, births, and marriages. 

Tudalen y pecyn 162

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-06/delivering-justice-for-wales-may-2022-v2.pdf


 
 

58 
 

Chapter 12: Governance, the law of Wales and the judiciary 
 

Recommendations on devolution of justice 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The UK Government has consistently maintained its position that it does not agree with the 

Commission’s recommendation for the legislative devolution of justice. In a letter to the 

Independent Commission on the Constitutional Future of Wales in 2023, the Ministry of 

Justice’s then Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Justice, Lord Bellamy KC, expressed 

that the UK Government has ‘significant concerns’ with the recommendation to devolve justice. 

The UK Government’s position on legislative devolution has not altered since the election of a 

Labour-led government in July 2024. Despite Labour's election manifesto commitment to 

‘consider’ and ‘explore’ the options for the devolution of youth justice and probation, neither of 

these commitments include the possibility of transferring legislative functions for youth justice 

and probation to the Senedd.45  The UK Government has also rejected calls for the devolution 

of policing on the basis that Ministers and officials in Whitehall ‘do not think that the devolution 

of policing is right for Wales at this time’.46   

 

The non-implementation of this recommendation means that legislative powers over justice in 

Wales, including policing and offender management and rehabilitation, remain reserved to the 

UK Parliament.   

 
45 In oral evidence to the House of Commons Welsh Affairs Committee in February 2026, the Secretary of State 
for Wales, Jo Stevens, confirmed that current discussions over the devolution of youth justice and probation to 
Wales do not extend to legislative powers: ‘Both Governments have agreed to work together to look at options 
relating to governance and funding of youth justice services and partnership arrangements on probation services. 
46 These calls emerged after the publication of the Home Office’s  Policing Reform White Paper in January 2026. 

58. There should be legislative devolution of justice. Restrictions and reservations 

governing the Assembly’s power to legislate on all forms of justice, including policing 

and offender management and rehabilitation, should be removed, so that it 

corresponds more closely with the position of the Northern Ireland Assembly and the 

Scottish Parliament. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 163

https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2022-11-29/debates/319d97c3-eca2-4563-8b2e-9793a852b2c5/WestminsterHall
https://labour.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/06/Labour-Party-manifesto-2024.pdf?utm_source=substack&utm_medium=email
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2026-02-03/debates/FA7F7827-780F-43F7-B311-5D2D2EF99CF7/PoliceReformWhitePaper?highlight=thomas%20commission#contribution-9DDCE054-3BC9-4E31-BD40-516C4AE730DE
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/69779267276692606c013862/260125_White_Paper.pdf


 
 

59 
 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The UK Government’s decision not to implement Recommendation 58 (legislative devolution 

of justice) means that the UK Government retains responsibility for executive functions over 

justice in Wales. 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The non-implementation of Recommendation 58 (legislative devolution of justice) and 

Recommendation 59 (the transfer of executive functions in relation to justice) means that there 

is no progress to report against this recommendation. The responsibility for providing 

appropriate financial resources for justice services in Wales, including administrative and 

capital resources, still falls upon the UK Government.  

 

 

 

 

59. In tandem with the removal of reservations and restrictions on the Assembly’s 

powers, responsibility for executive functions in relation to justice in Wales should be 

transferred to the Welsh Government. 

 

60. Devolution of justice must be accompanied by a full transfer of financial resources, 

including all identifiable administrative and capital resources relating to Wales. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 164



 
 

60 
 

Recommendations to be implemented under the current scheme of devolution 
 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

In the absence of a dedicated Welsh Government Justice Minister, the responsibility for justice 

related issues continues to be spread across a number of Welsh Government ministerial 

portfolios. These include: 

 

 The Cabinet Secretary for Social Justice, Trefnydd and Chief Whip 

 
• Anti-slavery, domestic abuse, gender-based violence and sexual violence. 

• Youth Justice and Female Offending Blueprints. 

• Community Safety, including Police Community Support Officers. 

• Relations with the Police and Crime Commissioners, Police and other Criminal Justice 

agencies. 

• Relations with UK Government in respect of Prisons and the Probation Service. 

 

Counsel General and Minister for Delivery 

 
• Welsh Tribunals. 

• Liaison with the Legal Sector and Law Council for Wales. 

• Accessibility of Welsh law. 

• Access to Justice. 

 

Deputy First Minister 

 
• Constitutional affairs. 

• Co-ordination of justice policy issues. 

61. Clear and accountable leadership on justice in the Welsh Government must be 

established under the current scheme of devolution. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 165



 
 

61 
 

Following the publication of the Commission’s report, the Welsh Government ‘moved 

immediately’ to establish a Cabinet Sub-Committee on Justice. Its responsibilities included 

providing ‘strategic leadership for justice functions’ across Welsh Government, as well 

ensuring a ‘co-ordinated approach’ to justice across ministerial portfolios. Following its very 

first meeting on 8 July 2021, the meeting minutes for all Sub-Committee meetings were made 

available on the Welsh Government’s website, including a full list of attendees. 

 

The Cabinet Sub-Committee’s last meeting, however, was on 7 February 2024. Following a 

change of leadership in Welsh Government, the new First Minister, Eluned Morgan, took steps 

to ‘limited the number of formal sub-committees’ across Welsh Government. Although the 

responsible ministers now come together ‘regularly’ in a meeting chaired by the Deputy First 

Minister, there are few publicly available details about these meetings, including the subjects 

discussed or those in attendance.  

 

The responsibility for justice related issues in Wales also continue to be spread across the 

Welsh Government’s various directorates. Without any kind of ‘locus’ for justice in Wales, such 

as a dedicated Justice Ministry, it often remains unclear which team or directorate is ultimately 

responsible for justice related issues in Wales. Furthermore, the Welsh Government’s 

messaging on justice related issues often lacks consistency. For example, despite having a 

clear set of policies, pledges and commitments on reserved justice matters, Welsh 

Government Ministers have regularly declined to comment or engage with justice related 

queries on the basis that the area ‘is a reserved matter and the responsibility of the UK 

Government’. The government’s rather contradictory stance has emerged most clearly when 

being scrutinised on justice issues by members of the Senedd. This includes questions during 

the Sixth Senedd on youth justice, prisoner rehabilitation, and policing in Wales. 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 166

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-06/delivering-justice-for-wales-may-2022-v2.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/cabinet-sub-committee-on-justice
https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/15134#C684605
https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/15134#C684605
https://record.senedd.wales/WrittenQuestion/92852
https://record.senedd.wales/WrittenQuestion/92852
https://record.senedd.wales/WrittenQuestion/94595
https://senedd.wales/media/3eipupll/wq98010.pdf


 
 

62 
 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

The National Assembly’s Business Committee proposed that the name of the Constitutional 

and Legislative Affairs Committee be changed to the Legislation, Justice and Constitution 

Committee in January 2020. Although the Llywydd and the Chair of the Constitutional and 

Legislative Affairs Committee identified that the Senedd did not have the capacity for a separate 

and standalone justice committee, the name change was made to place greater focus and 

emphasis on scrutinising justice in Wales.  

 

Alongside the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee, justice related issues in Wales 

are also scrutinised by a range of other committees, including the Equality and Social Justice 

Committee, and the Children, Young People, and Education Committee. The Senedd Research 

Service also regularly produces a number of important, helpful and informative outputs on key 

issues facing the justice system in Wales, including children’s rights, sentencing, legal aid, 

prisons, probation, tribunals, youth justice, and debates around future devolution.   

 

However, despite taking a more proactive role in scrutinising the justice system in Wales, the 

scrutiny provided by the Senedd remains fragmented. In the absence of a dedicated Justice 

Committee, it remains unclear who is ultimately responsible for holding the Welsh Government 

(and other relevant bodies) to account for justice related issues in Wales. 

 

 

 

 

 

62. The Assembly should take a more proactive role in appropriate scrutiny of the 

operation of the justice system. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 167

https://senedd.wales/media/rdxhi4s4/cr-ld15713-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/rdxhi4s4/cr-ld15713-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/xmhhaypg/cr-ld16844-e.pdf
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/children-s-rights-in-wales-big-changes-ahead/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/sentencing-reforms-what-s-changing-and-why-it-matters-for-wales/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/a-deserted-landscape-access-to-civil-legal-aid-in-wales-part-2/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/almost-full-why-is-wales-expanding-prisons-it-may-not-need/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/probation-reform-in-wales-stability-first-devolution-later/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/president-of-welsh-tribunals-sets-out-key-challenges-ahead-of-anticipated-reforms/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/protected-not-punished-youth-justice-in-wales/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/the-devolution-of-justice-what-progress-is-being-made/


 
 

63 
 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

According to its Delivering Justice for Wales strategy in 2022, the steps taken by the Welsh 

Government to better understand ‘the legislative and practical steps’ required to devolve 

various elements of the criminal justice system in Wales have ‘predominantly involved 

commissioning experts’ to undertake reviews and research in this area. In November 2023, the 

Welsh Government commissioned an independent review, led by the former Chief Constable 

of North Wales Police, Carl Foulkes, to help prepare for the devolution of policing to Wales. The 

Welsh Government has also commissioned research into probation services in Wales, youth 

justice, and in 2025 funded a Welsh Justice Research Programme.47 In April 2023, it also 

appointed Dame Vera Baird, the former Victims Commissioner for England and Wales and now 

Chair of the Criminal Cases Review Commission, as an Independent Expert Advisor on Justice 

Devolution.48   

 

The focus of much of the Welsh Government’s work with external partners, however, has 

largely been directed towards planning for justice devolution. The extent to which external 

experts or partners have been used to address current policy and practice issues across the 

Welsh justice system is unclear. Furthermore, many of the groups and organisations that have 

carried out work on behalf of the Welsh Government have done so often without financial 

support from Welsh Government. Where funding has been made available, this has often been 

awarded to research consultancy companies, which does little to support the development of 

original academic research or lasting expertise on justice in Wales.49 There remains, therefore, 

considerable scope for the Welsh Government to consider the value of encouraging and 

supporting partners across Wales to carry out this work. 

 
47 The contract was awarded to a research consortium led by Miller Research UK. 
48 Dame Vera Baird was appointed as an Independent Expert Advisor on Justice Devolution on a 12-month 
contract and left her role in 2024. 
49 This also represents a glaring missed opportunity to provide much needed financial support to Higher Education 
Institutions across Wales.  

63. The Welsh Government should address policy issues relating to justice by using 

external experts who can report jointly with civil servants to Ministers. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 168

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-06/delivering-justice-for-wales-may-2022-v2.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/pdf-versions/2024/3/1/1710769915/preparing-for-the-devolution-of-policing.pdf
https://nation.cymru/news/welsh-government-commissions-research-to-investigate-devolution-of-justice-to-wales/
https://record.senedd.wales/WrittenQuestion/91366


 
 

64 
 

 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The focus of the Welsh Government’s work in this area has largely been directed towards the 

establishment of a Law Council of Wales. However, while progress in this area was to be taken 

forward by the Law Council, the Welsh Government has done little to provide the Council with 

the financial resource needed to support its work. The Law Council has therefore not developed 

as originally intended and its ability to take forward work to develop a joint leadership 

programme has been limited.  

 

 

Outcome: Partially achieved 

 

The Law Council of Wales was established in 2022 following the publication of the 

Commission’s report. Although it initially intended to focus on legal education and training, 

modelled on the Joint Standing Committee for Legal Education in Scotland, the remit of the 

Council was extended to provide a wider forum for the legal sector to deliberate and act on 

common issues affecting the legal sector in Wales. The Council’s activities are steered by its 

Executive Committee which is overseen by the President of the Law Council of Wales, Lord 

Lloyd-Jones.  

 

64. The Welsh Government and the legal sector should develop a joint leadership 

programme. 

 

65. A Law Council of Wales should be established to promote the interests of legal 

education and the awareness of Welsh law, to ensure proper provision of teaching the 

law in Welsh, and to assist students in their education and training as future 

practitioners. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 169

https://jsclegaleducation.org/2016/04/13/welcome/


 
 

65 
 

Notwithstanding its relatively recent establishment, the Council has already achieved a 

number of notable accomplishments. These include influencing vocational training, as well as 

the development of aspects of the required functional legal knowledge in the Solicitors 

Qualifying Examination. This has helped to ensure that the SQE requires candidates to have 

knowledge of distinct aspects of Welsh law when qualifying in England and Wales. Members of 

the Council have also supported the process of making the SQE available in Welsh (see 

Recommendation 55). The Council has also initiated discussions on public legal education in 

Wales and has helped to support the establishment of Dispute Resolution Centre Wales. 

 

The Law Council of Wales, however, remains a body with no executive powers and limited 

resources. Following a review of its activities during 2025, the Law Council decided to narrow 

the focus of its work. This decision was made because the Council has no staff or financial 

resources and depends entirely on the goodwill of volunteers.  

 

Although a Law Council of Wales has been established, the model that currently exists is not 

what the Commission had envisaged. Once again, in the absence of financial resource or 

support from either the UK or Welsh Government, the Council stands as yet another initiative 

that has been established and maintained through the determined efforts of a handful of 

hardworking volunteers in Wales. Without financial support, however, it is a model which is 

neither suitable nor sustainable for fulfilling the functions recommended by the Commission. 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

This recommendation focused on improving the level of engagement shown by the senior 

judiciary in Wales within the devolved legislative and policy landscape. This included 

supporting closer relationships between the senior judiciary, the Senedd and Welsh 

Government, as well as recommending participation in the Criminal Justice Board for Wales 

66. The organisation of the senior judiciary in Wales should be changed to provide the 

necessary working relationships and leadership within Wales. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 170



 
 

66 
 

and Civil Justice Board.50 The Commission also recommended ending the model of rotating 

Presiding Judges in Wales to support the development of a more visible and ‘consistent 

leadership role’, as well as the appointment of a ‘very senior judge’ at the level of the Court of 

Appeal to lead the existing body of judges to exercise responsibility for Wales as Presiding 

Judges, Supervising Judges, Laison Judges and President of Welsh Tribunals. 

 

Despite the many detailed proposals set out in the Commission’s report, there has been 

minimal progress made against this recommendation. Although forums like the Judges Council 

Committee for Wales exist to represent Welsh judges and there remains, according to the Lady 

Chief Justice of England and Wales, Baroness Carr,  a ‘great national pride’ amongst the 

judiciary in Wales, the formal organisation of the Welsh judiciary largely remains largely 

unchanged. 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

Although the Welsh Government’s Delivering Justice for Wales underlined its commitment to 

‘pursue the case for guaranteed Welsh representation on the Supreme Court’, this 

recommendation has been rejected by the UK Government.51 When providing oral evidence to 

the Senedd’s Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee in December 2022, the UK 

Government’s then Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Justice, Lord Bellamy KC, told 

committee members that the ‘Constitutional Reform Act 2005 already provides that all parts 

of the United Kingdom should be represented on the Supreme Court’. Rather than oversee any 

constitutional change that would provide a formal or guaranteed role for a Welsh judge, the 

 
50 The Commission recommended the establishment of a Civil Justice Board in Wales but this was never 
implemented. 
51 A definition of ‘Welsh judge’ was not explicitly provided in the Commission’s report. What constitutes a Welsh 
judge may, therefore, be subject to differential interpretation. This may simply refer to a judge who works on the 
Welsh Circuit or even extend to a judge (working elsewhere) who has a strong personal or professional connection 
to Wales. 

67. Wales should be put in a similar position to Scotland and Northern Ireland in the 

Supreme Court as regards the appointment of judges to the Supreme Court. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 171

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-06/Submission-judge-council-committee-for-wales.pdf
https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/15748
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-06/delivering-justice-for-wales-may-2022-v2.pdf
https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/13067#A75812


 
 

67 
 

Minister simply expressed the hope ‘that good Welsh candidates for the Supreme Court will 

come forward, as they have in the past’, such as Lord Lloyd-Jones. 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 172



 
 

68 
 

Recommendations for implementation with legislative devolution 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The non-implementation of Recommendation 58 (legislative devolution of justice) and 

Recommendation 59 (the transfer of executive functions in relation to justice) means that there 

has been no meaningful progress made against this recommendation.52 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

Although the non-implementation of Recommendation 58 (legislative devolution of justice) and 

Recommendation 59 (the transfer of executive functions in relation to justice) means that there 

has been no meaningful progress made against this recommendation, the office of Counsel 

General continues in Welsh Government, albeit not in the way envisaged by this 

recommendation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
52 The Law Society’s Senedd Election Manifesto Asks 2026 sets out the case for a ‘dedicated Welsh Ministry of 
Justice’ to improve the coherence, alignment and accessibility of Welsh justice policy. 

68. With legislative devolution, there must be a new Justice Department in the Welsh 

Government led by a Cabinet Minister. 

 

69. The office of Counsel General should continue as an office that provides 

independent legal advice to the Welsh Government and heads the Government Legal 

Service in Wales. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 173

https://tls-sc104-prd-glo-fde-01-duatf0eka4hpcxe6.a03.azurefd.net/-/media/files/about-us/work-in-wales/the-law-societys-senedd-election-manifesto-asks-2026.pdf?rev=a2464172ccae4139a0b8b9a690a8f3cb&hash=95373A139ED1D00F66E92A0AC388A2E0


 
 

69 
 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The non-implementation of Recommendation 58 (legislative devolution of justice) and 

Recommendation 59 (the transfer of executive functions in relation to justice) means that there 

has been no meaningful progress made against this recommendation. 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The non-implementation of Recommendation 58 (legislative devolution of justice) and 

Recommendation 59 (the transfer of executive functions in relation to justice) means that there 

has been no meaningful progress made against this recommendation. 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The non-implementation of Recommendation 58 (legislative devolution of justice) and 

Recommendation 59 (the transfer of executive functions in relation to justice) means that there 

has been no meaningful progress made against this recommendation. 

 

 

 

 

70. Legislative devolution will require the establishment of a Justice Committee in the 

Assembly 

 

71. Where there is overlap between the roles of local, regional and national boards, 

committees and partnerships, they should be merged. 

 

72. Where there is overlap between the roles of local, regional and national boards, 

committees and partnerships, they should be merged. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 174



 
 

70 
 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The non-implementation of Recommendation 58 (legislative devolution of justice) and 

Recommendation 59 (the transfer of executive functions in relation to justice) means that there 

has been no meaningful progress made against this recommendation. 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The non-implementation of Recommendation 58 (legislative devolution of justice) and 

Recommendation 59 (the transfer of executive functions in relation to justice) means that there 

has been no meaningful progress made against this recommendation. 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The non-implementation of Recommendation 58 (legislative devolution of justice) and 

Recommendation 59 (the transfer of executive functions in relation to justice) means that there 

has been no meaningful progress made against this recommendation. 

 

 

 

73. The law applicable in Wales should be formally identified as the law of Wales, 

distinct from the law of England. 

 

74. The present system where legal practitioners can practise in England and Wales and 

the legal professions are jointly regulated should be continued. 

 

75. Legislation should provide for a High Court and a Court of Appeal of Wales to be 

established by the Assembly. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 175



 
 

71 
 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The non-implementation of Recommendation 58 (legislative devolution of justice) and 

Recommendation 59 (the transfer of executive functions in relation to justice) means that there 

has been no meaningful progress made against this recommendation. 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The non-implementation of Recommendation 58 (legislative devolution of justice) and 

Recommendation 59 (the transfer of executive functions in relation to justice) means that there 

has been no meaningful progress made against this recommendation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

76. With legislative devolution, a Welsh Courts and Tribunals Service should be 

developed from the base of a Welsh Tribunals Unit reformed on the model of the 

Scottish Courts and Tribunals Service. 

 

77. With legislative devolution, the Welsh Government will need to review, and keep 

under continuing review, the justice infrastructure for Wales. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 176



 
 

72 
 

Action to be taken now by the Welsh Government and the Assembly 

 

 

Outcome: Not achieved 

 

The Delivering Justice for Wales strategy is the closest the Welsh Government has come to 

providing a definitive list of the recommendations that it seeks to implement. This was followed 

by the Delivering Justice for Wales: progress report published in 2024, which offered further 

detail of the work that had been done in this area since May 2022. The Welsh Government’s 

exact response to each of the Commission’s recommendations, however, has been rather 

unclear from the outset. For example, rather than provide a direct response to each of the 

Commission’s 78 recommendations (or those deemed to be within its competence), Delivering 

Justice for Wales provided a rather unwieldly and fairly broad commentary on the areas the 

Welsh Government would pursue. While certain recommendations are dealt with in the report, 

including those relating to justice data and the tribunals in Wales, specific actions against each 

of the recommendations are often missing. In its 2024 update, for example, the Welsh 

Government simply offered a rather generic overview of the work it has been doing to progress 

the Commission’s recommendations. This included: 

 

• enacting the recommendations that fall directly to the Welsh Government. 

• providing co-operative leadership on the proposals that rely on other actors in Wales. 

• overseeing discussions with the UK government on the proposals that require their 

consent. 

• providing co-operative leadership in the areas where the commission’s proposals rely 

on other actors in Wales. 

78. The Welsh Government should begin the process of reform by listing the 

recommendations it will seek to implement whilst the current scheme of devolution 

continues. The Assembly should make arrangements to monitor and review the 

process of reform. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 177

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-06/delivering-justice-for-wales-may-2022-v2.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/delivering-justice-for-wales-2024-progress-report-html
https://www.gov.wales/delivering-justice-for-wales-2024-progress-report-html


 
 

73 
 

Although the respective committees in the Senedd have actively engaged in the process of 

scrutinising the justice system in Wales since 2019, there has been very little dedicated focus 

on the Commission’s report or the Welsh Government’s progress in implementing the 

recommendations. Indeed, the lack of attention directed toward the Thomas Commission 

during the Sixth Senedd is one of the main justifications for this research. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 178



 
 

74 
 

2 A Story of Non-Implementation: The Commission’s 
 Report Six Years On 
 

The detailed review of the progress made against each of Commission’s 78 recommendations 

in the previous chapter shows that there has been significant activity since 2019. From the 

establishment of the Law Council of Wales; progress towards the disaggregation of Wales-only 

data; steps to improve education and awareness of Welsh law; to the creation of Dispute 

Resolution Centre Wales, these developments have made an important contribution to the 

Welsh justice landscape. However, while these developments represent some progress 

against the Commission's recommendations, there is little to report when it comes to full or 

proper implementation. In total, only three of the 78 recommendations have been achieved in 

full. While two of these can be traced directly to the efforts made by Welsh law schools and 

Welsh members of the Civil Procedure Rules Committee seeking to respond to the 

Commission's recommendations, the other has been achieved as a consequence of wider 

policy changes across England and Wales and the UK Government's decision to place 

probation services back into the hands of the public sector.  

 

It is therefore difficult to avoid the conclusion that much of the progress made since 2019 has 

been accomplished via the determined efforts of those from the legal professions, civil society, 

and academia in Wales. Often without any financial resource or formal responsibility for doing 

so, people across Wales have volunteered to establish and sustain key initiatives that were 

recommended by the Commission. The formation of the Law Council of Wales and the creation 

of Dispute Resolution Centre Wales provide two standout examples. This conclusion, however, 

naturally raises questions about what role the UK and Welsh Government have played since 

the Commission’s report was published in 2019.  

 

The UK Government 

 

The UK Government has been a reluctant and often unwilling contributor to debates on the 

Commission’s recommendations. The tone was very much set in January 2020 when the UK 

Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Justice, Chris Philp, confirmed that the government 

Tudalen y pecyn 179



 
 

75 
 

did not intend ‘to produce a full and formal response to the Thomas report’ because it had not 

been commissioned by Ministers in Whitehall. What has since followed are a series of ad hoc 

responses given by (often junior) UK Ministers to questions raised about the Commission in 

Westminster and the Senedd (see Appendix 1). Despite signalling its initial intent to work 

alongside the Welsh Government to help deliver five of the Commission’s recommendations,53 

a consistent theme throughout the UK Government’s responses has been its opposition to 

devolving justice powers to Wales. In a letter to the Senedd’s Legislation, Justice and 

Constitution Committee in November 2022, for example, the then Parliamentary Under-

Secretary of State for Justice, Lord Bellamy KC, reassured members that the UK Government 

were ‘keen to work with the Welsh Government to take forward some of the recommendations 

which have the potential to improve justice outcomes in Wales, provided they do not require a 

change to the devolution settlement’. 

 

Although defiantly determined to keep the ‘unitary’ England and Wales system intact, the UK 

Government has consistently struggled to offer an intellectually respectable argument in 

defence of the status quo. Those championing the current constitutional arrangements in 

Wales have, as first argued in The Welsh Criminal Justice System: On the Jagged Edge, relied 

upon justifications that involve decrying devolution, deflecting attention away from the 

problems facing the Welsh system, or simply trivialising them. The various justifications cited 

between 2019 and 2024 for refusing devolution include: concerns about the ‘huge expense’ 

that justice devolution would present to the taxpayer;54 claims that the current system 

‘performs very well for Wales’; that devolution would create a ‘more complex’ system; ‘would 

make no real difference’; or that it would make too much difference.  

 

The formation of a Labour-led government in July 2024 has done almost nothing to shift the dial 

on justice devolution to Wales. Despite Labour's election manifesto commitment to ‘consider’ 

and ‘explore’ the options for the devolution of youth justice and probation, neither of these 

commitments have been pursued in the spirit of the recommendations set out in the Thomas 

 
53 These were Recommendation 20 (Digital court services), 26 (the Administrative Court), 50 (disaggregated data), 
54 (The availability of digital court services in Welsh) and 57 (Coroner services in Welsh). 
54 For an authoritative analysis of the financial costs associated with justice devolution see Guto Ifan’s ‘Fiscal 
implications of devolving justice’.   

Tudalen y pecyn 180

https://www.uwp.co.uk/book/the-welsh-criminal-justice-system-jonesjones/
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2022-11-29/debates/3F64A897-1E73-43C6-8BF4-099FC68F9340/DevolutionOfJusticeWales
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2022-11-29/debates/3F64A897-1E73-43C6-8BF4-099FC68F9340/DevolutionOfJusticeWales
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2020-01-22/debates/45A32F4F-4FD7-4AE5-99B6-2780FD13082B/CommissionOnJusticeInWales
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2020-01-22/debates/45A32F4F-4FD7-4AE5-99B6-2780FD13082B/CommissionOnJusticeInWales
https://labour.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/06/Labour-Party-manifesto-2024.pdf?utm_source=substack&utm_medium=email
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/1699219/Fiscal-implications-report-FINAL.pdf


 
 

76 
 

Commission’s report. On probation, for example, the UK government is currently considering 

proposals for a Memorandum of Understanding which would put Wales on a par with the model 

operating in Greater Manchester.55 The ongoing discussions on youth justice, meanwhile, 

primarily concern ‘lifting and shifting’ responsibility for the monitoring and funding for youth 

justice services to the Welsh Government. Neither of these proposals, however, include any 

commitment to the transfer of legislative responsibility and will do nothing to solve the inherent 

structural problems underlying Wales’ justice system. 

 

Much like its predecessor, the UK Labour government has failed to engage in any intellectually 

serious way with the ‘in principle’ problems that arise from the anomalous and ‘overly complex’ 

constitutional arrangements underpinning the Welsh justice system. The reasons given for 

opposing devolution have been strikingly similar to those deployed by the previous government. 

This includes: efforts to downplay the impact that the ‘jagged edge’ has on joined-up policy 

making and the delivery of services in Wales; the claim that devolution ‘would require extensive 

institutional change’; that devolution would have major ‘financial implications’; that the system 

in England and Wales needs to be in a more ‘stable position’ before further changes are 

considered; as well as the suggestion that the various fora for inter-government working 

facilitate ‘collaborative conversations’ which ensure the system works effectively.56 Despite 

the promise of a ‘partnership in power’ between the Labour governments in Westminster and 

Cardiff, the UK Labour Government remains ‘completely hostile’57 to the Welsh Labour 

Government’s calls for justice devolution.58 

 

 
55 In a Hamlyn Lecture delivered at Cardiff University in 2023, Lord Thomas warned that the use of the term 
‘devolution’ to describe ‘the allocation of powers to Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland and the allocation of 
powers to entities within England’ has the potential to cause confusion about the fundamentally different models 
of governance that operate there. 
56 During a House of Commons debate on the Welsh criminal justice system in December 2025, the UK 
Government’s Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Justice, Alex Davies-Jones, highlighted that the Justice 
in Wales Strategy Group acts as the ‘senior strategic-level interface on justice issues between the Ministry of 
Justice, the Home Office and the Welsh Government on key areas of policy and reform’. According to information 
obtained via a request under the Freedom of Information Act 2000, the Strategy Group have only met on two 
occasions since the UK Labour Government were formed in July 2024. 
57 Extract taken from a research interview with Lord Thomas in January 2026.  
58 During a recent debate in the House of Lords, Lord Thomas raised concerns about the lack of transparency 
surrounding the UK Labour’s position on justice devolution. He described the process of trying to find out why the 
Labour Government in London oppose what the Labour Government in Cardiff want as ‘like trying to extract teeth’. 

Tudalen y pecyn 181

https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2025-12-16/debates/3B5867D1-66D1-4F35-8023-631E8B96ECE1/CriminalJusticeSystemWales?highlight=thomas%20commission#contribution-303DC543-AB82-4363-8A51-05577CE3CBB0
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2026-01-22/debates/F2866A36-7885-42C6-AD55-7C123FA01178/CrimeAndPolicingBill?highlight=thomas%20commission#contribution-AABEF468-472D-47E1-BFEC-1E31A5C7F74A
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2026-01-22/debates/F2866A36-7885-42C6-AD55-7C123FA01178/CrimeAndPolicingBill?highlight=thomas%20commission#contribution-AABEF468-472D-47E1-BFEC-1E31A5C7F74A
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2026-01-22/debates/F2866A36-7885-42C6-AD55-7C123FA01178/CrimeAndPolicingBill?highlight=thomas%20commission#contribution-AABEF468-472D-47E1-BFEC-1E31A5C7F74A
https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/15520
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2025-12-16/debates/3B5867D1-66D1-4F35-8023-631E8B96ECE1/CriminalJusticeSystemWales?highlight=thomas%20commission#contribution-303DC543-AB82-4363-8A51-05577CE3CBB0
https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2025/apr/07/wales-keir-starmer-labour-benefits-funding
https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/laws-for-a-nation-and-laws-for-transnational-commerce/98A51FAA23A14CCF210D9917F68764A5
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2025-12-16/debates/3B5867D1-66D1-4F35-8023-631E8B96ECE1/CriminalJusticeSystemWales?highlight=thomas%20commission#contribution-303DC543-AB82-4363-8A51-05577CE3CBB0


 
 

77 
 

The UK Government’s unwillingness to engage in any meaningful way with the 

recommendations of the Commission remains a source of considerable frustration for those 

committed to improving the justice system in Wales. However, in seeking to explain why there 

has been so little progress made since 2019, there is a danger that the story becomes over-

simplified. While UK Ministers have consistently rejected the ‘headline’ recommendation for 

legislative devolution to Wales, it remains the case that around two-thirds of the Commission’s 

recommendations do not require or involve any transfer of powers. Whitehall’s point blank 

refusal to devolve justice to Wales, therefore, does not fully explain or account for the fact so 

few of the Commission’s recommendations have been delivered, including those that fall 

within the gift of the devolved government. 

 

The Welsh Government  

 

The Welsh Government has undoubtedly been active in the Welsh justice policy space since 

the publication of the Commission's report in 2019. It has undertaken preparatory work for the 

establishment of a new tribunal system in Wales; taken meaningful steps to improve access to 

disaggregated Wales-only data; made numerous commitments to improving services for 

children; and has worked with many external partners to prepare for the devolution of policing, 

probation, and youth justice to Wales. However, notwithstanding the many initiatives and 

activities overseen by Ministers and officials in this area, the Welsh Government has ultimately 

failed to fully implement any of the Commission’s recommendations it has responsibility for. 

 

There are a number of possible explanations for the Welsh Government’s failure to act more 

decisively. Firstly, the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic, only 151 days after the 

Commission’s report was published, undoubtedly disrupted the early stages of the 

government’s implementation programme. Indeed, the Welsh Government’s work against the 

Commission’s recommendations did not fully recommence until the re-election of a Labour 

government in May 2021. Secondly, given that the Welsh Government are not formally 

responsible for justice in Wales, the task of implementing the Commission’s recommendations 

Tudalen y pecyn 182

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/pdf-versions/2023/9/1/1693834395/new-tribunal-system-wales-white-paper.pdf
https://digitalanddata.blog.gov.wales/2023/08/31/chief-statisticians-update-disaggregating-justice-data-for-wales/
https://www.gov.wales/written-statement-raising-awareness-childrens-rights
https://www.gov.wales/written-statement-publication-preparing-devolution-policing-wales-report
https://wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Policy-Brief-Building-a-Welsh-probation-service-1.pdf


 
 

78 
 

largely fell upon the (already) under-sized and under-strengthened Justice Policy team.59 Given 

the heavy burden already placed on the Justice Policy division in trying to fulfil the government’s 

extensive pre-existing responsibilities over justice,60 inadequate civil service capacity has 

almost certainly constrained the work being done to implement the Commission’s 

recommendations. At the time of writing, the Welsh Government's Justice Policy team is 

comprised of 13.4 FTE, which equates to 0.2 per cent of the Welsh Government’s total 

workforce.61  

 

By far the most compelling explanation for the Welsh Government’s failure to implement many 

of the Commission's recommendations, however, is that its approach throughout the Sixth 

Senedd lacked the necessary focus from the outset. In the introduction to its Delivering Justice 

for Wales strategy in 2022, for example, the Welsh Government claimed that the Commission’s 

report had been ‘overtaken’ by other events, including the murder of Sarah Everard and George 

Floyd.62 As a result, the government acknowledged that certain recommendations included in 

the Thomas Commission’s report would not be discussed at any length in what was to be its 

defining strategy on justice in the Sixth Senedd.  

 

Delivering Justice in Wales was largely silent about what clear actions the Welsh Government 

would take in response to the Commission’s recommendations. Although certain 

recommendations were referred to throughout, including those relating to justice data and the 

 
59 Ahead of the 2026 Senedd Election, the Law Society has called for the establishment of a dedicated Department 
of Justice in Welsh Government (along with a designated Justice Minister) to help improve transparency and the 
coordination of Welsh justice policy. 
60 For a more detailed overview see Chapter 4 (‘The Welsh government and criminal justice: responsibility without 
power’) of The Welsh Criminal Justice System: On the Jagged Edge. 
61 The Welsh Government’s total workforce was 5,571 FTE in 2022.  
161.4 FTE are directly employed in the Justice Directorate in the Scottish Government. This equates to 1.8 per 
cent of the Scottish Government’s entire workforce (8,873 FTE). Based on these numbers, the Scottish Justice 
Directorate is 9 times larger than the equivalent unit in Welsh Government. Even if we account for the fact that the 
Scottish Government is formally responsible for justice in Scotland, these data help to put the relative size of the 
justice team across the Welsh Government into context. 
62 Following the murder of Sarah Everard in March 2021, the Welsh Government’s Deputy Minister and Chief Whip, 
Jane Hutt, reiterated the government’s commitment to tackling violence against women and girls in Wales. This 
included a pledge to ‘strengthen’ the Welsh Government’s Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence Strategy. 
The murder of George Floyd in Minnesota in May 2020 prompted worldwide protests and demonstrations aimed 
at ending police violence and tackling all forms of racial discrimination. To mark the anniversary of George Floyd’s 
death, the (now titled) Minister for Social Justice, Jane Hutt, re-outlined the Welsh Government’s commitment to 
delivering an anti-racist Wales. The government’s Anti-Racist Wales Action Plan was published in June 2022 and 
includes a commitment to tackle racial disproportionality in the Welsh criminal justice system.  

Tudalen y pecyn 183

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-06/delivering-justice-for-wales-may-2022-v2.pdf
https://www.lawsociety.org.uk/about-us/law-society-wales/senedd-elections
https://www.uwp.co.uk/book/the-welsh-criminal-justice-system-jonesjones/
https://www.audit.wales/sites/default/files/publications/Welsh_Government_workforce_planning_and_management_0.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/publications/workforce-information/
https://www.gov.wales/written-statement-womens-safety-wales
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/pdf-versions/2022/5/2/1653392517/violence-against-women-domestic-abuse-and-sexual-violence-strategy-2022-2026.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/pdf-versions/2022/5/2/1653392517/violence-against-women-domestic-abuse-and-sexual-violence-strategy-2022-2026.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/welsh-government-takes-action-against-racism-its-time-real-change
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-06/anti-racist-wales-action-plan_0.pdf


 
 

79 
 

tribunals in Wales, the considerable size and scope of the report meant that consideration of 

the Commission’s work was rather diluted. This was certainly not helped by the government’s 

sprawling attempts to engage with multiple other reports and recommendations, including, to 

name a few: the Public Law Working Group report; the Law Commission’s review of the 

devolved tribunals in Wales; the Brown Commission, the Strengthening and Advancing Equality 

and Human Rights in Wales Research Report; and the Independent Commission on the 

Constitutional Future of Wales.  

 

The various changes in leadership across Welsh Government have further disrupted the 

government’s work during the Sixth Senedd. While the Cabinet Sub-Committee on Justice had 

been established in 2021 to ‘provide strategic direction on justice matters’, the First Minister’s 

decision to discontinue the Sub-Committee in 2024 has clearly hampered its activity in this 

area. However, it is important not to overstate the impact that the leadership changes have had 

on the government’s work. Even before Vaughan Gething and Eluned Morgan were appointed 

as First Minister in 2024, the Welsh Government had already lost its grip on the Thomas 

Commission and its recommendations. Neither of the Welsh Government’s Programme for 

Government annual reports in 2022 or 2023, for instance, contained any reference to ‘justice’, 

let alone the Commission’s recommendations and its plan for delivering them.63 

 

Although the Commission’s ‘headline’ recommendation on justice devolution has guided much 

of the Welsh Government’s activity with external partners and has heavily informed inter-

government relations with UK Ministers, the finer details of the Commission’s work and its 

underlying principles appear to have been disregarded. It remains unclear, for example, how 

the Welsh Government’s pursuit of limited executive powers over youth justice or a Greater 

Manchester style model for probation aligns with an approach where accountability is ‘clear 

and easy to understand’, funding and resources align to a ‘whole system approach’, where 

‘leadership’ is essential, and where a ‘long-term and sustainable approach must be taken’.  

 

Having established the Commission on Justice in Wales in 2017 to carry out the first in-depth 

review of the Welsh justice system in over two hundred years, and achieved a major coup in 

 
63 Although the Welsh Government’s Programme for Government in 2022 included a commitment to pursue the 
devolution of policing and justice in Wales, this did not feature in later reports. 

Tudalen y pecyn 184

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-06/delivering-justice-for-wales-may-2022-v2.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-07/welsh-government-annual-report-2022-v2.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2023-07/welsh-government-annual-report-2023-v1.pdf


 
 

80 
 

securing Lord Thomas of Cwmgiedd as its Chair, it is regrettable that the Commission’s report 

has not acted as a stronger intellectual basis and guiding influence over the Welsh 

Government’s work on justice during the Sixth Senedd. Although its ambition to pursue 

legislative devolution has ultimately been frustrated by the UK Government’s unwillingness to 

engage seriously on constitutional matters, the Welsh Government’s failure to implement the 

recommendations that fall squarely within its remit undoubtedly represents a missed 

opportunity to deliver a better justice system for the people of Wales.  

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 185



 
 

81 
 

3 The Thomas Commission in the Seventh Senedd 
 

Despite the lack of progress made by the UK or Welsh Governments to fully implement the 

Commission on Justice in Wales’ recommendations, the Commission’s work remains the 

authoritative basis for ongoing work to assess the state of the justice system in Wales. The 

source of its continuing relevance is perfectly straightforward: the many problems and 

challenges that informed the Commission’s recommendations in 2019 still confront people 

across Wales today. From rising numbers of children in care; advice deserts in rural and post-

industrial areas of Wales; continuing gaps in the availability of Wales-only data; overwhelming 

evidence of racial disproportionality in the Welsh criminal justice system; to a tribunals service 

in desperate need of reform, the Commission’s recommendations still speak directly to the 

many challenges facing the Welsh justice system in 2026. 

 

The wider constitutional issues surrounding the Welsh justice system also continue to impinge 

upon policy and practice. Despite the UK Government’s insistence that the system ‘performs 

very well for Wales’ and that the various mechanisms for inter-governmental working are 

helping to smooth over the ‘jagged edges’ between reserved and devolved competences, the 

complex division of responsibilities for justice continue to militate against clear and effective 

scrutiny, appropriate funding allocations, as well as the co-ordination of joined-up policy in 

Wales. The UK Government’s failure to fully consider and reflect the devolved landscape within 

its most recent plans for policing and youth justice reform in England and Wales offers yet 

another reminder of the structurally determined challenges facing Welsh policymakers and 

practitioners.  

 

The Seventh Senedd, however, presents an opportunity for the Welsh Government to reset its 

strategy and approach to justice in Wales. Based on the shortcomings outlined in this report, 

Ministers and officials should look to produce a detailed response to each of the Commission’s 

78 recommendations, as well as provide a clear plan for how it intends to implement them.64 

 
64 This work should be led by one official in the Welsh Government’s Justice Policy team who should report to the 
relevant Minister. To support this work, the Welsh Government’s implementation lead should work to establish 
strong relationships with key stakeholders across Wales, including legal professionals, academics and 
representatives across civil society. 

Tudalen y pecyn 186

https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2025-12-16/debates/3B5867D1-66D1-4F35-8023-631E8B96ECE1/CriminalJusticeSystemWales?highlight=thomas%20commission#contribution-303DC543-AB82-4363-8A51-05577CE3CBB0
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/69779267276692606c013862/260125_White_Paper.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/698d9aae43eb912f2e15b30b/A_modern_youth_justice_system_WEB.pdf


 
 

82 
 

This plan should be submitted to the respective committee in the Senedd and should act as the 

relevant basis upon which to scrutinise the Welsh Government’s justice policy over the course 

of the next Senedd term.65  

 

 

 

 
65 This should include a ‘top and tail’ inquiry which involves inviting the Welsh Government to appear before the 
respective Senedd committee in the summer of 2026 to outline its plan for delivering against the Commission’s 
recommendations. A further series of evidence sessions should then be held with legal professionals, civil society, 
academics and government officials at the end of the Seventh Senedd to monitor the progress that has been made 
against the government’s action plan presented in 2026.  

Tudalen y pecyn 187



 
 

83 
 

Appendices 
 
 
Appendix 1: UK Government responses to questions on the Thomas 

Commission or justice devolution, 2019 to 2026 

 
Date Who Where 

22 January 2020 The Parliamentary Under-
Secretary of State for Justice, 
Chris Philp MP 
 

Westminster Hall Debate – 
Commission on Justice in Wales 
 

8 October 2021 Parliamentary Under-Secretary 
of State for Justice, Lord 
Wolfson of Tredegar KC 
 

Legal Wales Conference 
 

3 November 2022 The Parliamentary Under-
Secretary of State for Justice, 
UK Government, Lord Bellamy 
KC 
 

Letter to the Senedd’s Legislation, 
Justice and Constitution Committee 

29 November 2022 The Parliamentary Under-
Secretary of State for Justice, 
Mike Freer MP 
 

Westminster Hall Debate – 
Devolution of Justice: Wales 

5 December 2022 The Parliamentary Under-
Secretary of State for Justice, 
UK Government, Lord Bellamy 
KC 
 

Oral Evidence to the Senedd’s 
Legislation, Justice and Constitution 
Committee 

14 March 2023 The Parliamentary Under-
Secretary of State for Justice, 
UK Government, Lord Bellamy 
KC 
 

Letter to the Senedd’s Legislation, 
Justice and Constitution Committee 

24 March 2023 The Parliamentary Under-
Secretary of State for Justice, 
UK Government, Lord Bellamy 
KC 
 

Letter to the Independent 
Commission on the Constitutional 
Future of Wales 

30 March 2023 Department of Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities, 
Cabinet Office 
 

Intergovernmental Relations Annual 
Report 2022 

Tudalen y pecyn 188

https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2020-01-22/debates/45A32F4F-4FD7-4AE5-99B6-2780FD13082B/CommissionOnJusticeInWales
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/lord-wolfson-speech-legal-wales-conference
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2022-11-29/debates/3F64A897-1E73-43C6-8BF4-099FC68F9340/DevolutionOfJusticeWales
https://record.assembly.wales/Committee/13067
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/intergovernmental-relations-review-annual-report-for-2022/intergovernmental-relations-annual-report-2022
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/intergovernmental-relations-review-annual-report-for-2022/intergovernmental-relations-annual-report-2022


 
 

84 
 

12 June 2023 The Parliamentary Under-
Secretary of State for Justice, 
Lord Bellamy KC 
 

Letter to the Senedd’s Legislation, 
Justice and Constitution Committee 

29 November 2023 Minister of State, Edward Argar 
MP 
 

House of Commons Debate – 
Prisons in Wales 

20 February 2024 The Parliamentary Under-
Secretary of State for Justice, 
Mike Freer MP 
 

House of Commons Debate – 
Justice: Devolution of Responsibility 

13 May 2024 Minister of State, Edward Argar 
MP 
 

House of Commons Debate – Parc 
Prison 

7 October 2024 The Parliamentary Under-
Secretary of State for Justice, 
Lord Ponsonby of Shulbrede 
 

House of Lords Question – 
Commission on Justice in Wales 

14 July 2025 Minister of State for Prisons, 
Probation and Reducing 
Reoffending, Ministry of 
Justice, Lord Timpson 
 

Equality and Social Justice 
Committee – The Criminal Justice 
System in Wales 

25 November 2025 Baroness in Waiting/ 
Government Whip, Baroness 
Anderson of Stoke-on-Trent 
 

House of Lords Debate – Wales: 
Further Devolution  

3 December 2025 Lord in Waiting/ Government 
Whip, Lord Lemos 
 

House of Lords Debate – Sentencing 
Bill 

16 December 2025 The Parliamentary Under-
Secretary of State for Justice, 
Alex Davies-Jones MP 

House of Commons Debate – 
Criminal Justice System: Wales 

17 December 2025 The Minister of State, Ministry 
of Justice, Lord Timpson 
 

Oral Evidence to the House of 
Commons Welsh Affairs Committee 

6 January 2026 The Minister of State, Ministry 
of Justice, Lord Timpson 
 

House of Lords Debate – Sentencing 
Bill 

22 January 2026 Minister of State (Lords 
Minister) at the Home Office, 
Lord Hanson of Flint  
 

House of Lords Debate – Crime and 
Policing Bill 

Tudalen y pecyn 189

https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2023-11-29/debates/E9C4539D-CE22-4C45-B5E1-FF333BC4BCFD/PrisonsInWales?highlight=devolution#contribution-4AA2304F-1DE9-47FF-B8BD-61FEE307C872
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2024-02-20/debates/036B82DB-E374-4990-889D-7A0320325AA1/JusticeDevolutionOfResponsibility
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2024-05-13/debates/05471D5C-AF57-4BF4-A493-5BA887736BC6/ParcPrison?highlight=devolution#contribution-DABDE4A3-3D5D-48AA-BAED-B6B7A54CF439
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2024-10-07/debates/A0CCE537-81A2-47BF-ABC2-98C52498DBE9/CommissionOnJusticeInWales?highlight=thomas%20commission#contribution-F09015D5-0987-4E35-B895-636AB2AC7EF3
https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/15520
https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/15520
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2025-11-25/debates/4796553F-B7CF-4FDA-9D23-897FBE4A1F5A/WalesFurtherDevolution?highlight=justice%20devolution%20wales#contribution-0F0EE70A-1562-4993-B5F1-DE40F1CCE101
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2025-12-03/debates/01F15E4E-2C8B-4AD0-AC46-5E4D5A4CD8DE/SentencingBill?highlight=justice%20devolution%20wales#contribution-AAE37518-FD2A-4C5E-9DE1-C4EAF119729B
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2025-12-16/debates/3B5867D1-66D1-4F35-8023-631E8B96ECE1/CriminalJusticeSystemWales?highlight=thomas%20commission#contribution-303DC543-AB82-4363-8A51-05577CE3CBB0
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16931/pdf/
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2026-01-06/debates/89E64A6F-02FF-4F32-9021-1B7F10E7C912/SentencingBill?highlight=justice%20devolution%20wales#contribution-DD94D70A-AC9E-4481-A254-EC91C24B317F
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2026-01-22/debates/F2866A36-7885-42C6-AD55-7C123FA01178/CrimeAndPolicingBill?highlight=thomas%20commission#contribution-AABEF468-472D-47E1-BFEC-1E31A5C7F74A


 
 

85 
 

26 January 2026 Home Secretary, Shabana 
Mahmood MP 
 

House of Commons Debate – Police 
Reform White Paper 

27 January 2026 Parliamentary Under-Secretary 
of State for Sentencing, Youth 
Justice and International, Jake 
Richards 
 

Written Parliamentary Question – 
Administration of Justice: Wales 

2 February 2026 Secretary of State for Wales, Jo 
Stevens MP 
 

Response to a Written 
Parliamentary Question – 
Devolution: Wales  

3 February 2026 Minister of State (Lords 
Minister) at the Home Office, 
Lord Hanson of Flint 
 

House of Lords Debate – Police 
Reform White Paper 

11 February 2026 Secretary of State for Wales, Jo 
Stevens MP 

Oral Evidence to the House of 
Commons Welsh Affairs Committee 

 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 190

https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2026-01-26/debates/1D438294-73B0-4322-9E40-D5EEBD7702ED/PoliceReformWhitePaper?highlight=package%20radical%20changes%20exactly%20right%20time%20devolution%20policing%20wales#contribution-E376DC0A-D63E-47AA-A6FB-115D14C6E48B
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2026-01-22/107736
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2026-01-27/108719
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2026-01-27/108719
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2026-02-03/debates/FA7F7827-780F-43F7-B311-5D2D2EF99CF7/PoliceReformWhitePaper?highlight=thomas%20commission#contribution-9DDCE054-3BC9-4E31-BD40-516C4AE730DE
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/17207/pdf/


 
 

86 
 

Appendix 2: Research questions to be answered 

 
 

• To what extent have the recommendations of the Commission on Justice in Wales been 

implemented? 

• What actions have the Welsh Government, Senedd, UK Government and others taken 

in response to the Commission’s recommendations? 

• How effectively have the Welsh and UK governments worked together to deliver 

recommendations where they share joint responsibility, particularly those identified 

and agreed by the two governments as priority areas? 

• What impact have the changes of leadership in both the UK and Welsh governments 

had on the delivery of the Commission’s recommendations? 

• To what extent has the Law Council for Wales fulfilled the functions recommended by 

the Commission? 

• To what extent does the Commission’s report, and its recommendations, remain 

relevant as a basis for ongoing work to assess the state of the justice system in Wales? 

Are there any areas that should be prioritised for scrutiny in the Seventh Senedd? 

 
 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 191


	Agenda
	2.1 SL(6)772 - Rheoliadau'r Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol (Contractau Gwasanaethau Deintyddol Cyffredinol a Ffioedd Cleifion) (Cymru) 2026
	2.2 SL(6)778 - Rheoliadau’r Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol (Contractau Gwasanaethau Deintyddol Cyffredinol a Ffioedd Cleifion) (Diwygio) (Cymru) 2026
	LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 3 - Llythyr gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol at y Llywydd, 23 Chwefror 2026

	2.3 SL(6)780 - Rheoliadau Addysg (Gwybodaeth am Ddisgyblion Unigol a Phlant sy'n cael eu Haddysg drwy Ddarpariaeth Amgen) (Diwygiadau Amrywiol) (Cymru) 2026
	LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 5 – Datganiad Ysgrifenedig gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg, 12 Chwefror 2026

	2.4 SL(6)774 - Rheoliadau Cynllun Ernes ar gyfer Cynwysyddion Diodydd (Cymru) 2026
	LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 7 – Datganiad Ysgrifenedig gan y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig, 12 Chwefror 2026
	LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 8 - Llythyr gan y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith at y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig, 2 Mawrth 2026
	LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 9 - Papur oddi wrth Gymdeithas Fasnach Gwin a Gwirodydd, 5 Mawrth 2026 [Saesneg yn unig]

	2.5 SL(6)779 - Rheoliadau Deddf Deddfau Trethi Cymru etc. (Pŵer i Addasu) 2022 (Estyn Dyddiad Dod i Ben) 2026
	LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 11 – Datganiad Ysgrifenedig gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gyllid a’r Gymraeg, 24 Chwefror 2026

	2.6 SL(6)775 - Gorchymyn Cod Ymarfer Gwariant Ymgyrch Pleidiau Gwleidyddol (Etholiadau'r Senedd) 2025 (Diwrnod Penodedig) (Cymru) 2026
	2.7 SL(6)776 - Gorchymyn Cod Ymarfer Gwariant Ymgyrch Ymgyrchwyr Nad Ydynt yn Bleidiau (Etholiadau'r Senedd) 2025 (Diwrnod Penodedig) (Cymru) 2026
	2.8 SL(6)777 - Gorchymyn Cod Ymarfer Treuliau Etholiadau Ymgeiswyr Unigol (Etholiadau'r Senedd) 2025 (Diwrnod Penodedig) (Cymru) 2026
	3.1 SL(6)771 - Datganiad Blaenoriaethau ac Amcanion Strategol ar gyfer Ofwat a gyhoeddwyd o dan adran 2B o Ddeddf y Diwydiant Dŵr 1991
	4.1 SL(6)742 – Rheoliadau’r Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol (Contractau Gwasanaethau Meddygol Cyffredinol) (Cymru) (Diwygio) 2026
	SL(6)742 – Rheoliadau’r Gwasanaeth Iechyd Gwladol (Contractau Gwasanaethau Meddygol Cyffredinol) (Cymru) (Diwygio) 2026
	LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 17 - Ymateb Llywodraeth Cymru

	4.2 SL(6)752 - Rheoliadau Gofal a Chymorth (Gosod Ffioedd) ac (Asesiad Ariannol) (Cymru) (Diwygiadau Amrywiol) 2026
	SL(6)752 – Rheoliadau Gofal a Chymorth (Gosod Ffioedd) ac (Asesiad Ariannol) (Cymru) (Diwygiadau Amrywiol) 2026
	LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 19 – Ymateb Llywodraeth Cymru

	5.1 Gohebiaeth gan y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig:  Rheoliadau Pysgodfeydd Môr (Diwygio) 2026
	5.2 Gohebiaeth gan Lywodraeth Cymru: Cyfarfodydd y grwpiau rhyngweinidogol
	LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 22 - Llythyr gan y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig: Pwyllgor Sefydlog Rhyngweinidogol, 2 Mawrth 2026

	6.1 Gohebiaeth gan y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig:  Y Bil Gwahardd Rasio Milgwn (Cymru): Memoranda Esboniadol diwygiedig
	6.2 Gohebiaeth gan y Llywydd at Fwrdd Milgwn Prydain Fawr: Bil Gwahardd Rasio Milgwn (Cymru)
	LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 25 - Gohebiaeth gan Fwrdd Milgwn Prydain Fawr at y Llywydd, 19 Chwefror 2026 [Saesneg yn unig]

	6.3 Datganiad Ysgrifenedig gan y Gweinidog Addysg Bellach ac Uwch: Gweithredu Deddf Addysg Drydyddol ac Ymchwil (Cymru) 2022
	8 Memoranda Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol Atodol (Memorandwm Rhif 2 a Memorandwm Rhif 3) ar y Bil Swyddi Cyhoeddus (Atebolrwydd): Adroddiad drafft
	9 Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol ar gyfer Bil y Lluoedd Arfog: Adroddiad drafft
	11 Memorandwm Cydsyniad Offeryn Statudol ar Reoliadau Deddf Amrywogaethau Planhigion (Diwygio) 2026
	LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 31 - Datganiad Ysgrifenedig gan y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig, 2 Mawrth 2026
	LJC(6)-08-26 - Papur 32 - Llythyr gan y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig, 2 Mawrth 2026

	15 Argymhellion y Comisiwn ar Gyfiawnder yng Nghymru: Briff gan Dr Robert Jones



